
Meeting contact Dianne Scambler, Democratic and Member Services Team Leader or email dscambler@southribble.gov.uk

CABINET
WEDNESDAY, 22ND JANUARY, 2020, 6.00 PM

SHIELD ROOM, CIVIC CENTRE, WEST PADDOCK, LEYLAND, PR25 
1DH

AGENDA

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 5 - 18)

Minutes of the last meeting held on Wednesday, 13 
November 2019 attached to be signed as a correct record.

3 Declarations of Interest

Members are requested to indicate at this stage in the 
proceedings any items on the agenda in which they intend to 
declare an interest. Members are reminded that if the interest 
is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (as defined in the 
Members’ Code of Conduct) they must leave the room for the 
whole of that item. If the interest is not a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, but is such that a member of the public 
could reasonably regard it as being so significant that it is 
likely that it would prejudice their judgment of the public 
interest (as explained in the Code of Conduct) then they may 
make representations, but then must leave the meeting for 
the remainder of the item.

4 Cabinet Forward Plan (Pages 19 - 28)

Cabinet Forward Plan attached. 

5 Recommendations from Scrutiny Committee (Pages 29 - 30)

Recommendations from the Scrutiny Committee meeting 
held on Thursday 14 November 2019 attached.

ITEM(S) OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL (INTRODUCED 
BY COUNCILLOR PAUL FOSTER)

6 Nomination of Mayor Elect and Deputy Mayor Elect 
2020/21

(Pages 31 - 34)

Report of the Assistant Director of Scrutiny and Democratic 
Services attached.

ITEM(S) OF THE DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET MEMBER 

Public Document Pack



FOR HEALTH, WELLBEING AND LEISURE (INTRODUCED BY 
COUNCILLOR MICK TITHERINGTON)

7 Existing Leisure Centre Investment Plan and Contract 
Negotiations

(Pages 35 - 44)

Report of the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development 
attached.

8 Development of an Extra Care Scheme within South 
Ribble

(Pages 45 - 92)

Report of the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development 
attached.

ITEM(S) OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT, SOCIAL JUSTICE AND WEALTH BUILDING 
(INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLOR ANIELA BYLINSKI GELDER)

9 Strategic Review of Community Involvement, including 
My Neighbourhoods Final Report

(Pages 93 - 108)

Report of the Assistant Director of Scrutiny and Democratic 
Services attached.

ITEM(S) OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE, 
PROPERTY AND ASSETS, (INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLOR 
MATTHEW TOMLINSON)

10 IDOX Enterprise and Capability Review Project (Pages 109 - 144)

Report of the Director of Customer and Digital attached.

11 Vehicle Procurement Programme 2020 / 21 (Pages 145 - 150)

Report of the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development 
attached.

12 Worden Hall Project Update (To Follow)

Report to follow. 

ITEM(S) OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR THE ENVIRONMENT 
(INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLOR SUSAN JONES)

13 Climate Change Emergency Task Group Update (Pages 151 - 158)

Report of the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development 
attached.

ITEM(S) OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING, 
REGENERATION AND CITY DEAL (INTRODUCED BY 
COUNCILLOR BILL EVANS)



14 Town Centre Masterplans (Pages 159 - 218)

Report of the Director of Planning and Property attached.

15 Exclusion of Press and Public

To consider the exclusion of the press and public for the following 
items of business on the ground that it involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

By Virtue of Paragraph 3: Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information)

Condition:
Information is not exempt if it is required to be registered under-
The Companies Act 1985
The Friendly Societies Act 1974
The Friendly Societies Act 1992
The Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978
The Building Societies Act 1986 (recorded in the public file of any
building society, within the meaning of the Act)
The Charities Act 1993

ITEM(S) OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE, 
PROPERTY AND ASSETS, (INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLOR 
MATTHEW TOMLINSON)

16 Urgent Decision regarding Land at Leyland (Pages 219 - 224)

Report of the Director of Planning and Property attached.

17 Appendix for Worden Hall Project Update (To Follow)

To follow. 

Gary Hall
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Electronic agendas sent to Members of the Cabinet Councillors Paul Foster (Chair), 
Michael Titherington (Vice-Chair), Aniela Bylinski Gelder, Bill Evans, Susan Jones 
and Matthew Tomlinson

The minutes of this meeting will be available on the internet at 
www.southribble.gov.uk

Forthcoming Meetings
6.00 pm Wednesday, 12 February 2020 - Shield Room, Civic Centre, West Paddock, 
Leyland, PR25 1DH

http://www.southribble.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

MINUTES OF CABINET

MEETING DATE Wednesday, 13 November 2019

MEMBERS PRESENT: Councillors Paul Foster (Chair), Michael Titherington (Vice-
Chair), Aniela Bylinski Gelder, Bill Evans, Susan Jones and 
Matthew Tomlinson

OFFICERS: Gary Hall (Interim Chief Executive), Paul Hussey (Director of 
Customer and Digital), Jennifer Mullin (Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Development), Jonathan Noad (Director 
of Planning and Property), Jane Blundell (Interim Section 151 
Officer), Peter McHugh (Assistant Director of Property and 
Housing), Dave Whelan (Legal Services Manager/Interim 
Monitoring Officer) and Dianne Scambler (Democratic and 
Member Services Team Leader)

OTHER MEMBERS 
AND OFFICERS:

Councillor Jacky Alty (Member Champion (Social Justice and 
Equality)), Councillor Jane Bell (Deputy Mayor, Member 
Champion (Older People) and (Safeguarding)), Councillor 
Damian Bretherton, Councillor Carol Chisholm, Councillor Mary 
Green, Councillor Michael Green, Councillor Clifford Hughes 
MBE, Councillor Keith Martin, Councillor Christine Melia, 
Councillor Caroline Moon (Deputy Leader of the Opposition and 
Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group), Councillor Alan 
Ogilvie, Councillor Margaret Smith (Leader of the Opposition 
and Leader of the Conservative Group), Councillor Stephen 
Thurlbourn, Councillor Karen Walton and Councillor Gareth 
Watson

PUBLIC: 8

53 Apologies for Absence

None.

54 Purdah

The Interim Monitoring Officer read out a statement to Members in relation to 
decision making throughout Purdah, as follows: 

As members may be aware (following on from the announcement of the general 
election) a period of Purdah commenced on 6 November. The agenda for this 
meeting was published on the 5 November. Further as you know this meeting has 
been scheduled for some time.

Section 2 of the Local Government Act 1986 as amended states that essentially 
councils “… should – not publish any material which, in whole or in part, appears to 
be designed to affect public support for a political party.”

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

In general councils should not issue any publicity which seeks to influence voters, 
and should ensure that publicity relating to policies and proposals from central 
government is balanced and factually accurate.

However, none of this means that the ordinary functions of the council cannot 
continue.

We have reviewed the agenda tonight. We do not consider that there will be any 
breach of Purdah restrictions here if the reports are considered by Cabinet.  We 
have taken independent advice from the LGA in this regard.

However we would appreciate if members could be aware that we are in the Purdah 
period and try and confine their comments to what is factual and objective.

55 Minutes of the Last Meeting

Decision made (Unanimously):

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 16 October 2019 be approved as a 
correct record for signing by the Leader of the Council.

56 Declarations of Interest

Jane Blundell, Interim Section 151 Officer declared a personal interest in Item 20.

57 Cabinet Forward Plan

The Forward Plan had been amended since the publication of the agenda to reflect 
that some items would now be considered after the purdah period.

Decision made (Unanimously):
That the Cabinet forward plan be noted.

58 Recommendations from Scrutiny Committee

The Cabinet considered the recommendations with the relevant items 6 and 13 to 
provide some context to the suggestions.

Decision made (Unanimously):
That the Cabinet accept and will action all the recommendations of the Scrutiny 
Budget and Performance Panel held on 11 November 2019.

59 Quarter 2 Performance Monitoring Report

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Paul Foster, presented a report of the Interim 
Chief Executive that updated on the Quarter 2 performance against those 
programmes, projects and key performance indicators agreed by the Council within 
the Corporate Plan approved in February and refreshed and approved in September 
2019.

At the end of Quarter 2, the Council could report that of the 32 live projects 
contained within the Corporate Plan, 31 were on track.

Page 6



3

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

At the request of the Scrutiny Budget and Performance Panel, further information 
had been provided on homelessness in the Borough and what the Council is doing 
to alleviate it. The report detailed the duty of the Council, the reasons why people 
present as homeless or at risk, the role of temporary accommodation and bed and 
breakfast and the work that had been undertaken on the Homeless Strategy Review.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet notes that the performance summary outlined within Quarter 2, 

reflects the deliverables and priorities identified by the previous administration 
and Corporate Plan, approved February 2019.

2. Cabinet note the update in progress on implementation of the approved 
Corporate Plan, September 2019.

3. Cabinet note a correction to the report on Quarter 1, against the measure 
reported on a number of complaints. It was reported that 38 complaints were 
made, however this should have been 31.

4. Cabinet agree an amendment to the following measures for future reporting 
based on trend and narrative rather than applying a RAG rating approach:

 Number of complaints Resolved;
 % of Complaints Upheld

Reason(s) for the decision:
In line with the Council’s performance framework, performance reports for all 
quarters (Quarters 1, 2, 3 and 4) are considered by the Council’s Leadership Team, 
Scrutiny Budget and Performance Panel and Cabinet, with a final annual report 
being considered by Full Council at the end of the financial year.
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
None.

60 Holiday Hunger Scheme

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member (Health, Wellbeing and Leisure), Councillor 
Mick Titherington, presented a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Development that provided an evaluation of a pilot project that had run over the six 
weeks summer holidays of 2019, in the Broad field area. The report also sought to 
extend the project.

The project contributed to the development of a sustainable approach to reducing 
holiday hunger in South Ribble, when children do not have access to free school 
meals.

Members thanked staff for delivering the project in such a short space of time and 
feedback received had proved its popularity within the community. In future, greater 
emphasis would be placed into ensuring that similar projects were aligned to make 
better use of resources. The vision was to develop the scheme Borough wide.

It would be difficult to find out how many people used the scheme due to promoting 
anonymity to break down barriers within the community, however, the Cabinet 
Member gave assurances that every effort would be made to ensure that the 
scheme would reach those in need.

Decision made (Unanimously):

Page 7



4

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

1. Cabinet notes the information contained within the report.
2. Cabinet approves the expansion of the scheme to include further areas and 

the development of a Pantry project.
3. Cabinet approves a Holiday Hunger budget of £60,000 over a four year period 

and authorises expenditure on this scheme up to the overall budget.

Reason(s) for the decision:
This is a key part of the Corporate Plan to tackle poverty and to ensure residents can 
live in a place where they can be happy, healthy and safe.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
Not to run the project at all, but based on the research undertaken as highlighted in 
the report, children from poorer backgrounds were more likely to report loneliness 
and hunger during the summer holidays, and were less likely to spend time with 
friends or engage in physical activities.

Not to expand the pilot, but as shown there would be areas of deprivation that would 
miss out on the project. 

61 Leyland Music Festival

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member (Health, Wellbeing and Leisure), presented 
a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development that updated on 
progress made in the planning of a Borough music event. The report also sought 
approval of a £75,000 spend to secure performers and infrastructure.

The Music Festival would take place on the eve of the Leyland Festival, taking place 
on 19-21 June 2020, and market the two events as one, namely the Big Weekend.

Members considered Worden Park to be a great asset that could be utilised more to 
raise revenue. It was hoped that the music event could grow to be as big as the 
Lytham Festival and become one of the must see festivals on the circuit.

Whilst in support of the event, ward Councillors expressed reservations on how the 
festival would impact local residents and asked that the Council work closely with the 
community on the preparations 

The Cabinet Member gave assurances that due regard would be given to all aspects 
of safety and parking options so that disruptions to residents would be kept to a 
minimum. 

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet notes the progress made in planning a Borough music event.
2. Cabinet approves the delivery of a music event linked to Leyland Festival in 

June 2020, in partnership with Leyland Town Team.
3. Cabinet approves a spend of £75,000 to secure performers and infrastructure, 

and to underwrite the overall cost of the event.

Reason(s) for the decision:
To gain approval to spend and move the music event forward to the next stage of 
preservation. Given the Corporate Plan commitment to deliver an event in summer 
2020, much of the preparation needs to begin in November 2019.

Page 8



5

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
The first alternative consideration was to commission an external provider to run the 
event on the Council’s behalf. This was discounted on grounds of affordability, as 
well as potential negative impact on the long-standing and successful relationship 
with Leyland Festival Committee.

The second alternative consideration was to transfer the new budget in its entirely to 
Leyland Town Team. In agreement with the Chair of the Town Team, this was 
rejected as not in keeping with the desired model of partnership delivery.

62 Youth support programme

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member (Health, Wellbeing and Leisure), Councillor 
Mick Titherington, presented a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Development that set out a programme of proposed activity to support targeted 
groups of young people in South Ribble. 

The report proposed how the programmes of activity would be set up and costed for 
an initial period of two years. The proposed initiative is part of a wider programme to 
support vulnerable groups using physical, social and wellbeing activity as a catalyst, 
to be led by our Sports Development and Leisure Services teams supported by the 
Community Involvement team to improve health and wellbeing along with reducing 
anti-social behaviour.

The proposal will meet the aims of the Corporate Plan and additionally will support 
key partners to provide a public health focus response, with the addition of 
diversionary and educational activities.

The new approach is supported by the local police who have recently remodelled 
their Neighbourhood Policing Teams, to meet current demands with the ambition to 
‘keep people safe and feeling safe’.

The new initiative and policing model was fully supported, however there was still 
other sources of funding available that the Council could tap into and the  Cabinet 
Member was urged to keep lobbying the Police and Crime Commissioner, through 
the Police and Crime Panel to ensure that South Ribble received the right amount of 
funding for the area. 

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet supports the implementation of a two year pilot costed programme of 

youth activities and initiatives as outlined in the report to effectively tackle 
crime and disorder.

2. Cabinet supports the creation of a new two year fixed term post of Youth 
Support Officer to lead on the new programme. Post to be filled through a 
secondment process.

3. Cabinet supports the development of a Youth programme done in partnership 
with Community Safety partners and the South Ribble Partnership to ensure 
sustainability and long-term measurable outcomes are achieved for 
individuals, groups and local communities within targeted areas of South 
Ribble.

4. Cabinet authorises revenue expenditure on this scheme over a two year 
period up to the overall budget value of £120,000, in year one and a second 

Page 9



6

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

revenue cost of £85,000, to be funded from the Sports Development reserve 
budget for the two years of the initial project.

Reason(s) for the decision:
To bring forward a tangible programme of activity, working with our Community 
Safety Partners to look at how we can fund activities that effectively tackle crime and 
disorder. This is a key part of the Corporate Plan to ensure that our residents can 
live in a place where they can be happy, healthy and safe. Where we see poverty, 
we can tackle it, where we see poor health we will offer opportunities for wellness, 
and where people want to learn and develop we will do what we can to provide 
opportunities to grow.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
The Council could choose to do nothing in this area of work. There is no statutory 
duty to provide programmes of activity to young people. However, the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1988 (s.17) states that local authorities should exercise its various 
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, 
and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent (a) crime and disorder in its 
area (including anti-social and other behaviours adversely affecting the local 
environment); and (b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area; 
(c) re-offending in its area.

If the option to do nothing was agreed, progress against the Corporate Plan would 
be jeopardised.

The Council could choose to financially invest in PCSO’s. However, in consultation 
with the local Neighbourhood Chief Inspector, there is an appetite for the council to 
provide an offer which supports the police and local communities in improving Health 
and well-being outcomes and addressing anti-social behaviour

63 Approval of the Council Tax Support Scheme to be adopted for 2020/21

The Cabinet Member (Community Engagement, Social Justice and Wealth Building), 
Councillor Aniela Bylinski Gelder, presented a report of the Director of Customer and 
Digital that provided an update on the outcome of the consultation exercise carried 
out with preceptors and residents in relation to proposed changes to the Council Tax 
Support Scheme (CTSS). The consultation will inform the proposal for introducing an 
amended scheme for the year 2020/21. Members were also provided with a copy of 
the consultation documentation appended to the report.

The report set out the outcomes from the consultation undertaken in line with 
Government guidance and legislation. The report also provided a rationale for an 
amendment to the existing scheme which will in effect remove the minimum payment 
of £3.50 for passported claimants. The Cabinet agreed that this work was now 
complete.

The Cabinet Member thanked officers for providing a report that was easy to 
understand for such a complex subject and asked Members to leave any debate to 
the Council meeting on 29 January 2020, when the report on the amended scheme 
would be considered for decision.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet notes the outcomes of the consultation.

Page 10



7

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

2. Cabinet recommends to Council the amendment of the scheme to reflect the 
removal of the minimum payment (£3.50 charge for passported claimants).

3. Cabinet notes the further work undertaken in relation to the second homes 
and empty homes premium.

4. Cabinet notes the budget implications.

Reason(s) for the decision:
The Council is committed to protecting the most vulnerable applicants and would like 
to increase the financial assistance available to them by increasing support available 
for certain vulnerable groups.

The adoption of a revised Council Tax Support Scheme (CTSS) is a priority in the 
refreshed Corporate Plan.

To ensure that any future, new or revised scheme reduces the burden of Universal 
Credit and satisfies the statutory requirement within the localisation of Council Tax 
Support that consultation must take place with major preceptors and residents.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
Contained within the proposals in the report. Options 1, 2 and 3.

64 Review of Investment Property Strategy

The Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets), Councillor Matthew 
Tomlinson, presented a report of the Assistant Director of Property and Housing that 
provided Cabinet with an update on the suggested approach for undertaking a 
strategic review of the investment property portfolio.

The Cabinet Member reported that the Council owned around 700 assets across the 
Borough but did not have much information as to why we own some of our assets. 
However, occupancy rates were good. The review would evaluate which assets 
should be retained or disposed of, for the benefit of residents.

In response to a query the Cabinet Member clarified that discussions were in an 
advance stage for the letting of the vacant space available on the Civic Centre and 
they were confident that the building would be filled to capacity in the near future.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet supports a review being undertaken of the Council’s commercial 

investment property portfolio which will assess the performance of assets, 
develop the asset management plan and inform strategy for acquisitions and 
disposals.

Reason(s) for decision:
It is important that the Council develops a rigorous and robust approach to managing 
its assets in order to ensure that returns are maximised, managed and mitigated, 
and a clear process is put in place to address any under-performing assets. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
The Council could choose not to undertake a review. However, it is evident that 
there is a pressing need for greater clarity and assurance in relation to the 
performance of the commercial asset portfolio and it is essential that the Council 

Page 11



8

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

adopts a pro-active approach to managing and minimising any risks which are 
highlighted through the review.

65 Options Appraisal and Business Case for the McKenzie Arms, Bamber 
Bridge

The Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets), Councillor Matthew 
Tomlinson, presented a report of the Assistant Director of Property and Housing that 
updated on the development appraisal for the former McKenzie Arms site, off Station 
Road in Bamber Bridge, with a view to developing the site for housing. The Business 
Case for the site was confidentially appended to the report.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Paul Foster commented that an audit had 
been undertaken by Lancashire County Council on the approval process for the 
purchase, the results of which would be published in the public domain in the New 
Year.

The Cabinet Member explained that a development appraisal had been completed 
which recommended redevelopment of the site to provide 15 dwellings for affordable 
housing. The development would comprise of 3, three bedroom Townhouses, 9, one 
bedroom apartments and 3, two bedroom apartments. There is a healthy demand for 
all three types of properties.

The properties have been designed to high environmental and energy efficiency 
standards and there is potential to develop an exemplar Passivhaus scheme design. 
Development of the scheme would also be dependent on obtaining planning 
permission.

There were a number of reasons for the funding gap of £704,819, for the total costs 
of the scheme against its value, that included a high quality design and meeting 
national guidance on space standards (circa 30% bigger than what is typically 
provided by the market), rental values are low and subsequently the payback period 
for the scheme is circa 37 years. This gap would have to be met by the Council.

Members queried if it was better to spend the £700k to buy additional family homes, 
so that the scheme could benefit more people. The Council could still build homes to 
a higher standard than what is currently available on the market. The Cabinet 
Member explained that the Council were committed to providing a high quality build 
for its residents that would stay in Council ownership. The Leader of the Council 
added, that this was the first of many schemes aimed at providing affordable homes 
to residents across the Borough and included a wide range of different housing 
schemes.

A request was made to update the Investment Property Strategy to include the 
Affordable Housing proposals.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet approves the development for 15 dwellings and proposed scheme 

mix for the site for the purposes of providing affordable housing.
2. Cabinet agrees to enhance the scheme to the Passivhaus standard.
3. Cabinet agrees in principle to commit Section 106 and other funding to 

finance the scheme and recommends to Council that Section 106 and other 
funding should be committed to take this scheme forward.

Page 12



9

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

4. That Cabinet approves the proposal to be developed into a planning 
application.

Reason(s) for the decisions:
The decision taken will meet the Council’s Corporate Plan priorities in relation to 
delivering different models to provide quality homes that people can afford to live in 
whether they choose home ownership or rented accommodation.

The decision shall also enable a much underused Council asset to be utilised to 
provide much needed affordable housing.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
A number of options were considered as part of the business case, the options 
appraised were:

Option 1-Do nothing 
Option 2-Dispose of the Site on the open market
Option 3-Re-develop the Site for market housing
Option 4-Re-develop the site for affordable housing.

66 Budget Monitoring 2019/20 - Month 6 (Sept)

The Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets), Councillor Matthew 
Tomlinson, presented a report of the Interim Section 151 Officer that provided an 
update on the Councils overall financial position as at the end of September 2019, 
Quarter 2 of the financial year 2019/20. 

The report also provided a forecast of the projected outturn to 31 March 2020 
compared to the current approved budget and explains what the differences are and 
what impact they will have.

The Cabinet Member reported that the revenue outturn forecast for 2019/20 is a net 
saving of £515,000 which represents a variance of 3.5% of the total net budget 
requirement. A breakdown of how this had been achieved was provided within the 
report.

In response to a query around the purchase of assets, the Cabinet Member 
explained that the current Strategy had an allocated budget spend and that the 
Cabinet’s current intention was to keep within this amount. The current Investment 
Strategy would be circulated to all Members of the Council.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet notes the report.

Reason(s) for the decision:
Robust financial monitoring, including scrutiny and challenging information, is a 
crucial aspect of running a successful and effective organisation.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
None.

67 Procurement of Fuel Contract

Page 13



10

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

The Cabinet Member (Environment), Councillor Susan Jones, presented a report of 
the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development that sought approval of the use of 
Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation Framework for the tender of the contract for fuel 
oil procurement. The report also sought approval of delegated authority for awarding 
of the contract.

The Council purchases diesel fuel and gas oil for the operation of its fleet of vehicles, 
plant and equipment; in addition fuel is also supplied to our waste partner FCC 
Environmental to facilitate their contracts with both South Ribble and Chorley 
Councils. Fuel is supplied to FCC Environmental at cost plus and administration 
charge of 6%, realising an income of approximately £23k an annum.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet approves the use of the Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation (YPO) 

framework to tender for the contract for supply of fuel to enable continued 
operation of the Council’s fleet of vehicles and those of our waste partner 
FCC Environmental.

2. Cabinet grants delegated authority to the Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Development in consultation with the Cabinet Member (Environment) to 
award the contract for supply of fuel obtained through a framework 
agreement.

Reason(s) for the decision:
To enable the Council to procure fuel for the operation of its vehicles and plant and 
those of its waste partner FCC Environmental in an efficient and effective manner 
offering best value for money.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
Previously the Council has a concluded a mini competition through the Chest 
procurement system, this can prove labour intensive and the prices realised are not 
as competitive as those realised via the Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation due to 
combined volumes purchased.

68 Preston and South Ribble Flood Defence Scheme

The Cabinet Member (Environment), Councillor Susan Jones, presented a report of 
the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development that provided information on the 
Preston and South Ribble Flood Management Scheme.

The existing Preston and South Ribble flood defences were built between the 1960’s 
and the 1980’s. These defences are now reaching the end of their design life and 
are required to be either repaired, raised or replaced. Additionally some locations will 
require new flood defences.

The Environment Agency have secured all the funding necessary for the scheme but 
not for the enhancements that may be required following the series of public 
engagement events. The Council have been asked to look to fund some additional 
enhancement for the scheme which will include a range of works to pathways, 
woodlands and open spaces along the River Ribble and Darwen.

Decision made (Unanimously):

Page 14



11

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

1. Cabinet note the Preston and South Ribble Flood Management Scheme 
proposals and will provide on-going support, feedback and suggestions to 
help shape/inform the ongoing process.

2. Cabinet agrees to work with the Environment Agency to deliver improvements 
as part of the Green Links programme along the River Ribble and Darwen 
which will include a range of works to pathways, woodlands and open spaces.

Reason(s) for the decision:
The Council is focused on ensuring South Ribble remains a great place to live and 
work by protecting green and open spaces and safeguarding our environment. The 
protection for our residents and businesses against flooding is essential especially 
for residents living near the River Ribble and River Darwen. The Council want our 
residents to feel that where they live is a place where they can be happy, healthy 
and safe.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
Do nothing or reduce the scheme. The flood risk modelling has shown that the 
residents and businesses in the area are at significant risk of flooding and that the 
current defences are coming to an end of their design life and are required to be 
either repaired, raised or replaced.

69 Central Lancashire Memorandum of Understanding on Housing Provision 
and Distribution

The Cabinet Member (Planning, Regeneration and City), Councillor Bill Evans, 
presented a report of the Director of Planning and Property that provided an update 
on housing numbers in relation to the Central Lancashire Local Plan. The report also 
sought approval to agree a Memorandum of Understanding on the approach across 
Central Lancashire.

The Cabinet Member explained that housing numbers are a keystone of the Local 
Plan process. The current housing number for South Ribble was established in the 
Central Lancashire Core Strategy which was adopted in 2012 and confirmed in a 
Memorandum of Understanding from September 2017. 

Since then there have been significant changes in national government policy 
through changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Guidance 
(NPPG). There has also been the introduction of a Government standard method of 
calculation of housing need. 

The new Local Plan for Central Lancashire is, however, only at an early stage with 
Issues and Options being consulted upon from November 2019. The new Local Plan 
will take at least another 2 years to be adopted therefore it is imperative to establish 
an interim position on housing numbers across the Central Lancashire area. 

A short period of consultation with interested parties such as house builders, 
developers and planning agents was commenced at the beginning of November, the 
responses of which will be reported to Council at the end of the month.

The Director of Planning and Property explained that prior to the meeting, the 
Council had received a letter from PWA Planning who had sought advice on the 
approach being taken and found it to be unlawful. It was however stressed that a 

Page 15



12

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

decision would not be taken at this meeting and that any decision taken by Council 
would be following the undertaking of all necessary consultation.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. That following the end of the consultation period, Cabinet agree to forward the 

Memorandum of Understanding on Housing Provision and Distribution to 
Council appended to the report, together with a report on the outcome of the 
consultation for consideration.

Reason(s) for the decision:
It is important that a revised and up to date position on housing requirements for the 
Central Lancashire are is established. Government challenges authorities to ensure 
a 5 years’ supply of deliverable homes and also ensure delivery matches need. It is 
felt that the current provision and distribution in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy 
needs updating to reflect the most up to date circumstances prior to the adoption of 
a new Local Plan in 2022.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
To continue with the current Local Plan figure of 417 homes per annum. This would 
however, put South Ribble at risk against measures on supply and delivery and it is 
felt that this does not reflect the housing needs arising in the Borough.

70 Exclusion of Press and Public

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. That the press and public be excluded from the meeting.

71 Vehicle Procurement

The Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets), Councillor Matthew 
Tomlinson, presented a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development 
that sought approval to commit capital expenditure and accept the most 
economically advantageous tenders for the procurement of the vehicles. 

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet approves the recommendations in the confidential report.

Reason(s) for the decision:
To enable the continued delivery of services to residents of the Borough through the 
provision of effective and suitable vehicles.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
The retention of the existing vehicles was considered however maintenance costs 
for these vehicles has now started to show a steep increase, in addition, over time 
these vehicles will be unreliable leading to a deterioration in the service. It will also 
remove the opportunity to reduce current levels of particulates released into the air 
and reduce air pollution within the Borough.

Consideration was also given to contract hire.

72 Review of Management Accountancy

The Interim Section 151 Officer, Jane Blundell left the meeting.

Page 16



13

Cabinet Wednesday 13 November 2019

The Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets), Councillor Matthew 
Tomlinson, presented a report of the Director of Policy and Governance (Chorley 
Council), that briefed Members on the outcome of a review of, and amendments to, 
the existing shared services for finance between South Ribble and Chorley Borough 
Council.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet notes the consultation responses appended to the report.
2. Cabinet notes the changes to the structure in line with the consultation 

responses, given that the original report was approved at full Council;
3. Cabinet approves the final structure for the Shared Management Accountants 

team.

Reason(s) for the decision:
To align the two currently separate management accountancy services more closely 
and better support the ambition at both councils to expand shared services.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
The structure in the original report was rejected and has been adjusted as part of the 
consultation process.

73 Review of Financial Systems and Exchequer Services

The Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets), Councillor Matthew 
Tomlinson, presented a report of the Director of Policy and Governance (Chorley), 
that briefed members on a review of, and amendments to, the existing shared 
services for finance between South Ribble and Chorley Borough Councils.

Decision made (Unanimously):
1. Cabinet approves the final structure of the Financial Systems and Exchequer 

Services.

Reason(s) for the decision:
To create a permanent structure that provides necessary support to both Councils 
whilst improving resilience and effectiveness of the service.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:
None.

Chair Date

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



South Ribble Borough Council – Forward Plan 
For the Twelve Month Period: 1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020

This document gives 28 days’ notice of ‘key’ and other major decisions which the Cabinet expect to take during the next four month period. It also gives notice 
of the decisions that are likely to be taken in private. The document is updated as required and is available to the public on the Council’s website at 
www.southribble.gov.uk.

A ‘Key’ Decision is defined as any decision in relation to a Cabinet function which is likely:
(a) To result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are significant. The financial threshold above which 
expenditure/savings become significant is set at £100,000. The financial threshold is applicable to both revenue and capital budgets; or
(b) To be significant in terms of its effect on the communities living in an area comprising two or more Council wards.

As a matter of local choice, the Forward Plan also includes the details of any significant issues to be initially considered by the Cabinet and submitted to the 
Full Council for approval.

Under the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in the Council’s Constitution, a ‘Key’ Decision may not be taken, unless 28 days’ notice have been 
given in this document.

The law and the Council’s Constitution provide for urgent key decisions to be made, even though they have not been included in this document in accordance 
with General Exception and Special Urgency provisions, set out in Access to Information Procedure Rules.

The Cabinet is made up of the Leader, Deputy Leader and five other Cabinet Members with the following portfolios:

Leader of the Council Councillor Paul Foster
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member (Health, Wellbeing and Leisure) Councillor Mick Titherington
Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets) Councillor Matthew Tomlinson
Cabinet Member (Environment) Councillor Susan Jones
Cabinet Member (Planning, Regeneration and City Deal) Councillor Bill Evans
Cabinet Member (Community Engagement, Social Justice and Wealth Building) Councillor Aniela Bylinski Gelder

Whilst the majority of the Cabinet decisions listed in this Forward Plan will be open to the public to attend, there may be some decisions to be considered that 
contain confidential, commercially or personal information. The Forward Plan is a formal notice under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that some of the decisions listed in the Forward Plan will be held in private because the 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 4

http://www.southribble.gov.uk/


report will contain exempt information under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as set out below and that the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.:

1. Information relating to any individual.

2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes –

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

Copies of the Council’s Constitution and agenda and minutes for all meetings of the Council may be accessed on the Council’s website:
www.southribble.gov.uk. If there are any queries, including objections to items being considered in private, please contact the Council on 01772
625309 or email dscambler@southribble.gov.uk.

Gary Hall
Interim Chief Executive

Last updated: 14 January 2020

P
age 20

mailto:democraticservices@southribble.gov.uk


Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken

Decision to be 
taken by

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder

Reason the 
decision is key

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken

Will the public 
be excluded?

Are there any 
background 
papers?

Documents to 
be considered 
by Decision 
taker

Future meetings of the Cabinet where there is an intention to hold part of the meeting in private: 22 January, 12 February and 18 March 2020 and 
Council: 29 January, 26 February and 15 A[pril

Leader of the Council

Nomination of 
Mayor Elect 
and Deputy 
Mayor Elect 
2020/21

Cabinet

Council

Leader of the 
Council

22 Jan 2020

26 Feb 2020

No None Report of the 
Assistant 
Director of 
Scrutiny and 
Democratic 
Services

Pay Policy Cabinet

Council

Leader of the 
Council

12 Feb 2020

26 Feb 2020

No https://southribb
leintranet.mode
rngov.co.uk/ieLi
stDocuments.as
px?CId=172&MI
D=1166#AI360
3

Report of the 
Interim Chief 
Executive

Amendments to 
Committee 
Appointments

Council Leader of the 
Council

29 Jan 2020 No None Report of the 
Interim Chief 
Executive

P
age 21



Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken

Decision to be 
taken by

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder

Reason the 
decision is key 

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken

Will the public 
be excluded? 

Are there any 
background 
papers?

Documents to 
be considered 
by Decision 
taker

Corporate Plan 
Performance 
Report - 
Quarter 3

Cabinet Leader of the 
Council

Significant 
effect in 2 or 
more Council 
wards.

12 Feb 2020 No https://southribb
le.moderngov.c
o.uk/documents
/s9183/Annual
%202018-
19%20Corporat
e%20Plan%20
Performance%2
0Report.pdf

Report of the 
Interim Chief 
Executive

Updated 
Shared 
Services 
Agreement

Cabinet

Council

Leader of the 
Council

Leader of the 
Council

18 Mar 2020

15 Apr 2020

!NotSet! Report of the 
Interim Chief 
Executive

Interim Chief 
Executive

Standards 
Annual Report

Council Leader of the 
Council

15 Apr 2020 No None Report of the 
Shared 
Services Lead - 
Legal & Deputy 
Monitoring 
Officer

Cabinet Member (Health, Wellbeing and Leisure)

P
age 22



Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken

Decision to be 
taken by

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder

Reason the 
decision is key 

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken

Will the public 
be excluded? 

Are there any 
background 
papers?

Documents to 
be considered 
by Decision 
taker

Existing Leisure 
Centre 
Investment Plan 
and future 
Master Plan for 
Leisure

Cabinet Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member 
(Health, 
Wellbeing and 
Leisure)

Expenditure / 
Savings higher 
than £100,000

22 Jan 2020 No None Report of the 
Assistant 
Director of 
Projects and 
Development, 
Director of 
Neighbourhood
s and 
Development

Development of 
an Extra Care 
Scheme within 
South Ribble

Cabinet Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member 
(Health, 
Wellbeing and 
Leisure)

Expenditure / 
Savings higher 
than £100,000

22 Jan 2020 No None Report of the 
Director of 
Neighbourhood
s and 
Development

Cabinet Member (Community Engagement, Social Justice and Wealth Building)

Approval of the 
Council Tax 
Support 
Scheme to be 
adopted for 
2020/21

Council, 
Cabinet

Cabinet 
Member 
(Community 
Engagement, 
Social Justice 
and Wealth 
Building)

Significant 
effect in 2 or 
more Council 
wards.

29 Jan 2020 No https://southribb
le.moderngov.c
o.uk/documents
/s9528/CTSS%
202020-
21%20Consulta
tion%20Report
%20Final.pdf

Report of the 
Director of 
Customer and 
Digital

P
age 23



Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken

Decision to be 
taken by

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder

Reason the 
decision is key 

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken

Will the public 
be excluded? 

Are there any 
background 
papers?

Documents to 
be considered 
by Decision 
taker

Strategic 
Review of 
Community 
Involvement, 
including My 
Neighbourhood
s Final Report

Cabinet Cabinet 
Member 
(Community 
Engagement, 
Social Justice 
and Wealth 
Building)

Significant 
effect in 2 or 
more Council 
wards.

22 Jan 2020 No https://southribb
le.moderngov.c
o.uk/ieListDocu
ments.aspx?CI
d=134&MId=14
69&Ver=4

Report of the 
Assistant 
Director of 
Scrutiny and 
Democratic 
Services, 
Director of 
Neighbourhood
s and 
Development

Cabinet Member (Environment)

Vehicle 
Procurement 
Programme 
2020 / 21

Cabinet Cabinet 
Member 
(Environment)

Expenditure / 
Savings higher 
than £100,000

22 Jan 2020 No None Report of the 
Director of 
Neighbourhood
s and 
Development

Climate Change 
Emergency 
Task Group 
Update

Cabinet Councillor 
Susan Jones 
JP

Significant 
effect in 2 or 
more Council 
wards.

22 Jan 2020 No https://southribb
le.moderngov.c
o.uk/ieListDocu
ments.aspx?CI
d=134&MId=14
71&Ver=4

Report of the 
Director of 
Neighbourhood
s and 
Development

Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets)

P
age 24



Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken

Decision to be 
taken by

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder

Reason the 
decision is key 

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken

Will the public 
be excluded? 

Are there any 
background 
papers?

Documents to 
be considered 
by Decision 
taker

IDOX 
Enterprise and 
Capability 
Review Project

Cabinet Cabinet 
Member 
(Finance, 
Property and 
Assets)

Expenditure / 
Savings higher 
than £100,000

22 Jan 2020 No None Report of the 
Director of 
Customer and 
Digital

Worden Hall 
Project Update

Cabinet Significant 
effect in 2 or 
more Council 
wards.

22 Jan 2020 No https://southribb
le.moderngov.c
o.uk/documents
/s11038/Worde
n%20hall%20ca
binet%20report
%2016th%20oc
tober%202019
%20PMc%20v5
%205%20-10-
19.pdf

Report of the 

Urgent Decision 
regarding Land 
at Leyland
To update 
cabinet on an 
urgent decision 
taken in relation 
to a request for 
an extension to 
the sale 
agreement for 
council owned 
land in Leyland.

Cabinet Cabinet 
Member 
(Finance, 
Property and 
Assets)

Expenditure / 
Savings higher 
than £100,000

22 Jan 2020 Paragraph 3: 
Information 
relating to the 
financial of 
business affairs 
of any particular 
person 
(including the 
authority 
holding that 
information).

None Report of the 
Director of 
Planning and 
Property

P
age 25



Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken

Decision to be 
taken by

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder

Reason the 
decision is key 

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken

Will the public 
be excluded? 

Are there any 
background 
papers?

Documents to 
be considered 
by Decision 
taker

Contract 
Procedure 
Rules

Council Leader of the 
Council

29 Jan 2020 No None Report of the 
Interim 
Monitoring 
Officer

Budget 
Monitoring 
Report - 
Quarter 3

Cabinet Cabinet 
Member 
(Finance, 
Property and 
Assets)

Significant 
effect in 2 or 
more Council 
wards.

12 Feb 2020 No https://southribb
le.moderngov.c
o.uk/documents
/s9160/Final%2
0Budget%20Ou
t%20Turn%20R
eport%202018-
19%20for%20C
abinet%201906
19.pdf

Report of the 
Interim Section 
151 Officer

Council Tax 
Setting 2020-21
A report to 
enable the 
Council to 
calculate and 
set the Council 
Tax for 2019/20

Council Cabinet 
Member 
(Community 
Engagement, 
Social Justice 
and Wealth 
Building)

Significant 
effect in 2 or 
more Council 
wards.

26 Feb 2020 No None Report of the 
Director of 
Customer and 
Digital

Cabinet Member (Planning, Regeneration and City Deal)

P
age 26



Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken

Decision to be 
taken by

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder

Reason the 
decision is key 

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken

Will the public 
be excluded? 

Are there any 
background 
papers?

Documents to 
be considered 
by Decision 
taker

Town Centre 
Masterplans

Cabinet Cabinet 
Member 
(Planning, 
Regeneration 
and City Deal)

Significant 
effect in 2 or 
more Council 
wards.

22 Jan 2020 No None Report of the 
Director of 
Planning and 
Property

Future of City 
Deal

Council Cabinet 
Member 
(Planning, 
Regeneration 
and City Deal)

Expenditure / 
Savings higher 
than £100,000

29 Jan 2020 Paragraph 3: 
Information 
relating to the 
financial of 
business affairs 
of any particular 
person 
(including the 
authority 
holding that 
information).

https://southribb
leintranet.mode
rngov.co.uk/ieLi
stDocuments.as
px?CId=134&MI
d=1472&Ver=4

Report of the 
Director of 
Planning and 
Property

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee

This report details the recommendations made to Cabinet at the meeting of the Scrutiny 
Committee on 14 November 2019.

Quarter 2 Performance Monitoring Report 
Recommendations:

1. the council considers how best to engage with the Leisure Trust on the Campus 
project in the future.

2. the Scrutiny Committee would like to consider the future options for the management 
of leisure facilities in the future.

3. the Scrutiny Committee welcomes the performance of the Leisure Partnership and 
achievements included in the report.

4. further information on the results of the leisure centre customer survey be provided to 
committee members.

5. further information on the increased costs at Leyland Leisure Centre be provided to 
committee members.

6. greater work between the Leisure Partnership and My Neighbourhood Forums be 
encouraged.

7. the 2019 delivery plans have more quantifiable measures of success.

8. the Council considers developing a Leisure and Public Health Strategy to take a 
more holistic, strategic and integrated approach with partners to include mental 
health, prevention and youth engagement.

9. confirmation be provided to committee members that SERCO pays their employees 
the foundation living wage.

Worden Hall Update
Recommendations:

1. the Scrutiny Committee looks forward to seeing the masterplan and timeline for the 
Worden Hall buildings being brought back into use.

2. the Scrutiny Committee welcomes the commitment to ensure that social value will be 
assessed as the project develops.

3. the Scrutiny Committee thanks the Cabinet Member for his offer to work with the 
Leyland My Neighbourhood Forum on the future of Worden Hall.

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO ON

CABINET Wednesday, 22 
January 2020

TITLE PORTFOLIO REPORT OF

Nomination of Mayor Elect and Deputy 
Mayor Elect 2020/21

Leader of the 
Council

Assistant Director 
of Scrutiny and 

Democratic 
Services

Is this report a KEY DECISION (i.e. more than £100,000 or 
impacting on more than 2 Borough wards?)

Is this report on the Statutory Cabinet Forward Plan?

Is the request outside the policy and budgetary framework 
and therefore subject to confirmation at full Council? 

Is this report confidential?

No

Yes   

No

No

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1. To seek nominations for the Mayor Elect and Deputy Mayor Elect for 2020/2021.

PORTFOLIO RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the current Deputy Mayor, Councillor Jane Bell be nominated as the Mayor    
Elect for 2020/21; and

2.2    That the Cabinet nominate a Councillor to be the Deputy Mayor Elect for 2020/21.
 

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

3. To ensure that there is an effective process for nominating the Mayor Elect and 
Deputy Mayor Elect to enable relevant preparations to be made. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



CORPORATE PRIORITIES

4. The report relates to the following corporate priorities: 

Excellence, Investment and Financial 
Sustainability



Health, Wellbeing and Safety

Place, Homes and Environment

Projects relating to People in the Corporate Plan:

Our People and Communities 

BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

5.1 The Mayor and Deputy Mayor for the Council Year 2020/21 will need to be formally 
appointed at the Annual Council Meeting in May 2020.

5.2 It has been the practice for a number of years for the Cabinet to nominate the Mayor 
Elect and Deputy Mayor Elect for the forthcoming Council Year, in advance of the 
Annual Council Meeting to enable arrangements to be made for the Mayoral 
Installation and invitations sent out to family members and friends, well in advance of 
the event. 

PROPOSALS (e.g. RATIONALE, DETAIL, FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT)

6.1 Councillor Jane Bell was appointed as the Deputy Mayor for 2019/20 and it is 
therefore proposed that she should be nominated as the Mayor Elect for 2020/21.

6.2 Cabinet is also asked to nominate a Councillor to be the Deputy Mayor Elect for 
2020/21.

CONSULTATION CARRIED OUT AND OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION

7. Not applicable.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

8. Not applicable. The Constitution indicates that the Mayor and Deputy Mayor should 
be appointed at the Annual Council Meeting held each year. 

AIR QUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9. There are no air quality implications arising from this report.

Page 32



HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT IMPLICATIONS

10. There are no human resources implications arising from this report.

ICT/TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

11. There are no ICT/Technology implications arising from this report.

PROPERTY AND ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

12. There are no property and asset management implications arising from this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

13. There are no risk management implications arising from this report.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPACT

14. There are no equality implications arising from this report.

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

15. Mayoral costs are already included in the Council’s revenue budget and therefore the 
appointment of the Mayor Elect and Deputy Mayor Elect for 2020/21 will have no 
financial impact.

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

16. The Constitution states that the Mayor and Deputy Mayor should be appointed at the 
Annual Council Meeting and this report requests the Cabinet to nominate the Mayor 
Elect and Deputy Mayor Elect for 2020/21 to enable arrangements for the Mayoral 
Installation in May 2020 to be commenced. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

There are no background papers to this report.

APPENDICES 

There are no appendices to this report.

Darren Cranshaw
Assistant Director of Scrutiny and Democratic Services

Report Author: Telephone: Date:
Darren Cranshaw

Assistant Director of Scrutiny & Democratic 
Services

01772 
625512

23/12/19

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO ON

CABINET Wednesday, 22 
January 2020

TITLE PORTFOLIO REPORT OF

Existing Leisure Centres Investment Plan 
and Contract Negotiations

Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member 

(Health, Wellbeing 
and Leisure)

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 

Development

Is this report a KEY DECISION (i.e. more than £100,000 or 
impacting on more than 2 Borough wards?)

Is this report on the Statutory Cabinet Forward Plan?

Is the request outside the policy and budgetary framework and 
therefore subject to confirmation at full Council? 

Is this report confidential?

Yes

Yes 

 No

No

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1. To bring forward a proposed investment plan for the Council’s existing Leisure Centres based 
on condition surveys carried out in 2016 available as background papers to this report. The 
investment plan will propose improvements to the Leisure Centres linked to a hierarchy of need 
which will ensure the Leisure Centres are fit for purpose for another 5 to 10 years whilst also 
enhancing the Leisure Centres for customers. In addition the report will highlight the other key 
issues facing Leisure Services in South Ribble and also request Officers to seek a potential 
extension to the Leisure Contract with our current Leisure Operator

PORTFOLIO RECOMMENDATIONS

2. That Cabinet recommends to full Council through the annual budget setting process that a sum 
of £2.1m is put in place for investment into the existing Leisure Centres to be spent over the two 
financial years 20/21 and 20/22

3. That subject to the proposed investment into the existing Leisure Centres being approved by full 
Council, Cabinet authorises the Cabinet member for Health, Wellbeing and Leisure in 
consultation with the Director of Neighbourhoods and Development to spend up to £2.1m 
investment where appropriate into the existing Leisure Centres ensuring that all procurement, 
financial and legal processes are followed in carrying out the work.

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



4. That Cabinet requests Officers to explore the possibility of an extension to the existing Leisure 
centre Contract with our current Leisure Operator and bring back proposals in the near future to 
Cabinet and ultimately full Council who would need to approve any extension

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

5. In line with the 2016 condition surveys of the Leisure Centres that were undertaken, there is an 
urgent need to carry out essential repairs and maintenance along with some refurbishment of 
the centres in order that they are fit for purpose going forward over the next 5 to 10 years. There 
is also a desire to improve the quality of the existing Leisure Centres, and where possible look to 
improve services provided to local residents

CORPORATE OUTCOMES

6. The report relates to the following corporate priorities: (tick all those applicable):

Excellence, Investment and Financial 
Sustainability

x

Health, Wellbeing and Safety x

Place, Homes and Environment x

Projects relating to People in the Corporate Plan:

Our People and Communities x

BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

7. At full Council in September 2019 one of the recommendations supported unanimously was a 
request that officers draw up a costed investment plan for the Council’s existing Leisure Centres 
that is affordable and deals with key repair and maintenance issues highlighted in the 2016 
condition surveys and where possible also enhances the quality and look of the Leisure centres. 

8. The 2016 condition surveys carried out were very thorough and identified in total a backlog of 
repairs and maintenance amounting to £5m across all the Leisure Centres. Following full 
Council in September 2019, Officers have now visited all the Leisure centres, working with 
Serco our Leisure Centre Operator in identifying what investment is required to ensure that our 
Leisure Centres are safe and compliant going forward for a minimum period of the next 5 years. 

9. The investment will not be about carrying out every single piece of work identified but rather 
committing to an affordable investment plan into our Leisure centres picking up on the key areas 
of work identified in the Condition surveys and ensuring that any work carried out meets current 
legislative and environmental standards going forward. The proposed scheme of investment 
identified in the proposals below will also seek to address an overriding aspiration of the new 
Administration which is to where possible improve the environmental sustainability of the 
buildings within the Council’s estate.

10. A second recommendation approved at full Council was a request for officers to prepare a 
Master Plan for the future of Leisure Services and Leisure facilities in South Ribble to be 
considered by a newly set up cross party working group to be ultimately brought back and 
adopted by full Council. As a background, the full Council report back in September identified a 
number of issues that were facing Leisure services over the next 12 months. These included:

Page 36



 Addressing the state of the existing Leisure Centres given their condition as identified 
in the 2016 condition surveys

 Starting a process in looking at the future management arrangements for our Leisure 
Centres as the current contract ends on 31 March 2021.

 Linked to the above there is a need to decide as an Authority whether we extend our 
existing Leisure Contract with Serco and the Community Leisure Trust for a short 
period to give us more time to carry out a comprehensive options appraisal as to the 
long term solution on future Leisure Management arrangements for our Leisure 
Centres. Any future extension agreed with Serco will be linked to the carrying out of 
the proposed investment highlighted in this report which will improve the on-going 
subsidy payable to Serco going forward. A separate report will be brought before 
Cabinet on any proposed contract extension.

 Given the affordability issues identified around the proposed new Leisure Centre to 
be located at the West Paddock site, Officers have been asked to come back at an 
appropriate time with sustainable options around the development of a new Leisure 
facility in South Ribble

11. To take these issues forward, FMG consultants have been appointed to do an initial options 
appraisal on future management arrangements for our Leisure Centres in South Ribble. A report 
will be prepared for Cabinet detailing these option appraisals prior to March 2020. 

PROPOSALS (e.g. RATIONALE, DETAIL, FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT, LEGAL)

12. Through the work carried out by officers using the findings of the 2016 Condition Surveys, 
leisure site visits and discussions with the current management agent (Serco) a proposed 
programme of investment into the Council’s Leisure Centres has been put together. The work 
has been prioritised into a hierarchy of need to include, Health & Safety, fabric, enhancement 
and cosmetic work to the leisure sites. The proposal costs have been validated through an 
external Quantity Surveyor to provide an assurance against the cost of individual projects.

13. A sum of £2million is proposed to be invested over two financial years with the majority of work 
taking place during the financial year 20/21. The proposed programme of work is set out in the 
table below. The proposed work comes in at a total of £2,539,414. Some of the proposed costs 
will be met through the remaining PAISA budget which is committed capital expenditure agreed 
at the start of the current Leisure Contract. These projects are highlighted in yellow below. In 
addition the proposed work highlighted in green below will be completed only if budget allows, 
as the other work on the investment proposal has been deemed a higher priority. 

14. As the work to the existing Leisure Centres progresses there will be flexibility built into the 
programme ensuring that best value is achieved for each piece of work carried out in relation to 
the future of that Centre. Future decisions taken around the building of a new Leisure facility 
within South Ribble will influence the programme of improvements made to the existing Leisure 
Centres. This could affect individual items within the proposed programme of works which will 
be determined as the project progresses and decisions are made about a new Leisure facility. 
However, whatever decisions around the programme of works are made, the budget agreed 
through this report will not be exceeded

15. The proposed programme of works will be complex and will need to be carefully managed in 
terms of procurement, finance, health and safety and legal compliance. To that end a project 
team will be set up as governance to the project ensuring that correct protocols, procurement 
rules and project management process are followed correctly and efficiently

 

Page 37



Bamber Bridge Leisure 
Centre   
Air Handling Units Ventilation Plant £200,000.00
 Ductwork £225,000.00
 Local Extract System £35,000.00
TOTAL £460,000.00
  
Roof Pitch Roof Poolside - Kalzip Standing Seam £134,700.00
 Finish to Kalzip Standing Seam £26,940.00
  
 Eaves Boarding: extra over £24,490.00
  
 Aluminium fascia & soffits £15,750.00
 Finish to eaves, fascia & soffits £2,737.50
  
 Aluminium gutters £4,750.00
 Finish to gutters £475.00
  
 PVC rainwater pipes £1,260.00
 Finish £280.00
  
 Roof glazing to ridge line £18,000.00
 Gaskets & sealed glazing units £2,160.00
  
 Pitched Roof (dry side) - Kalzip standing seam £80,500.00
 finish to Kalzip standing seam £16,100.00
  
 Aluminium rainwater pipes £1,000.00
 Finish £200.00
  
 Flat roof - felt roof covering £15,010.00
TOTAL £344,352.50
  
Reception Full refurb £35,000.00
TOTAL £35,000.00
  
Curtain Walls External windows/curtain walling - timber glazed £34,200.00
 External curtain walling to pool area north elevation - timber glazed £43,700.00
 Main entrance curtain walling including manual swing doors £30,875.00
 Pool area south facing curtain walling inc manual swing doors £38,000.00
TOTAL £146,775.00
  

Page 38



Pool Filters Pool filters £38,000.00
TOTAL £38,000.00

TOTAL  £1,024,127.50

Page 39



Page 40



Leyland Leisure Centre   

Penwortham Leisure Centre   
Air Handling Units Ventilation Plant £165,000.00
 Ductwork £186,230.00
 Local Extract System £25,300.00
TOTAL £376,530.00
  
Roof Pitch Roof Poolside - Kalzip Standing Seam £125,000.00
 Finish to Kalzip Standing Seam £25,000.00
  
 Eaves Boarding: extra over £10,270.00
  
 Aluminium fascia’s & soffits £4,875.00
 Finish to eaves, fascia’s & soffits £652.50
  
 Aluminium gutters £4,750.00
  
 Aluminium rainwater pipes £840.00
 Finish £575.00
  
 Roof glazing over the pool area £18,900.00
 Gaskets & sealed glazing units £2,268.00
  
 Pitched Roof - Aluminium framed polycarbonate Sheet £16,800.00
 finish to Kalzip standing seam £2,016.00
 Finish to frame £325.00
  
 Flat roof - felt roof covering £36,385.00
TOTAL £248,656.50
  
Reception Full refurb £35,000.00
TOTAL £35,000.00
  
Curtain Walls External windows/curtain walling - timber glazed £74,100.00
TOTAL £74,100.00
  
Pool Filters Pool filters £38,000.00
TOTAL £38,000.00
  
Sports Hall Floor Re-surface sports hall floor £50,000.00
TOTAL £50,000.00

TOTAL  £822,286.50

Page 41



Air Handling Units Ventilation Plant £235,000.00
 Ductwork £189,000.00
 Local Extract System £32,000.00
TOTAL £456,000.00

TOTAL  £456,000.00

South Ribble Tennis & Fitness Centre  
Floor Finishes Rubber coated finish to tennis courts £51,000.00
TOTAL £51,000.00
  
Car Park Car park extension £180,000.00
TOTAL £180,000.00
  
Court Yard Area Lean-to, to cover outside activities £6,000.00

TOTAL  £237,000.00

Page 42



CONSULTATION CARRIED OUT AND OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION

16. As part of the Green Links consultation exercise carried out across the South Ribble Borough 
between March and May last year approximately 900 people were engaged to understand what 
local residents and stakeholders thought about the proposals which included a new wellbeing 
and leisure campus. The last survey took place in 2017 with only 62% of people being satisfied 
with sports and leisure. The outcome was that the leisure facilities needed to be improved as 
they are out of date and need improving/modernising. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

17. Cabinet could decide not to invest in the Council’s existing Leisure centres. However, this would 
enhance the risk of the Leisure centres closing suddenly due to repair and maintenance issues 
that had not been addressed in accordance with the condition surveys carried out in 2016. This 
could lead to a loss of service to our residents. Investing in our existing Leisure centres now will 
take that risk away for the foreseeable future. This will allow time for our consultants (FMG) and 
ourselves to work through an options appraisal with regard to the future management of our 
leisure centres and provide affordable solutions to the building of a new Leisure Facility in South 
Ribble. Further reports will be brought to Cabinet and full Council on both proposed new 
Contract arrangements for our leisure Centres and proposals around the building of a new 
Leisure Centre in the borough on a sustainable basis.

AIR QUALITY IMPLICATIONS
18. There will be no implications on air quality as a result of the proposed investment in the current 

leisure facilities.

RISK MANAGEMENT

19. As part of setting up a governance for the proposed programme of works a risk register will be 
established which will itemise with any contractor appointed to carry out the work all risks 
associated with such a project

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPACT

20. All relevant Equality and Diversity implications will form part of the Governance set up for the 
overall programme of works at the Leisure Centres

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

21. The cost of the proposed capital works is £2.5m of which £0.4m can be funded from residual 
Paisa funding and £2.1m has been included in the Council’s revised Capital programme. The 
works are considered to be essential in order to continue to operate the centres safely and 
effectively whilst work continues to consider longer-term options for the future provision of 
leisure services in the borough.   

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

22. Clearly some fundamental decisions need to be made about the future provision of leisure 
facilities in the borough – whatever decisions are ultimately made will bring with them their own 
legal considerations and implications. At this stage what is proposed is an investment plan in our 
existing facilities. This will allow more time for a consideration of the best way forward for leisure 
as a whole. In terms of any investment in our existing facilities clearly we must be mindful of the 

Page 43



provisions of our Contract Procedure Rules. Likewise robust contract documentation will need to 
be drawn up and entered into.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

The 2016 condition surveys
The Green Links consultation report

APPENDICES 

There are no appendices to this report

LT Member’s Name
Assistant Director of Projects and Development, Director of Neighbourhoods and Development

Report Author: Telephone: Date:
Neil Anderson (Assistant Director of Projects and 
Development)

01772 625540 22nd January 
2020

Page 44



REPORT TO ON

CABINET 22 January 2020

TITLE PORTFOLIO REPORT OF

Development of an Extra Care Scheme 
within South Ribble.

Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member 

(Health, Wellbeing 
and Leisure)

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 

Development

Is this report a KEY DECISION (i.e. more than £100,000 or 
impacting on more than 2 Borough wards?)

Is this report on the Statutory Cabinet Forward Plan?

Is the request outside the policy and budgetary framework and 
therefore subject to confirmation at full Council? 

Is this report confidential?

Yes

Yes   

No

No

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1. To provide Cabinet with an update on plans to bring forward an extra care 
scheme within South Ribble. 

2. Lancashire County Council has identified the provision of at least 1 Extra Care for 
older adults in each district by 2025 as a top strategic priority. South Ribble is one 
of a number of authorities in Lancashire which have yet to develop an Extra Care 
scheme for which there is a pressing demand.

3. This report seeks a strategic decision from the Cabinet regarding developing an 
Extra Care Scheme within the Borough to meet the needs of older adults.

PORTFOLIO RECOMMENDATIONS

4. That Cabinet makes a strategic decision to develop, own and manage an Extra 
Care Scheme within South Ribble in line with the need for Extra Care Housing as 
outlined within the Lancashire County Council Housing Care and Support 
Strategy 2018 – 2025.

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



5. That Cabinet provides approval to the Director of Planning and Property to 
identify sites within the Council’s ownership or which the Council could acquire in 
order to build an extra care scheme within South Ribble.

6. That the Director of Planning and Property establishes an officer working group 
with agreed terms of reference to drive forward the identification of a site, review 
procurement options and identify sources of funding to build and manage the 
scheme with details of the preferred site, procurement route and funding options 
being reported back to Cabinet in June 2020.

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

7. South Ribble Borough Council are one of a number of authorities within 
Lancashire that presently do not have an Extra Care Scheme and this is an issue 
that both the Borough Council and County Council are keen to address. Officers 
have been working with Lancashire County Council to consider plans for extra 
care however discussions have now reached the stage where it is not possible to 
progress the scheme until a strategic decision has been reached by the Council, 
namely does the Council want to own and manage an extra care scheme or does 
it want to partner with a Registered Provider to deliver the scheme?

8. The Lancashire County Council Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018-
2025 indicates there will be a need for at least 204 Extra Care apartments in 
South Ribble by 2025. The need for Extra Care will only increase thereafter due 
to an ageing population and a number of authorities in Lancashire are currently 
exploring the potential to build additional extra care schemes due to demand in 
their area.

9. Once a strategic decision has been made in relation to the ownership and 
management of the Extra Care Scheme then plans can be worked up to move 
the scheme onto a formal project footing and to give this work the priority it 
deserves.

CORPORATE OUTCOMES

The report relates to the following corporate priorities: (tick all those applicable):

Excellence, Investment and Financial 
Sustainability

Health, Wellbeing and Safety √

Place, Homes and Environment

Page 46



Projects relating to People in the Corporate Plan:

Our People and Communities √

BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

10. Extra Care housing provides housing with care primarily for older people. 
Occupants have specific tenure rights to occupy self-contained dwellings and 
separate agreements are in place to cover the provision of care, support, 
domestic, social, community or other services. Unlike living in residential care 
homes, extra care residents are not obliged as a rule to obtain their care services 
from a specific provider and legally the housing element of the scheme is 
separate to the care element which means that residents have security of tenure 
and housing rights as specified within their occupancy agreement.

11. The aim of Extra Care is to provide a wrap around a la carte care and support 
service to residents who access services when they require them with the aim of 
supporting resident’s independence and reablement. A factsheet from the 
Housing Learning and Improvement Network is attached at Appendix 2 which 
provides some background information on the concept of Extra Care.  

12. South Ribble Council is presently one of a number of authorities within 
Lancashire that does not have an Extra Care Scheme. This is an issue that 
Lancashire County Council are keen to address and within their Care and 
Support Strategy 2018-2025 the County Council have indicated there will be a 
need for at least 204 Extra Care apartments in South Ribble by 2025. 

13. Demand for Extra Care is likely to grow as a result of demographic changes 
resulting in people living longer and having to cope with long term health 
conditions. 

14. As has been stated the scheme could be provided by the Council or a Registered 
Provider. It is also worth noting that Extra Care Schemes can also be provided by 
Developers and Specialist Private Sector providers however in most of these 
models market rents rather than affordable rents are charged and in some 
schemes some or all of the apartments are for sale and as such they exclude 
many residents lacking the income to pay market rents or equity to purchase 
apartments. 

15. The scheme proposed by the Council and Registered Providers would not be 
reliant upon market rents and sales and therefore would provide for a more 
universal approach based upon need rather than the ability to pay market rents or 
possess the equity to buy apartments.

16. It is important that the Council effectively utilises its asset base and the use of 
council land to build an extra care scheme would appear to meet this objective.

Page 47



17. Should the council wish to directly deliver the extra care scheme then it shall 
need to be placed on a proper project footing and it is recommended that a 
project manager is appointed to drive the project forward. 

18. Nationally, the current average level of provision for Extra Care equates to 15 
units per 1,000 people aged 75 or over.  As there are only two purpose- built 
schemes in Lancashire and three in development therefore there appears to be a 
significant under provision of Extra Care schemes when we compare Lancashire 
to other areas.

19. It has been recognised that there is still too much reliance on the use of 
traditional models of residential care which fail to help people maximise their 
independence and support reablement.

20. Housing with Care and Support is an effective means for ensuring that the county 
council meets its duties under the Care Act 2018. From a national perspective, 
the Care Act places a duty on local authorities to cooperate with partners to 
ensure that care and support is delivered in an integrated way.  

21. Furthermore, the Care Act clearly states that housing is a health and social care 
related service as it plays a vital role in supporting people to maintain good 
health, independence and improved quality of life. 

22. The development of an Extra Care Scheme within South Ribble will promote 
wellbeing, improve health prevention and enhance partnership working between 
the Borough and County Council, the NHS and other care providers which shall 
provide significant and sustained benefits to local residents.

PROPOSALS (e.g. RATIONALE, DETAIL, FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT)

23. This report is seeking a strategic decision in relation to the Councils intention to 
build, own and manage an Extra Care Housing Scheme. 

24. As part of the plans for the Council to directly deliver new housing, officers are in 
the process of applying to become a Registered Provider with Homes England 
which shall enable the Council to apply for Homes England development grant for 
this scheme and other new build schemes which the Council may look to 
develop. 

25. The development of an Extra Care Housing Scheme has been identified as a key 
project within the Leyland Town Deal Funding bid and if successful funding shall 
be sought from this initiative to help bring forward the Extra Care Scheme.

26. The relevant legal, procurement and financial implications will be detailed in a 
further report to Cabinet in June 2020.

CONSULTATION CARRIED OUT AND OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION

27. The Council has engaged Arc4 to carry out a housing needs and housing 
demand study which shall involve consultation and engagement with a number of 
local stakeholders. The results of this study are due at the end of January 2020 

Page 48



and should help to identify the potential demand for Extra Care within South 
Ribble.

28. The Lancashire County Council Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018-
2025 was subject to a public consultation exercise. South Ribble Borough 
Council responded to the consultation to state that it supported the 
recommendation for at least one extra care scheme to be provided within each 
local authority area within Lancashire.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

29. The Council has a choice. It could decide to develop, own and manage an Extra 
Care scheme itself or it could choose to partner with a Registered Provider to 
develop the scheme.

30. Should the Council develop, own and manage the scheme it shall provide the 
Council with a valuable financial asset for which grant funding could be secured 
to help with build costs and the scheme would provide a positive financial surplus 
for the Council to reinvest in the scheme or in other Housing and Care priorities.  

31. Alternatively, the Council could choose not to develop an Extra Care scheme 
within South Ribble. This is not recommended as there is clearly an unmet 
demand for such a facility and failure to provide an Extra Care scheme would 
result in elderly residents with support needs receiving a lesser service than 
residents in neighbouring boroughs.

AIR QUALITY IMPLICATIONS

32. The decision Cabinet are being asked to make has no direct impact on Air 
Quality within the borough. However, the choice of location, size, scale of the 
development has the potentiality to negative impact on air quality or to place 
future residents at risk of being adversely affected by poor air quality.

33. In addition, the Council has recently declared a climate emergency with the 
stated aim that the borough will be carbon neutral by 2030. As such any design 
for the proposed Extra Care facility should ensure that it has been designed to be 
as carbon neutral as possible.

RISK MANAGEMENT

34. Failure to optimise capital values and income generation from the commercial 
asset portfolio could lead to a significant loss of income for the Council.

35. It is important that the Council adopts a robust approach to managing compliance 
from both a landlord and tenant perspective.

36. The lack of a robust strategic asset management plan could lead to higher than 
required maintenance costs as repairs and investment are undertaken on a short 
term, adhoc basis rather than a more strategic and planned approach being 
adopted. 

Page 49



EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPACT

37. The allocations policy for an extra care scheme would need to be compliant with 
all relevant equalities and diversity legislation and good practice.

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

38. The costs for a 60-65 apartment Extra Care scheme are estimated to be circa 
£10 million. This is inclusive of land and development costs.

39. There may be potential for the council to draw down funding from other sources 
including Homes England, Lancashire County Council and the Leyland Town 
Fund. The recently developed extra care scheme at Primrose Gardens in Chorley 
was successful in drawing down funding from both Homes England and 
Lancashire County Council in order to develop the scheme. 

40. Other funding which could be applied to this scheme are the commuted sums 
(s106) received from developers in lieu of the provision of affordable housing. 
Some of the monies currently held have been allocated to new housing 
developments at Station Road and the McKenzie Arms site but the balance of 
s106 funding, and indeed any new s106 receipts, could be allocated to an Extra 
Care Scheme. This would result in lower annual borrowing costs.      

41. The Lancashire County Council Care and Support Strategy 2018-2025 reported 
that a recent evaluation of potential revenue savings to the county council, based 
on their financial modelling tool, suggests an average weekly saving of around 
£100 per person for those individuals who would otherwise have been living in 
residential care.  However, as people living in Extra Care will have a range of 
needs, weekly care costs are likely to be an average of £33 per person less 
expensive when compared to other settings.  However, it is important to note that 
these figures assume no capital investment in the scheme by the county council.

42. Officers shall explore funding opportunities and provide Cabinet with an indicative 
budget for delivering the scheme at the Cabinet meeting in June 2020. 

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

43. At this juncture what is being sought from Cabinet is a high level in principle 
decision. Hence there will be no direct legal implications arising from this report. It 
is proposed to bring back a more detailed report to Cabinet in due course once 
the initial in principle decision has been made. Such a report will contain advice 
regarding the likely legal implications relating to land acquisition (if required), 
procurement considerations, contractual matters and any other relevant 
considerations.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Lancashire County Council - Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018-2025 

Page 50



APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 - Lancashire County Council Housing with Care and Support Strategy 
2018 – 2025
Appendix 2 - Housing Learning & Improvement Network Extra Care Factsheet ‘What 
is Extra Care’

Report Author: Telephone: Date:
Peter McHugh Assistant Director of Property and 
Housing 

01772 625228 10/1/20

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Housing with Care and Support 
Strategy 2018 – 2025 
 

Page 53



 

Contents 
 

 

1. Summary of key messages        02  

2. About this strategy         03 

3. Setting the scene          03 

3.1 What we mean by Housing with Care and Support    03 

3.2 Policy context and partnership working     05 

3.3 Where are we now and why we need to change    06 

3.4 Where we want to get to       08 

4. Needs assessment for Housing with Care and Support    10 

5. The financial case for Housing with Care and Support    12 

6. Creating new Housing with Care and Support     12 

7. The care and support model        14 

8. Acknowledgements         16 

 

         

    

Page 54



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 2 • 
 

1.0 Summary of key messages 

 

 

 Housing with Care and Support is purpose built or adapted housing with a 

range of tenures and the availability of up to 24/7 care and support.  

 

 We are seeking an open and collaborative relationship with partners and the 

public to deliver this strategy and to use it to help promote the integration of 

health, social care and housing. 

 

 We want to work with our partners to develop a range of high quality housing 

that can better meet people's care and support needs and to promote their 

health, wellbeing and independence.  

 

 We need to reduce our reliance on residential care by ensuring alternative 

options are available to help us manage the growing demand and financial 

pressures.  

 

 We are aiming to have at least one Extra Care scheme for older adults in each 

district and about 1,000 homes by 2025.  

 

 We are aiming to have more smaller-scale Apartment Schemes for younger 

adults with disabilities. 

 

 We want to benefit the wider housing market through regeneration and 

releasing family housing where older adults wish to move to a smaller home 

that can better meet their needs. 

 

 There are clear opportunities for existing and new providers to develop Housing 

with Care and Support options across Lancashire. 

Page 55



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 3 • 
 

2.0 About this strategy  

 

It is recognised that most people who have care and support needs now, or who may 

develop care and support needs in the future, wish to be supported in their own 

home or move to a home that can better meet their needs, instead of moving into a 

residential care home. 

 

Our ambition is to work with our key partners to develop a range of high quality 

Housing with Care and Support schemes across Lancashire by 2025 for both older 

adults and younger adults with disabilities.  This will enable many more people to 

remain safe and independent in a suitable home environment that connects them to 

other people, their community and services they need or might need in the future.   

 

The strategy is aimed at: 

 

 People who already use services and their carers 

 People planning their future housing and care and support needs 

 Our key partners, including district councils, the NHS and potential providers 

 Elected members, other partners, local communities and neighbourhoods.  

 

This strategy reflects the principles and vision outlined in Lancashire's Extra Care 

Strategy 20141, but seeks to provide a summarised document which will be 

accessible to and used for engaging a wider audience as part of a collaborative 

approach in developing Housing with Care and Support. 

 

3.0 Setting the scene 

 

3.1 What we mean by Housing with Care and Support 

 

Housing with Care and Support is accommodation which has been designed, built or 

adapted to facilitate the care and support needs that its tenants or owners may have 

now or in the future.   

 

For older adults, Housing with Care and Support means Extra Care schemes with 

each new scheme normally including a minimum of 60 homes.  For younger adults 

with disabilities, it means new Apartment Schemes typically including 6 to 12 

apartments.     

 

 

                                            
1 Available at: http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27888 

Page 56

http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27888


Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 4 • 
 

Housing with Care and Support schemes will or may, depending on whether a 
scheme is an Extra Care scheme for older adults or Apartment Scheme for younger 
adults with disabilities, share the following characteristics:  
 

Characteristic 
Extra Care 

Schemes for 
Older Adults 

Apartment 
Schemes for 

Younger 
Adults 

Self-contained one or two bedroom apartments 

or bungalows as part of a wider scheme  
Yes Yes 

Located in close proximity to local amenities so 

people are connected to their community   
Yes Yes 

Available to people with eligible care needs 

under the Care Act 
Yes Yes 

Available to people with no eligible care needs 

under the Care Act 
Yes No 

Unplanned care available to meet urgent care 

needs 
Yes Yes 

24/7 onsite care team to provide a response to 

unplanned or urgent care needs  
Yes Maybe 

Planned care for those with eligible needs and 

outcomes under the Care Act 
Yes Yes 

Communal facilities for activities to promote 

social inclusion and wellbeing. 
Yes Maybe 

People will be tenants or owner-occupiers 

responsible for their housing and living costs. 
Yes Yes 

Provision of respite care or intermediate care 

services    
Maybe Maybe 

Assistive technology to promote independence 

and schemes have internet access 
Yes Yes 

A community hub providing a base for activities, 

facilities and services for the local community  
Yes Maybe 

Links to volunteering, employment, training or 

leisure  opportunities to maximise participation 
Yes Yes 

 
The service model for new schemes will also be based on the following: 
 

 People will have a say about where they wish to live, which will be responded 
to as far as reasonably possible within the context of the supply of suitable 
housing, affordability and their housing rights 

 People will have their own home which is part of a local community, security 
of tenure, private space and control over their own front door  

 People will have choice and control over how their care and support is 
provided, which will be a separate agreement to their accommodation 

Page 57



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 5 • 
 

 People will receive care and support that is person-centred, promotes 
independent living, helps them be connected to their family, friends and 
community, and helps keep them safe. 

 
The Housing Learning and Improvement Network provides a wealth of helpful 

information, such as videos and case studies, showing the positive difference 

Housing with Care and Support can make to people's lives.  For example, a video on 

what Extra Care is2, a case study on the Brookside Extra Care scheme in Ormskirk3 

and specific sections on Learning Disabilities4 and Mental Health5.    

 

3.2 Policy context and partnership working  

 

The current Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Strategy6, developed by Lancashire's 

Health and Wellbeing Board, includes important points that directly relate to this 

strategy and developing Housing with Care and Support, such as:  

 The need for better collaboration by partners to have a greater impact on 

people's health and wellbeing 

 The importance of working with service users, communities, planners, 

developers, housing authorities, landlords and health services to improve the 

design, quality and availability of suitable housing 

 The role that district councils play in providing services that make a significant 

contribution to people's physical and mental health 

 The "triple aim" of improving outcomes, enhancing quality of life and reducing 

costs 

 The rising proportion of people living alone putting more people at risk of 

social isolation, particularly in later life  

 That many of the causes of poor health in Lancashire are preventable with 

improved living conditions, social relationships and support, healthier 

behaviours and better quality health and social care services 

 Moving resources towards interventions that prevent ill-health and promote 

wellbeing, reduce demand for hospital and residential services and prolong 

quality of life 

 Building and utilising the assets, skills and resources of our citizens and 

communities  

 Promoting self-care, reducing social isolation and loneliness; placed based 

integration of services and supporting independent living.  

 

                                            
2https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/what-is-extra-care/  
3https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Practice_examples/Housing_LIN_case_st
udies/HLIN_CaseStudy68_Brookside.pdf  
4https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingLearningDisabilities/   

5https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingMentaHealth/  
6http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=825&MId=6649&Ver=4  

Page 58

https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/what-is-extra-care/
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Practice_examples/Housing_LIN_case_studies/HLIN_CaseStudy68_Brookside.pdf
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Practice_examples/Housing_LIN_case_studies/HLIN_CaseStudy68_Brookside.pdf
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingLearningDisabilities/
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingMentaHealth/
http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=825&MId=6649&Ver=4


Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 6 • 
 

This strategy also complements the county council's new corporate strategy entitled 

'Our Vision for Lancashire'7 and new 'Care, Support and Wellbeing of Adults in 

Lancashire – Our Vision' document.  Both highlight the importance of partnership 

working, promoting people's independence, people receiving care and support in 

their home and local community where possible, and new good quality housing 

models. 

 

Housing with Care and Support is also an effective means of the county council 

meeting its duties under the Care Act 20148. From a national perspective, the Care 

Act places a duty on local authorities to cooperate with partners to ensure that care 

and support is delivered in an integrated way.  

 

The Care Act is clear that housing is a health and social care related service as it 

plays a vital role in supporting people to maintain good health, independence and 

improve quality of life. Housing with Care and Support plays an important part in 

helping the county council to meet its duties under the Care Act in terms of: 

 

 Promoting wellbeing – the Act makes reference to suitable accommodation for 

adults as part of the duty of promoting wellbeing, and the concept of 

‘independent living’ as a core part of the wellbeing principle. 

 Prevention – the Act states that housing must be considered as part of an 

assessment process that may prevent, reduce or delay adults’ social care 

needs, and that care and support should be delivered in an integrated way, in 

cooperation with partner bodies, including housing. 

 Provision of choice – the Act requires local authorities to ensure that sufficient 

services are available to meet the needs for care and support of adults and 

carers. It also requires that a diverse and efficient market with a ‘variety of 

high quality services to choose from’ exists. Increasing the availability of 

Housing with Care and Support will enable people to have the choice of 

housing that is more suited to their needs. 

 

3.3 Where we are now and why we need to change 

 

Older Adults 

 

There are currently two purpose built Extra Care schemes in Lancashire, located in 

Ormskirk and Whitworth, and three schemes are under development in Chorley, 

Preston and Wyre.  There are also seven sheltered schemes with a 24 hour care 

team based on site.   

 

                                            
7http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=80627&Opt=0  
8https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-
guidance  

Page 59

http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=80627&Opt=0
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 7 • 
 

However, we still rely too much on the use of traditional models of residential care, 

but we want to help people maximise their independence through the 

accommodation in which they live where at all possible.   

 

Key facts 

 In March 2019, we were supporting 3,285 older adults in long-term residential 

care at an average gross weekly cost of £540 per person, and 1,111 older adults 

in nursing care at an average gross weekly cost of £641 per person. 

 In 2017/18, the number of council-supported long-term admissions of older adults 

to residential or nursing care homes per 100,000 population was 729 in 

Lancashire – higher than both the shire counties average of 557 and the England 

average of 586.  

 N.B. There is variation in the profile at a district level in Lancashire   

 

We need to reduce our reliance on residential care, as we know the majority of 

people would rather stay in a home of their own and have choice and control over 

their care and support needs.  We also need to develop new models of care to help 

us meet the growing demand for services and to put the funding of care and support 

on a financially sustainable footing.   

 

Key facts 

Predicted changes to the older adults (aged 65 or over) population of Lancashire by 

2025 (from 2017):  

 34,300 or 14% increase in the number of older adults 

 20,649 or 25% increase in the number of people with dementia 

 21,502 or 17% increase in the number of people with a limiting long-term illness 

 16,365 or 19% increase in the number of people living alone.    

N.B. There is variation in the profile at a district level in Lancashire    

 

Younger adults with disabilities  

 

Current supply of Housing with Care and Support is not equitable across Lancashire 

– there are too many properties for shared households and not enough modern 

Apartment Schemes which is restricting choice. 

 

Shared households provision has been in existence for decades and, whilst this still 

represents one of the best ways of supporting some people, there is a need to offer 

more Apartment Schemes.   This is because many people expect to be able to live in 

their own self-contained accommodation with their own front door.  

Page 60



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 8 • 
 

 

There is also a need to shift to a model of Housing with Care and Support which is 

more financially sustainable and enables opportunities for improved independent 

living.  This includes an alternative to residential care settings, which can easily lead 

to a home for life, institutionalisation and create dependency unnecessarily.  
 

There are people currently living in residential care who may want to progress to be 

more independent in a community setting, but there is a lack of availability of suitable 

accommodation, such as Apartment Schemes. 

 

Key facts 

 There are approximately 1,500 people with learning disabilities and/or autism 

living in more than 700 shared households at an average gross weekly cost of 

over £928 per person. 

 There are 242 people with mental health needs in shared households or 

Apartment Schemes. 

 In March 2019, we were supporting over 247 adults with learning disabilities and 

autism in long-term residential care at an average gross weekly cost of £1,424 

per person. 

 In March 2019, we were supporting 268 adults with mental health needs in 

residential care, which is very high when compared to other councils, at an 

average gross weekly cost of £1,007 per person. 

 In 2017/18, the number of council-supported long-term admissions of younger 
adults to residential or nursing care homes per 100,000 population was 19.2 in 
Lancashire – higher than both the shire counties average of 14.3 and the 
England average of 14.0.  

N.B. There is variation in the profile at a district level in Lancashire    

 

3.4 Where we want to get to 

 

Vision  
 

Working with our partners we will develop innovative Housing with Care and Support 

options so more people have choice about where they live and receive care and 

support, are supported to live independently and have a better quality of life.  

 

Strategic aims  
 

 To have at least one Extra Care scheme for older adults in each district and about 

1,000 homes by 2025 

Page 61



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 9 • 
 

 To reduce the number of shared houses and increase the number of Apartment 

Schemes for younger adults with disabilities 

 To improve the Housing with Care and Support options for people with complex 

needs and conditions 

 To provide enough homes that are a viable and genuine alternative to residential 

care settings  

 To provide ongoing care and support which delivers cost savings to the health 

and care system 

 To promote the delivery of better integrated health, social care and housing by 

joining-up services to improve people's outcomes  

 To locate schemes where they will be in demand and people will be able to 

access local amenities and feel connected to their community  

 To provide a wider community resource and facilities to connect and benefit local 

residents   

 To benefit the wider housing market through regeneration and releasing family 

housing where older adults wish to move to a smaller home.  

 

A measure of success will be if service users say: 

 

 I have maintained or improved my independence, health and quality of life 

 I can make informed decisions and I am empowered by having choice and control 

 I am treated with dignity and respect and I have privacy when I want it 

 I am safeguarded and protected from harm and abuse 

 I feel safe and secure and my home is well maintained and looked after 

 I feel part of my community and I am able to maintain or develop relationships. 

 

With the ageing population and the increased complexity of people's needs there is a 

growing demand for care and support, which contributes to the financial challenges 

all councils are facing.  Consequently, it is vital that people's independence is 

maximised to enable a more sustainable health, care and housing system.   

 

This means ensuring that people have access to the right care, in the right place at 

the right time, so they can be supported effectively with an appropriate level of 

service to meet their needs now and in the future.   
 

It also means acting early, helping people retain or regain their skills and confidence, 

and preventing, reducing or delaying the need for care and support.  For example, by 

Page 62



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 10 • 
 

supporting more people in Housing with Care and Support instead of residential 

care, as shown in this continuum of services diagram: 

 

 
Lowest needs                                               Highest needs  

 

The other services shown in the diagram are an essential and valued part of the care 

and support system.  They will continue to play a crucial role in the future and, for 

some people, one of those services will be the right service for them, rather than 

living in Extra Care or an Apartment Scheme.  Indeed, when this strategy expires in 

2025 we will be supporting more people with home care, in shared housing or in 

residential care, than in Extra Care or Apartment Schemes.  We want to reduce our 

reliance on shared housing and residential care – not replace them – and to give 

people more options, choice and control. 

 

4.0 Needs assessment for Housing with Care and Support 

 

Extra Care for Older Adults 

 

Nationally, the current average level of provision equates to 15 units per 1,000 

people aged 75 or over9.  As there are only two purpose built schemes in Lancashire 

and three in development, there appears to be a significant under provision of Extra 

Care schemes when we compare Lancashire to other areas.   

 

The indicative figures shown below demonstrate the potential need for Housing with 

Care and Support for older people in Lancashire based on 15 units per 1,000 people 

aged 75 or over10.   However, any developers intending to enter the Housing with 

Care and Support market are advised to undertake their own assessment of the 

need for Housing with Care and Support in the proposed development area.  

                                            
9 This methodology has been used following advice obtained from a consultant at The Housing 
Learning and Improvement Network  
10 Based on projected population of people aged 75 or over by district in 2025 

Page 63



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 11 • 
 

 

District Estimated no. of 

units needed 

 

No. of units in 

existence or 

development 

Burnley 134 0 

Chorley 206 65 

Fylde 194 0 

Hyndburn 123 0 

Lancaster 238 0 

Pendle 138 0 

Preston 165 60 

Ribble Valley 125 0 

Rossendale 107 42 

South Ribble 204 0 

West Lancashire 217 111 

Wyre 265 72 

Total 2,117 350 

 

There are seven sheltered based Extra Care schemes not included in the above 

table.   

 

The estimated potential demand of 2,117 Extra Care units is much higher than the 

approximate 1,000 units being proposed in this strategy.  This is because we want 

to:  

 

 set an ambitious target whilst at the same being realistic about what can be 

delivered during the lifetime of this strategy, and  

 evaluate the actual impact and get a better understanding of future demand 

prior to any further expansion.        

 

Apartment Schemes for younger adults with disabilities 
 
There is too much reliance on shared housing with over 700 properties across 
Lancashire. 
 
There is a clear need for more Apartment Schemes to modernise the offer of 
Housing with Care and Support and provide additional choice. A strategic review of 
accommodation will be undertaken which will identify gaps in provision across the 
county.  
 

Page 64



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 12 • 
 

From this a specification will be produced, listing key requirements for Apartment 

Schemes with regard to factors such a size and location. 

 
This will lead to the remodelling of some existing Apartment Schemes and enabling 

them to realise their full potential, in addition to having an open dialogue with district 

councils and housing developers to identify suitable sites for new build schemes. 

 

5.0 The financial case for Housing with Care and Support 

 

Extra Care for older adults 

 

A recent evaluation of potential revenue savings to the county council, based on our 

financial modelling tool, suggests an average weekly saving of around £100 per 

person for those individuals who would otherwise have been living in residential 

care.  However, as people living in Extra Care will have a range of needs, weekly 

care costs are likely to be an average of £33 per person less expensive when 

compared to other settings.  These figures assume no capital investment in the 

scheme by the county council.  

 

Apartment Schemes for younger adults with disabilities 

 

There will be a slightly different model of support for new Apartment Schemes based 

on an equal contribution from all people who use the service to the background day 

and/or night support.  Evidence from another council of implementing this model in 

Apartment Schemes has realised average weekly savings of £295 per person for 

people moving from shared housing and £600 per person for people moving from 

residential care. 

 

Background costs will vary dependent on size of the scheme but are estimated to be 

around £200 per week and individuals would then have additional staff hours for 

dedicated one to one support, dependent on their level of need.  There will be 

economies of scale when compared to shared housing.  This is because Apartment 

Schemes will support more people with similar levels of background support.  

 

The county council is not expecting to make any capital contribution to development 

costs or to pay for any vacancies within schemes.  

 

6.0 Creating new Housing with Care and Support 

 

A Housing with Care and Support development programme can only deliver to its full 

potential with strong partnership working between the county council, district 

councils, NHS clinical commissioning groups, service users, communities, providers 

Page 65



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 13 • 
 

and landlords. With the integration of health and social care moving forward and 

housing provision sitting with district councils, strong partnerships will deliver the 

best financial benefits and best outcomes for our older adults and younger adults 

with disabilities and all of the organisations concerned. 

 

There is potential to co-locate other appropriate services within Housing with Care 

and Support developments, such as other public services, and to use Housing with 

Care and Support to promote regeneration.  

 

There is a need to attract a range of housing landlords and developers to provide 

options for individuals, of all income levels, living in all areas of Lancashire, but 

especially for those from social, affordable and private rented sectors and home 

owners in lower value homes.   

 

We are seeking to adopt an approach which is flexible and able to respond to the 

circumstances of the local community and different funding and support 

requirements, thereby enabling us to determine our contribution according to what 

can be achieved with other partners including district councils, the NHS, developers 

and registered housing providers. 

 

We are aiming to deliver the new Housing with Care and Support schemes without 

the county council making a capital contribution.  However, we may be prepared to 

contribute resources in the form of land, where this would be required to make the 

scheme financially viable, or in exceptional circumstances to make a financial 

contribution where there is a strategic need for a service which could not proceed 

without a county council capital contribution. 

 

Consequently, we will develop a county-wide Housing with Care and Support 

delivery plan in partnership with the district councils and other key stakeholders that 

is sufficiently flexible to deal with local needs.  Housing providers, developers and 

potential private investors will be engaged in the discussions about what new 

developments, or remodelling of existing stock, is possible.  As part of this, we will 

review existing housing schemes which are unsuitable to meet people's needs in the 

longer-term and/or have long-standing vacancies, with a view to decommissioning 

these if appropriate and supporting people to move to good quality housing.      

 

Where we decommission existing housing schemes we will fully involve service 

users, family members and service providers to ensure they have a voice during a 

period of such change.  We will not rush these changes and, where appropriate, we 

will ensure advocacy services are available and best interest decisions are made. 

When suitable alternative accommodation has been identified, and a timescale for 

moving has been agreed, a person will give notice on their current tenancy. 

 

Page 66



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 14 • 
 

We are creating a new social work team that will be dedicated to assisting younger 

adults with disabilities to move into Apartment Schemes, so the change can be 

managed effectively and in a person-centred way.  Where it is known which people 

may move into an Apartment Scheme well in advance of it opening, a co-production 

approach will be used to involve those people in the planning of it.  Otherwise focus 

groups can be used to listen to people's views.       

 

The county council will be involved in the planning and design of new schemes and 

will work with partners to agree a set of design principles for homes for life long 

living, which provide a selection of minimum standards and aid improvement or 

maintenance of health and wellbeing.  We will seek advice from specialist advisers at 

the Local Government Association and promote the use of nationally recognised 

good practice standards, such as Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for 

Innovation (HAPPI) principles, Lifetime Homes standards and Housing LIN guidance.  

This will enable well-designed schemes that can meet people's specific needs, 

including people living with dementia or a sensory impairment.  We will also work 

with our partners to identify the best locations for schemes, which will include the 

joint undertaking of needs analyses and the mapping of local amenities.  

 

In order to support a county-wide Housing with Care and Support delivery plan, we 

will need to develop and maintain clear pathways into all types of accommodation 

with care and support.  This will involve us working with our partners to introduce 

improved information, advice and ways of working, so service users and 

professionals are clear about what the schemes offer, how they can be easily 

accessed when there are suitable vacancies, and how people's needs and 

preferences may be matched to the right environment.  For Apartment Schemes for 

younger adults with disabilities and specifically people with a learning disability 

and/or autism, partners will need to have regard to the relevant principles and values 

of Building the Right Support11 and the accompanying service model and guidance.      

 

7.0 The care and support model 

 

Core care and support 

 

Each scheme will provide access to a core onsite emergency or unplanned personal 

care available to everyone, which will also give people peace of mind.  It will always 

be available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week in Extra Care for older adults.   

 

For Apartment Schemes for younger adults with disabilities, the core support will be 

provided in the form of shared background support.  This may or may not be 

required onsite on a 24/7 basis, as it would be determined on a scheme-by-scheme 

basis depending on the needs of the people living in a particular scheme. 

                                            
11https://www.england.nhs.uk/learning-disabilities/natplan/  

Page 67

https://www.england.nhs.uk/learning-disabilities/natplan/


Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 15 • 
 

 

The core service may include other elements of support, for example to promote 

social activities and relationships. 

 

Personalised care and support 

 

People who meet the national eligibility threshold under the Care Act 2014 will 

receive a personal budget to meet their planned personalised care needs from the 

onsite care provider, or may choose to receive services from a different care 

provider.  Planned care will always be person-centred; focus on the individual's 

needs and outcomes; and promote their independence, health and wellbeing.  We 

will commission care and support from CQC registered providers that deliver good 

quality services and demonstrate a commitment and ability to provide personalised 

care and support.  Care and support plans can include support that will promote 

social inclusion and the use of assistive technology to help people connect to other 

people and their local community. 

 

Other care and support 

 

Assistive technology, such as telecare, will be used in all schemes to promote 

independence and help meet people's needs and outcomes, particularly where a 

physical presence may not be needed at times during the day or night.  People will 

be supported to access community equipment services if they need aids to help with 

their daily living e.g. mobility.  We will also work with our NHS partners to explore the 

use of telehealth and/or telemedicine.   

 

On a scheme-by-scheme basis, and depending on local needs and services, the 

county council with its partners may explore the possibility of using a particular 

scheme to provide: 

 

 Respite care to give carers a short break and/or intermediate care to help 

people avoid going into hospital or residential care unnecessarily, or to help 

people recover following  a hospital stay   

 A hub for providing services into the local community, such as home care 

services where availability of home care in the local area is a challenge, or 

health and wellbeing promotion programmes. 

Page 68



Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025  
 

• 16 • 
 

 

8.0 Acknowledgements 

 

We would like to offer our sincere thanks to the people and organisations that gave 

up their valuable time to respond to the consultation, which has helped us produce 

this strategy.  We would also like to thank our partners for the positive way in which 

they have engaged with us so far in taking the strategy forward, and for the collective 

enthusiasm for developing new Housing with Care and Support schemes that will 

improve the lives of many people of Lancashire.   

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Extra care housing – what is 
it in 2015?
Extra care housing (for rent or sale) is becoming better known amongst 
older people as a housing choice and as a possible alternative to 
residential care. Yet,  it is vital for commissioners, designers, developers, 
providers and planners to better understand the extra care housing offer 
for today’s generation of older people and for future generations.

This Housing LIN factsheet replaces the 2008 edition and provides a 
general up to date introduction into what extra care housing is as at 
2015. It: defines and describes extra care housing and looks at key 
design features; sets out the policy and practice context; outlines the 
scale of extra care supply and considers future supply needs; discusses 
developing, funding and commissioning extra care housing and how to 
pay for services. It also takes a customer perspective on information 
about extra care, choice and marketing. 

In addition, it explores the importance of extra care within a wider 
health and social care economy and considers its role as a key housing 
based solution for a growing number of older people. And finally, the 
factsheet contains useful links and references for more reading and 
case studies.

Prepared by Moyra Riseborough, Peter Fletcher and Denise Gillie for the 
Housing Learning and Improvement Network. 

The authors express their thanks to Tetlow King Planning and others for their 
contributions to parts of the text.

Factsheet 1

© Housing Learning & Improvement Network www.housinglin.org.uk

November 2015

Page 71



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 1

Contents

1. Introduction to Extra Care Housing – What is it in 2015?. . . . .2

2. Defining and describing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3

3. Changes in the policy and practice context . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7

4. Scale of extra care provision and how much is needed . . . . . .9

5. Commissioning, developing, and funding extra care  . . . . . . .11

6. Paying for services, community use and staffing  . . . . . . . . . .14

7. Links with health . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .16

8. Information on extra care, choice, and marketing . . . . . . . . . .17

 About the Authors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .19

 Acknowledgements  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .20

 About the Housing LIN . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .20

Page 72



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 2

1.0 Introduction to Extra Care Housing – What is it in 2015? 

The factsheet reflects continuity and change since the early 2000’s. Extra care housing 
provision has evolved in response to many different local circumstances and opportunities. Not 
surprisingly, this has resulted in diverse, imaginative and creative models. Perhaps because 
of this an official agreed definition is still elusive. It, therefore, covers the main models and 
ingredients that are generally agreed to constitute extra care housing in England and makes 
some references to appropriate models elsewhere. 

The factsheet also looks at models and building types and the terms that are often used to 
describe them, such as, ‘hub and spoke’ extra care developments or ‘schemes’. It sets out the 
reasons why it is often said that extra care housing is qualitatively different to other kinds of 
specialist housing, residential or nursing homes. 

And finally, the factsheet addresses the current level of extra care, and the growth of both 
public and privately funded extra care housing.

1.1 Extra Care Housing – a better understanding?
Understanding by commissioners, designers, developers, providers, planners and other 
stakeholders of the place that purpose-built extra care housing occupies in models of housing, 
care and support for older and disabled people has changed and become more nuanced.

From a housing perspective, extra care is regarded as an important response to the diverse 
needs and wishes of a growing older population and to the needs of local communities. Rather 
than as an end in itself we place extra care housing in the context of modern thinking on age-
friendly and lifetime neighbourhoods, towns and cities because being age-friendly benefits 
everyone.1 Furthermore, there is a growing movement towards age-friendly communities 
and adopting the World Health Organisation criteria, for example Cardiff, Manchester and 
Newcastle.2 

For would be consumers and their families, the growth of extra care housing has provided them 
with more choice, although as a concept and product (outside adult social care commissioning 
and specialist affordable housing) it is still not well enough known or understood in the market 
place.

In recent years, there has been a subtle shift in the customers that extra care housing is aimed 
at. While it is still predominantly aimed at older people, extra care housing is also increasingly 
being aimed at other groups such as adults with disabilities, often as a result of the availability 
of public capital funding streams; for example, the Department of Health’s Care and Support 
Specialised Housing Fund.3

In addition, there is growing interest in facilitating older and younger people with dementia and 
people with sight loss4 to maintain their independence in a community setting and extra care 
has begun to respond to these challenges.

1 Phillipson C (2012) Developing Age Friendly Cities. Policy Challenges and Options. Housing LIN Viewpoint 37
2 www.who.int/ageing/projects/age_friendly_cities_network/en/
3 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/FundingExtraCareHousing/DHCapitalFundingProgramme/CASSHF2013-15/
4 Thomas Pocklington Trust (2011) Extra Care Housing and People with Sight Loss: Lighting and Design. Research Findings No 36.

Page 73



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 3

Extra care housing is therefore more likely to figure in people’s options for their housing, 
support and care compared to the recent past. The factsheet outlines some of the evidence 
that has emerged on people’s views about living in extra care housing and there are links to 
a range of useful publications. 

The ‘extra’ in extra care housing is generally recognised to be access to care services that 
can: 

Respond quickly to residents changing needs• 

Provide unplanned care as and when required in addition to planned care• 

Provide an emergency response.• 

Although the genesis of extra care housing predates ”personalisation” and the “individualisation” 
of services, it has evolved alongside the rise of person centred thinking and has synergies with 
a broader ‘quality of life’ philosophy. Extra care housing developments support individual choice 
to be private or take part in, and contribute to community life. Extra care providers are also 
responding and successfully adapting to demands from customers and to shifts necessitated 
by changes in local authority funding for care, to support informal care and self-care. This is 
covered in more detail in the Housing LIN’s new Policy Technical Brief, Care and Support in 
Housing with Care for Older People, and case study report, Approaches to Procurement and 
Delivery of Care and Support in Housing with Care.5

1.2 Finding your way around the factsheet 
Section 2: Defining, describing and extra care design• 

Section 3: The policy and practice context • 

Section 4: The scale of provision and how much is ‘needed’• 

Section 5: Commissioning, developing and funding extra care • 

Section 6: Paying for services, community use and staffing • 

Section 7: Links with health• 

Section 8: Information on extra care, choice, and marketing. • 

2.0	 Defining	and	describing

Our definition

Extra care housing is housing with care primarily for older people where occupants have 
specific tenure rights to occupy self-contained dwellings and where they have agreements 
that cover the provision of care, support, domestic, social, community or other services. Unlike 
people living in residential care homes, extra care residents are not obliged as a rule to obtain 
their care services from a specific provider, though other services (such as some domestic 
services, costs for communal areas including a catering kitchen, and in some cases some 
meals) might be built into the charges residents pay. 

5 www.housinglin.org.uk/pagefinder.cfm?cid=9820

Page 74



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 4

As outlined in the aforementioned Housing LIN Care and Support Technical Brief: 

“A fundamental feature of housing with care is that it is a housing model. Whilst on-site 
services may – and indeed should be – co-ordinated effectively, legally, the housing 
is a separate entity from the care – if it were otherwise, schemes would be liable to 
registration as care homes. Occupants have security of tenure and housing rights 
afforded by their occupancy agreements and cannot be required to move, unless in 
breach of the occupancy agreement.”

2.1 Core ingredients 
The original 2003 Housing LIN factsheet noted a wide variety of different kinds of extra care. 
However, there is broad agreement that there is a core set of ingredients that are part of extra 
care. They are:

Purpose-built, accessible building design that promotes independent living and supports • 
people to age in place

Fully self-contained properties where occupants have their own front doors, and tenancies • 
or leases which give them security of tenure and the right to control who enters their 
home

Office for use by staff serving the scheme and sometimes the wider community• 

Some communal spaces and facilities• 

Access to care and support services 24 hours a day• 

Community alarms and other assistive technologies• 

Safety and security often built into the design with fob or person-controlled entry• 

For more discussion on characteristics see, for example, the Association of Retirement 
Community Operators Charter and Consumer Code.6

Some extra care developments (also called schemes), have additional facilities, some of which 
may be open to the local community at reasonable charges: for example, restaurant and gym 
facilities, meeting rooms and public areas.

Use of telecare devices is becoming more common in extra care housing developments: for 
example, fall detectors for people who are prone to falling, or devices for people with dementia 
who are prone to wandering.7

2.2 Models, size and scale 
Some extra care housing is large scale and may contain up to 300 properties or more. Larger 
developments tend to have more facilities and services. They include ‘extra care villages’ and 
‘continuing care retirement communities’. At the other end of the scale, there are very small 
developments of 6 apartments or bungalows, sometimes in the grounds of care home or in rural 
areas (see Housing LIN Factsheet No.12).8 Property types include apartments, bungalows, 
houses or a mix and may be developed in all kinds of modern or vernacular styles.

6 http://arcouk.org/consumercode/
7 www.housinglin.org.uk/pagefinder.cfm?cid=9467
8 www.housinglin.org.uk/pagefinder.cfm?cid=1623

Page 75



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 5

2.3 Different terms and kinds of developments 
Over the years, discussion about extra care housing is peppered with different terms to 
describe certain kinds of extra care buildings or site layouts, for example:

Very sheltered or enhanced sheltered housing:•  current term reflecting additional care and 
support needs of older residents in sheltered housing (but not high enough levels to require 
extra care housing)

Extra Care and Assisted Living:•  Typically, purpose built bocks of flats with communal 
facilities and space for care and other services to be delivered

Hub and spoke:•  as above but with a greater focus on designing for wider community use, 
and therefore probably larger communal facilities available for the wider community

Close Care:•  Typically, purpose built blocks of flats or bungalows linked to a care home

Retirement Village:•  purpose built extra care within a larger retirement village concept with 
a range of dwelling types and facilities

Specialist*:•  extra care designed to accommodate a particular group, for example people 
with dementia 

Separated*:•  general extra care but with a specialist wing or unit (for example for people 
with dementia, or learning disability)

* See section 3 (p.8-9) for more on the subject.

To some extent the lack of an agreed definition for extra care housing stems from the words 
providers and developers want to use to appeal to certain markets. For example, assisted 
living apartment is preferred by some private providers to describe their ‘offer’. It could be a 
housing offer or it could be an alternative to residential care. The assisted living apartment is, 
therefore, a description of a living environment that is purpose-built, self-contained and which 
has design features that enable people to self-care and/or use specialist equipment more 
easily. 

Subtle differences are often seen in the language used by commercial providers and developers 
to reflect the lifestyle they are offering customers as well as the housing and service model. 
See, for example, presentations offered by developers at the Housing LIN Annual Conference 
2014/2015.9

2.4 Extra care housing design 
Over the years a number of common design features have emerged, in particular:

Accessible design, into and within schemes, and the dwelling units themselves • 

Flexible use of communal areas for the benefit of residents and the wider community, • 
where ‘community benefit’ is part of the concept; and

‘Progressive privacy’, which separates the private properties from the communal parts• 

9 www.housinglin.org.uk/Events/HLINAnnualConference2015/

Page 76



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 6

Housing LIN factsheet 6 provides essential information about key design principles and issues 
to consider when designing and developing a brief for new extra care housing.11 It also includes 
a number of case studies of extra care schemes and village developments. The section on 
dementia in section 3 of this factsheet also provides links to useful information on design. 

More recently, learning about what works well in design has been heavily influenced by two 
HAPPI reports12 which comment on a number of different approaches to housing with care and 
support including extra care and cohousing in Europe.

2.5 Boundaries and limitations of extra care
In the preparation to update this factsheet, some extra care providers and commissioners we 
consulted indicated that they thought it was important to stress the boundaries and limitations 
between extra care housing provision and residential care. Some think that while extra care 
housing can provide an alternative to residential care for some people it depends on the 
appropriateness to the individual of the combined housing, care and service model available 
rather than the care on its own. Extra care housing cannot therefore in the minds of some 
providers, replace all residential care and there were strong views that extra care housing 
should not be seen as residential care ‘in disguise’.

2.6 Part of Housing with Care 
Overall, extra care housing should be firmly located alongside other housing with care models. 
It is different from registered residential care provision where the important distinction is that 
occupants do not have any tenure rights. For more discussion on housing with care see 
Croucher et al 2007 and Darton et al 2011 on the subject) and the aforementioned Housing 
LIN Policy Technical Brief.

Example: Linskill, North Shields
Housing & Care 21 one of the pioneers of extra care developments introduced a novel 
way to separate public and private space which is particularly important when extra care 
is intended to be part of a busy community hub. Their concept of progressive privacy 
was used to good effect in their building design briefs and defined how public areas 
could be entered quite separately and kept separate from domestic private areas where 
residents live.10

10 www.housinglin.org.uk.org/Topics/ECHScheme/search/Overview/?cid=8310&msg=0
11 www.housinglin.org.uk/pagefinder.cfm?cid=5145
12 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/Design_building/HAPPI2/

Page 77



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 7

3.  Changes in the policy and practice context

3.1 Five main changes
Since the second edition of this factsheet in 2008, five main changes occurred that affect extra 
care housing:

The economic downturn and squeeze on public (and private) finances• 

The growth in ‘personalisation’ and the implications on revenue funding and service • 
models

The growing presence of a diversity of tenure arrangements, i.e. extra care for leasehold, • 
shared ownership and market rent, alongside extra care for social or affordable rent

The development of extra care housing that includes provision for vulnerable adults as • 
well as older people

Changes in provision for people with dementia• 

3.2	 The	economic	downturn	and	squeeze	on	public	finances
The economic downturn had serious implications for people planning new extra care housing. 
In particular: 

In many areas, local authority investment on the revenue side of extra care reduced • 

It became harder to find public capital funds to develop social extra care housing• 

Lower income residents and potential residents have expressed their concerns about • 
affordability and the contributions they have to make to rents, service charges and care 
costs

Until quite recently, extra care housing developments benefited from relatively stable and 
continuous streams of public revenue. The latter was usually delivered via block contracts from 
local authorities that funded the support and care services received by residents. The situation 
now is very different. Under ‘personalisation’, person-centred social care, the introduction of 
personal budgets based on social care assessments of individual’s needs and FACS (Fair 
Access to Care) criteria, and new assessment arrangements under the Care Act 2014, have 
affected revenue arrangements. The expectation that individuals should contribute if possible 
to the costs of background care and support services (over and above the cost of individual 
care plans) has also had an impact and some people choose not to or cannot afford to pay.

As a result, revenue for care and support is less predictable and some providers are beginning 
to question the long term viability without care revenue guarantees from local commissioners. 
We say more about these changes in sections 5 and 6.

3.3  Growth in tenure options 
There are more tenure options available to older people interested in moving to extra care 
compared to the past and it is likely this trend will continue. For example, there are more 
leasehold and shared ownership options13 alongside social renting while market renting is 

13 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/type/resource/?cid=1645

Page 78



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 8

appearing as a relatively new option for more affluent people.14 The government’s 2011 ‘Laying 
the Foundations: Housing Strategy for England’ 15 anticipated that 60% of projected household 
growth up to 2033 will be amongst householders aged 65 and over. Many older households 
currently own their own homes, and most of these are mortgage free.

3.4 A wider customer base 
In recent years, developers and housebuilders have become more aware of local housing 
markets and older people’s purchasing power and some local authorities have sought to reach 
a more diverse customer base. 

Government interest has played a part. Bidding criteria for the last round of the Department 
of Health Extra Care Housing Fund (2008-2010), and its successor, the Care and Support 
Specialised Housing (CaSSH) Fund - administered by the Homes and Communities Agency 
and Greater London Authority - encouraged applications for extra care housing developments 
for vulnerable adults as well as older people. CaSSH guidelines included people with a learning 
disability, physical or sensory disability or people with a mental health problem. The focus of 
both grant programmes was to support greater health, well-being and independence.

The prospectus for the Phase 2 CaSSH Fund focused on people with mental health conditions 
and learning disabilities.16 It also aimed to encourage private sector mixed tenure provision. 
In contrast to earlier Government Extra Care Housing funding programmes, CaSSH Phase 2 
was explicit that funding was available for specialised dementia developments. 

Details on successful CaSSH bids from Phases 1 and 2 can be found on the Housing LIN 
website.17 As the CaSSH prospectus indicates, the Housing LIN is responsible for knowledge 
and information exchange, and manages the directory of Department of Health funded 
schemes.18

3.5 Extra care provision for people with dementia
Interest in providing a range of different housing and other options for people with dementia 
has grown significantly. More than 800,000 people are estimated to be living with dementia in 
the UK.19 Extra care housing is increasingly seen as an option for some of them and thinking 
is evolving about the best way to support people who develop dementia after moving to extra 
care. For example, a study by Housing and Care 21 found that 25% of extra care residents 
had dementia.20

Substantial changes in practice are ongoing including staff training and design changes. Staff 
training often builds on approaches developed by the University of Stirling to improve the 
practice of care staff. A number of organisations have asked all their extra care housing staff 
to engage in training including cleaning, gardening and finance staff; for example, Housing & 
Care 21, Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust, the Extra Care Charitable Trust and Waltham Forest 

14 www.housinglin.org.uk/pagefinder.cfm?cid=9108
15 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7532/2033676.pdf
16 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-and-support-specialised-housing-fund-phase-2-prospectus
17 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/FundingExtraCareHousing/DHCapitalFundingProgramme/
18 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/ECHScheme/
19 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingandDementia/
20 Vallelly S (2006) Opening Doors to Independence, Housing 21

Page 79



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 9

Housing Trust. The purpose is to provide a dementia-friendly living and working environment 
and grew from interest in the National Dementia Action Alliance’s work on dementia-friendly 
villages, towns and cities.21

Design changes are part of the dementia-friendly trend. Changes include removing mirrors, 
taking up dark mats on the entrance to buildings and using colour to define particular floors 
and corridors so people with dementia find it easier to navigate.22

New extra care housing developments are incorporating dementia-friendly design features in 
building specifications; for example, in Lancashire23 and in Flintshire, Wales.24

Integrated and separated approaches have emerged. Integrated approaches aim to involve 
and engage people with dementia into an extra care scheme alongside other residents. 
Separated approaches typically involve separate wings or ‘pods’ in extra care schemes. The 
dwellings themselves may incorporate the design features similar to those above.
 
Figure 1: Types of housing based models for people with dementia

Integrated: people with dementia live in 
apartments alongside all other residents in 
the scheme

Separated: people with dementia are clus-
tered within a separate self-contained area 
of the scheme (e.g. a wing or a floor) 

Specialist/dedicated: a scheme where 
only people with dementia live

Hybrid: housing based provision along-
side a care home (e.g. specialist residen-
tial care and housing based dedicated 
scheme) 

Source: University of Worcester, June 2015

Finding a method to balance the sensitivities of residents who do not have dementia while 
providing well for those who do is a frequent source of discussion for extra care providers. 
No evaluation has yet been undertaken on the respective advantages and disadvantages 
of different models of housing based provision for people with dementia (Figure 1), though 
the Housing Dementia Research Consortium intends to apply for funding to undertake a 
comparative evaluation of these different approaches.25

4. Scale of extra care provision and how much is needed

4.1 How much extra care is there currently?
It is difficult to estimate accurately the numbers of extra care schemes or developments in the 
UK. EAC (Elderly Accommodation Counsel) publish details of all accommodation with care 
and support for older people in England and Wales known to them, and they specifically refer 
to extra care housing and enhanced sheltered housing as well as to residential care schemes. 
This is one of the only sources of data about extra care provision. 

21 Riseborough M and Jones A (2014) Helping Smaller Housing Association Become Dementia Friendly. Their Experience and 
the Impacts on Policy and Practice. Warwickshire. Quality of Life Charitable Trust.

22 http://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design/good-practice-guidelines/colour-and-contrast
23 www.housinglin.org.uk/pagefinder.cfm?cid=8809
24 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/type/resource/?cid=9204
25 www.worcester.ac.uk/discover/housing-and-dementia-research-consortium.html

Page 80



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 10

According to the EAC, in August 2015 the numbers of extra care flats or other dwelling types 
in the UK are:

 Extra Care Enhanced sheltered

England 47,184 15,843

Wales 1,988 308

Scotland 1,148 2,768

N Ireland 98 662

TOTAL 50,418 19,581

Note: the figures above include schemes under construction. Figures recorded for Wales have 
decreased since 2014 because EAC re-categorised some as enhanced sheltered housing. 
Extra care housing figures are those that have access to care staff 24 hours a day. Enhanced 
sheltered housing covers schemes with a lower level of service than extra care, but a higher 
level than found in most sheltered housing

How much extra care there is in particular local areas depends on local authority perspectives 
about the role of extra care, and the level of home ownership and house prices and their influence 
on the growth of the private market. Discussion with developers indicates a clear north-south 
divide with the majority of new developments, in particular private funded developments, in 
the southern half of the country.

4.2 How much extra care housing is needed?
Estimating need for extra care housing depends on how it is perceived by local authorities and 
other public service commissioners. Some authorities see extra care as a means of meeting 
housing need and broadening housing and tenure choices for older people. Others see a 
narrower role for extra care, around shifting the balance of provision and funding away from 
long-term residential care to forms of independent community living. Local authorities such 
as Sunderland, North Yorkshire, and Staffordshire have set targets for the amount of extra 
care provision they want to see in their local areas. They employ dedicated staff who work 
with partners to deliver their extra care programme. Other local authorities are cautious about 
supporting the development of extra care and are concerned about potential revenue costs.

In England, under the 2014 Care Act, there are new duties on local authorities to facilitate 
a vibrant, diverse and sustainable market for high quality care and support in their area, for 
the benefit of their whole local population, regardless of how the services are funded.26 This 
includes accommodation based care and support services for older and vulnerable people 
and many authorities have now developed Market Position Statements.27 Similarly, in Wales, 
the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act refers to building community resilience and 
market facilitation underpinning commissioning, including housing with care.28

26 http://careandsupportregs.dh.gov.uk/category/market-shaping/
27 www.housinglin.org.uk /_library/Resources/Housing/SHOP/HLIN_SHOPBriefing1_MPS_digitalversion03.pdf 
28 www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents/enacted

Page 81



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 11

However, there is currently no one agreed mechanism for estimating future needs amongst 
local populations for extra care housing in England and Wales. The most widely recognised tool 
in recent times for estimating how many units of extra care are required for local populations 
is the SHOP@ tool (Strategic Housing for Older People Analysis Tool) on the Housing LIN 
website. This emerged from an earlier toolkit, ‘More Choice, Greater Voice’, produced by 
DCLG and the then Care Services Improvement Partnership at the Department of Health.29

The SHOP@ tool is a free online method to help local authorities and developers including 
Registered Providers to estimate demand for specialist housing in England and Wales.30 It 
estimates a shortfall of 61,000 units of extra care housing in England and 7,500 in Wales by 
2030 respectively.

Using data generated by EAC’s national records, SHOP@ produces local information at a 
unitary/county level or for individual districts using the formula that demand for extra care is 
likely to be required at 25 units per 1,000 population aged 75 plus. It also converts housing 
need for enhanced sheltered housing using a formula that equates a need for 20 units of 
enhanced sheltered housing per 1,000 population aged 75 plus. The desired tenure mix will 
vary according to local and market factors.

5. Commissioning, developing, and funding extra care

5.1 Commissioning and market shaping
Local authorities have various reasons for wanting extra care housing in their local areas 
including: 

Reducing local authority expenditure on long-term residential care, preventing unplanned • 
hospital admissions and supporting timely discharge

Increasing tenure and care and support choices for people• 

Part of a wider regeneration programme• 

An option to encourage and enable older people to downsize and free up family housing• 31

Local authority commissioning was traditionally linked to the availability of public sector 
capital for extra care housing. The squeeze on capital as well as a drive for greater value for 
money has led commissioners and providers to focus much more on the need to evidence the 
outcomes for potential residents and to ensure that new schemes are located in areas where 
there will be a demand. New developments are more likely as a result to be located close to 
shops and services and to offer a mix of tenure choices. 

Such expectations are often expressed by local authority commissioners in their Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessments (JSNA’s), Market Position Statements, older people’s strategies and 
Strategic Housing Needs Assessments (SHMA’s). They are written for developers and service 
providers, with the overall aim of providing them with information to develop the right types 
and volume of housing and services to meet local need. In addition, Health and Well-being 
Boards and the Better Care Fund have brought local authority (sometimes including housing) 
and health commissioners closer together to plan for the future and develop more integrated 
commissioning approaches.

29 www.housinglin.org.uk.org/_library/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Reports/MCGVdocument.pdf
30 www.housinglin.org.uk/SHOPAT
31 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/ExtraCareStrategy/SHOP/SHOPAT/DeliveringKeyOutcomes/Downsizing/

Page 82



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 12

SHMAs aim to identify both social housing need and market demand for housing in a local 
area. The rapid growth of older households is increasingly noted in housing market analyses. 
Some local authorities are actively seeking private sector investment to enable them to meet 
local needs. Examples include:

Seafarers Way, Sunderland – private sector capital model developed in Sunderland to • 
provide an extra care scheme for people with dementia. The new build element was 100% 
privately funded

Selling a local authority owned site for the development of extra care housing e.g. Newcastle • 
City Council and McCarthy & Stone

There is some evidence too that existing care home providers are responding to what they see 
as a gap in the local market and to local needs by developing extra care housing or assisted 
living schemes. These developments are often on land adjoining an existing home, or part 
of a new build development of a care home together with a block of apartments with the two 
buildings sharing some communal areas and services.32

5.2 Commissioning individual extra care schemes 
The current riskier financial environment has affected commissioning arrangements for 
extra care for schemes reliant on local authority support. For Registered Providers (housing 
associations) who own and manage extra care housing, there are greater risks because:

Supporting People revenue for support services no longer exists as a dedicated funding • 
source and in many areas is being reduced or withdrawn

Block contracts for on-site care at the scheme are not being renewed or they are awarded • 
for shorter periods or, alternatively, a personal budget is awarded to individual residents

Residents are finding it harder to meet the costs of service charges• 

Linked to the last point, a number of Registered Providers report affordability issues because 
some local authorities question the eligibility of services for Housing Benefit. A fairly complex 
set of reasons have led to this situation – for a good discussion on the subject, especially from 
a resident perspective, see the Age UK factsheet.33

Training requirements and expectations for care staff arising from the Care Act 2014 impose 
new challenges and costs for care providers particularly the requirement that all care staff 
will achieve the Care Certificate. The downward pressure on local authority care budgets is 
already reducing the amount of revenue for providers of care services with knock on effects 
for people living in extra care. This is despite mounting evidence on and about extra care 
provision and its costs and benefits.34

At the time of writing it is not known what impact the introduction of the Living Wage, the 
extension of the Right to Buy, nor the 1% annual rent reduction up till 2020 for schemes that 
are not treated as exempt accommodation, will have on the services in extra care housing.

32 www.housinglin.org.uk.org/ pagefinder.cfm?cid=1618
33 www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/Factsheets/FS64_Retirement_(sheltered)_housing_fcs.pdf
34 Darton, R., Bäumker, T., Callaghan, L. and Netten, A. (2011) Evaluation of the Extra Care Housing Initiative: PSSRU Technical 

Report, PSSRU Discussion Paper No. 2783/2, Personal Social Services Research Unit, University of Kent, and Netten A, 
Darton R, Bäumker T and Callaghan L (2011)  Improving Housing with Care Choices for Older People: An Evaluation of Extra 
Care Housing, Personal Social Services Research Unit, University of Kent, Canterbury

Page 83



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 13

5.3 Developing and funding new extra care developments
A number of developers have well established track records for building social and private 
sector extra care but a more diverse range of developers has appeared in recent years 
including small developers and large-scale housebuilders. 

The financial downturn and reduced public grant rates led to some providers ceasing to develop 
extra care schemes. Others continued to develop extra care but with reduced communal 
facilities in order reduce capital costs, sale prices and service charges for customers.

Planning use classes

The planning classification of extra care housing is far from straightforward, reflecting the 
broad range of philosophy and types that extra care covers. Whether it is seen as primarily 
housing or as a proxy for a care home depends on the nature of the scheme and the services 
provided.

The planning Use Class applied to Extra-Care confirms this distinction because some schemes 
are defined as C3 (Dwelling Houses) and some are C2 (Residential Institution). Occasionally 
schemes can have mixed class use, with distinct parts of a scheme being C2 and others C3.

For well integrated extra care communities, with clear linkages between the various elements, 
the predominant function of the ‘planning unit’ as a whole usually prevails. Occasionally extra 
care has been classified as ‘Sui Generis; that is, a use not falling within any specific class 
within the Use Class Order.

Amongst the key factors in determining the Use Class are the extent of any legal restrictions 
on purchase and occupation; availability of care via a registered care provider, arrangements 
for the regular assessment of individual care needs including upon occupation; the availability 
of meals; and the extent and scale of communal facilities.

Different planning policies may apply depending upon the above classification of the scheme. 
A key example relates to requirements to provide an element of affordable housing, which are 
not normally applicable to C2 developments. Such requirements can significantly impinge on 
scheme viability and the ability of private developers of extra care to compete with general 
house builders.

Some providers, see care provision as integral to extra care housing provided within a 
communal setting. They have always obtained planning consent under C2 Use Class. Other 
providers incorporate little or no care and community facilities; and their schemes should be 
classed as C3.

It is very important therefore to understand that, dependent on circumstances, Extra care 
housing can be either C2 or C3 Use Class. For more comprehensive information on planning, 
see the Housing LIN’s online planning portal.35

35 www.housinglin.org.uk.org/Topics/browse/Planning/

Page 84



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 14

6.	 Paying	for	services,	community	use	and	staffing

6.1 Services in extra care schemes
Services in extra care usually fall under 4 headings as illustrated below in Figure 2:

Figure 2: Services in extra care housing

Housing management

Repairs & maintenance • 

Collecting rent & service charge• 

Annual meeting with residents • 

Performance reporting • 

Lettings/sales• 

Tenancies & leases • 

Facilities management

Window cleaning• 

Gardening & grounds maintenance • 

Cleaning communal areas • 

Health and safety • 

Support and housekeeping services:

Meals • 

Cleaning residents properties • 

Personal laundry service• 

Advice & information • 

Welfare rights• 

Scheme manager service• 

Community alarm/telecare • 

Care services:

Full range of personal care • 

Typically, housing management services are paid for by all residents via their rent and/or 
service charges. Facilities management costs are paid via the service charge, and details 
are explained in an annual service charge breakdown. Generally, all households contribute 
equally to service charge items. However, some extra care schemes charge different rates 
depending on the size of accommodation and the number of people occupying it. 

Support services are typically funded either by local authorities or directly by residents. Some 
local authorities still fund the Scheme Manager Service and/or the costs for employing activities 
coordinators to promote health and well-being. 

Meals are paid for in a variety of ways. They may be paid for directly by residents, although it is 
not uncommon to find that a certain number of meals are included each week for all residents 
in the service charge (this helps to make on site catering facilities viable) with additional meals 
paid for as required. Commercial extra care schemes sometimes include the cost of the kitchen 
and catering team in the service charge and charge residents for each meal they purchase. 

A needs assessment determines eligibility for care services funded by the local authority. 
As identified earlier, personal budgets and Direct Payments are becoming more common 
although some block contracts still exist. Individual Residents increasingly pay a contribution 
to care costs e.g. background care during the day and overnight. Without a block contract or 

Page 85



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 15

some flexibility, the aggregated care hours from each individual’s care plan rarely guarantee 
that care staff can be on site 24 hours a day. It is also difficult to provide any additional care 
over and above limited individual care plans.

Some degree of coordination on the part of adult social care commissioners can offer economies 
of scale for residents and commissioners; for example, by reducing the number of different 
carers and care agencies going in and out of the building. This also improves communication 
with residents, their families and the Scheme Manager. 

Many local authority commissioners refer to the need to ensure that the costs of care (over and 
above planned care in residents care plans) are less than they would otherwise be spending 
on residential care home fees.

Some extra care providers have responded to changes in the financial climate with alternative 
service and funding models. This could include a “well-being” charge to cover the cost of having 
staff on site 24 hours a day (roughly equivalent to the lower rate of Attendance Allowance). 
See the aforementioned 2015 Housing LIN case study report, ‘Approaches to Procurement 
and Delivery of Care and Support in Housing with Care’.

Community alarm/telecare services 

Community alarm and other technology are part of the support service in many extra care 
housing schemes; for example, handling calls for help when staff are busy or off site. A 
minority of alarm services are registered as domiciliary care agencies and some providers 
are introducing new service arrangements to help plug gaps in extra care due to reductions in 
care and support costs. For example, YHN (Your Homes Newcastle) registered its community 
alarm service as a domiciliary care agency in 2014 and now provides an overnight service in 
one of its extra care schemes. 

Costs are met in the same way as care costs for those who receive local authority support 
while people who pay their own care costs pay agreed charges for the services they choose. 
Various models have developed based around the above and will continue to evolve. For 
more information on technology enabled housing with care and examples of practice, visit the 
housing and telecare pages on the Housing LIN website.36

6.2 Using community facilities 
Some extra care housing was developed particularly to provide facilities for the wider local 
community as well as residents. The building design often reflects this; for example, a large 
community café, a shop, community room for meetings or to host leisure, educational or social 
activities. 

However, community use has sometimes evolved typically because the provider wants to 
encourage residents to better engage with people in the wider locality or because community 
use of facilities provides another revenue stream. There are many different examples of 
community use.

36 www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingOlderPeople/OlderPeopleHousingProvision/Telecare/?&msg=0

Page 86



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 16

Community use is not without its pitfalls and careful preparation and consultation with residents 
are vital. 

6.3	 Staffing	and	workforce	development
Expectations of both residents and commissioners are requiring providers to think further 
about staffing and workforce issues. Residents want greater choice and a more personalised 
and flexible service offer. This means, as in the rest of the social care workforce, moving from 
a task and time focus to an outcome based approach, based on a better understanding of 
lifestyle and quality of life as well as quality of care priorities of each individual resident. The 
integration agenda is also bringing care and support tasks closer together into a more holistic 
approach to address these requirements. There is also a greater reliance on the scheme 
manager to integrate these various roles. For a fuller discussion on the workforce challenges 
for extra care housing see the recent Skills for Care report.38

7. Links with health

Traditionally, the links between extra care housing and adult social care were stronger than 
those with health. However, the situation is changing partly as a result of the introduction of 
the Better Care Fund from April 2014 and partly as a result of emerging cost benefit savings 
evidence.

The Better Care Fund (BCF) introduced joint targets for health and social care which are linked 
to income streams from government. BCF Strategic Plans in a number of areas now include 
joint targets to reduce of the number of admissions to long-term residential and nursing home 
care, and hospital admissions. Some health and care commissioners regard growth in the 
volume of extra care housing provision as a key tool for meeting targets. 

Evidence from a series of studies is beginning to build an evidence base on the potential cost 
savings of extra care compared with residential care. Evidence is also beginning to emerge 
(though further research is needed) about potential cost savings to the health economy. For 
example, longitudinal research39 found that the falls rate in extra care housing was 31%, whilst 
the fall rate in a matched sample drawn from a community survey was 49%.

Example: Ensuring Extra Care is part of the community, not a community apart

Hazel Court in Swansea is a 120 unit extra care housing scheme which has become 
an integral resource for the wider community. Forging relationships with stakeholder 
groups across the local community has been vital to the ownership of the scheme by 
both tenants and the wider community. In addition, the benefits from employing an 
experienced Community Activities Co-ordinator have proved invaluable, generating 
substantial inreach and outreach activities and helping to sustain the vibrancy of Hazel 
Court as a resource for the local community.37

37 www.housinglin.org.uk/HazelCourt_CaseStudy
38 Skills for Care (2014) New, emerging and changing job roles: adult social care in extra care housing
39 Kneale D (2011). Establishing the Extra in Extra Care. Perspectives from Three Extra Care Housing Providers. International 

Longevity Centre

Page 87



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 17

The same study also found that residence in extra care housing is associated with a reduced 
level of expected nights spent in hospital than may be expected in an equivalent population 
living in the community. The differences are mainly attributable to a lower propensity for being 
confined to hospital initially, and not through necessarily shorter lengths of stay. Nevertheless, 
this still translates to a lower level of hospitalisation for older extra care residents, with an 
estimated incidence of annual hospitalisation of 4.8 nights per year per person among those 
aged 80+ compared to 5.8 nights for those matched and living in the community. The financial 
impact of a lower incidence of hospitalisation show that the savings in terms of hospital beds 
could reach up to £512 per person. The findings in this 2011 report generally support the notion 
that extra care may play a part in reducing the risk of initial entry as a hospital inpatient.

A study from The Smith Institute suggests that: ‘Providing a greater supply of supported 
housing could reduce the need for and cost of expensive acute hospital provision’, but that the 
UK has relatively low levels of supported housing provision compared to other countries.40 For 
supported housing we could include extra care and other housing with care models. However, 
the study underlines there is still not enough empirical evidence on cost- benefits and savings 
to convince health commissioners to switch resources away from existing care pathways to 
newer, housing-based solutions.

A further research report by The Smith Institute assessed the potential savings that an increased 
level of supported housing could provide for the NHS. The report found that the NHS could save 
around £75,000 per year per unit of supported housing. Therefore, factoring in build costs over 
25 years, a supported housing unit for older people would produce savings of £1 million.41

8. Information on extra care, choice, and marketing

8.1 Moving home
Deciding to move is a difficult decision for anyone but particularly when people are finding it 
difficult to manage in their present home or they are ill or under pressure to move. Research 
with older people shows that they rarely get the advice and information they need on the full 
range of choices available to them. A similar situation affects younger disabled people. The 
Care Act 2014 places the requirement on local authorities to ensure that people receive the 
information and advice they need, and this should include housing choices such as extra care. 
Similarly, the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 provides for making information, 
advice and assistance available in relation to making plans to access care and support.

A number of organisations provide free and impartial information for older people on the 
housing, support and care choices available to them. Nationally they include Age UK and 
FirstStop Advice42 which offer:

A national Advice Line• 

A regularly updated website• 43 which includes information and advice on housing and care 
options, and has a useful database covering sheltered, enhanced sheltered and extra care 
housing across all tenures, as well as care and nursing homes. Information is provided for 
all local authority areas in the UK

40 Denise Chevin. Housing associations and the NHS: new thinking, new partnerships. The Smith Institute, July 2014. (p.6,7 and 20)
41 The Smith Institute. NHS surplus land for supported housing: why now and what are the possible cost savings? A Smith Insti-

tute research paper, July 2014. (p.6)
42 www.firststopcareadvice.org.uk
43 www.HousingCare.org

Page 88



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 18

8.2 Self-help for potential consumers, relatives and carers
Going through the options about where to move is only part of the decision making process 
since a lot depends on personal preferences, lifestyle and the locations that are important to 
people. The HOOP (Housing Options for Older People) tool is one of the self-help methods 
available. It is a questionnaire available on-line or on paper and it takes people through the 
pros and cons of staying put or moving home including cost, location, standard, comfort and 
design, managing the home.44

8.3 Marketing extra care housing
Arguably extra care housing is getting better known but it is still not as well-known as a 
choice amongst social workers and professional health and community workers compared 
to residential or nursing homes. A number of extra care providers commented to us that they 
continuously market extra care housing because when a scheme has been open for some 
time the initial buzz of interest tends to disappear. There is a need too to educate and inform 
new social work staff or new commissioners who don’t know about extra care housing as well 
as the general public. All extra care providers should have an active marketing plan to ensure 
good demand for extra care both initially and thereafter. 

For more information on marketing extra care housing, visit the dedicated Housing LIN webpage.46

8.4  What do people think about living in extra care? 

A substantial literature has developed that presents the views of people who live in extra care. 
This includes serious well researched evidence and feedback from older people themselves. 
It is clear from the feedback from residents in the evaluation of the 2004-2006 Department of 
Health funded schemes, that the choice to move to extra care was a good one for many but 
not for all.46

There is a strongly expressed view that for couples where one person is providing a lot of day 
to day support the additional help from care and support staff can help to make life easier.

A number of studies indicate that older people enjoy the social side of living in extra care 
housing. Another study found that more than two thirds of the people who moved to a Bradford 
extra care development said they had a good social life and more than half of the same people 
reported that they felt lonely before the move.47

There are also some doubts though whether extra care residents with very high needs for care 
and support benefit from the social opportunities in the same way.48 A three year study tracked 
people with dementia in six extra care schemes and considered their views on what they 
found most valuable about living there. Independence and choice came over very strongly in 
people’s preferences.49

44 www.housingcare.org/housing-appraisal-tool.aspx
45 www.housinglin.org.uk /Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/MarketingECH/
46 www.housinglin.org.uk/_library/Resources/Housing/Research_evaluation/PSSRUsummary.pdf
47 Baumker T, Netten A and Darton R (2010), Costs and Outcomes of an Extra Care Scheme in England. Journal of Housing for 

the Elderly. 24,2, 151-170
48 Callaghan L, Netten A and Darton R.  (2009). Development of Social Well Being in New Extra Care Housing Schemes. Joseph 

Rowntree Foundation
49 Evans S and Vallelly S (2007). Social Well Being in Extra Care Housing. Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust

Page 89



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 19

8.5 Does extra care appear to be meeting expectations? 
Expectations attached to extra care have risen considerably compared to when we wrote the first 
factsheet about it. Social extra care housing, in particular, is often expected by commissioners 
to deliver on a range of complex outcomes. To some extent this is understandable given that 
public funds to develop extra care housing and the revenue needed to pay for the running 
costs are getting harder to obtain.

Customer expectations about the services they want are also often high and as we comment 
in the fact sheet some issues of affordability have appeared that did not exist when extra care 
schemes were first developed. The context in which extra care is placed has undoubtedly 
changed as well and the financial squeeze on local authority social care funds is one of the 
most important.

However, extra care housing is continuing to evolve and is highly diverse. There are some 
common ingredients and approaches which characterise it and evidence is emerging about its 
contribution to older people’s well-being. A recent study found that extra care housing can also 
have a major impact in promoting residents’ quality of life and reducing feelings of loneliness 
and isolation.50

And finally, one of the most enduring aspirations expressed by extra care housing providers is 
that their developments will enable more older people to age in place. Recent evidence from 
the longitudinal study of almost 4,000 extra care residents referred to in section 7 (footnote 45) 
suggests that this aspiration may be being achieved. The study identified a small number of 
people who needed to move to residential care but in most cases they were able to continue 
to live in the extra care community.

Note
The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the 
Housing Learning and Improvement Network.

Neither the author nor the Housing LIN accept any liability whatsoever for any loss, expense, 
liability, proceedings or claim arising from reliance placed upon any use, in part or in whole, of 
this publication. It is not a replacement for independent specialist advice, and those who use 
it should ensure that they take appropriate legal, financial and technical advice.

About the Authors
Moyra Riseborough is well known for her research and educational work on ageing, housing 
and community. Formerly an academic at the University of Birmingham Moyra is currently an 
Honorary Researcher for the Northumbria Health Care Trust, She is also a founding member of 
the West Northumberland cohousing group. She runs Riseborough Research & Consultancy 
Associates in Northumberland (RRCA). Contact: www.rrca.co.uk

Peter Fletcher is Director of Peter Fletcher Associates (PFA), an independent national 
research and consultancy that focuses on need and demand analysis, and strategic and 
transformational change across housing, social care, health and social inclusion. PFA has 
nearly 20 years’ experience working with both commissioners and developers to produce 
extra care housing strategies and develop and fund new social and private extra care schemes 
across many parts of the UK. Contact: www.peterfletcherassociates.co.uk

50 www.ilcuk.org.uk/images/uploads/publication-pdfs/Village_Life_ILC-UK_Report.pdf

Page 90



© Housing Learning & Improvement Network – www.housinglin.org.uk 20

Denise Gillie is a managing consultant at PFA. She is the North East Housing LIN regional 
lead and with PFA has also project managed reviews of older peoples housing; acted as 
a critical friend for a local authority Private Finance bid; commissioned extra care housing, 
and been seconded to a senior role in an adult social care commissioning team. She has 
worked in Health as Older Person’s Lead for Durham and Tees Strategic Health Authority 
and as Housing and Community Care Policy Advisor at the Department of Health where she 
managed the Extra Care Housing Programme. Contact: www.peterfletcherassociates.co.uk

Acknowledgements
We are grateful to Robin Tetlow, Chairman of Tetlow King Planning for additional contributions 
on planning issues; John Galvin at EAC for information on the current supply of extra care 
and enhanced sheltered housing, and Jeremy Porteus at the Housing LIN for his market 
insight.

About the Housing LIN
The Housing LIN is the leading ‘learning lab’ for a growing network of housing, health and social 
care professionals in England and Wales involved in planning, commissioning, designing, 
funding, building and managing housing, care and support services for older people and 
vulnerable adults with long term conditions.

Previously responsible for managing the Department of Health’s Extra Care Housing Fund, 
the Housing LIN is called upon by a wide range of statutory and other organisations to provide 
expert advice and support regarding the implementation of policy and good practice in the field 
of housing, care and support services. 

Further information about the Housing LIN’s comprehensive list of online resources on extra 
care housing and on how to participate in our shared learning and service improvement 
networking opportunities, including ‘look and learn’ site visits and network meetings in your 
region, visit: www.housinglin.org.uk. 

Published by
Housing Learning & Improvement Network
c/o EAC, 3rd Floor,
89 Albert Embankment
London SE1 7TP

Tel: 020 7820 8077
Email: info@housinglin.org.uk
Web: www.housinglin.org.uk
Twitter: @HousingLIN

© Housing Learning & Improvement Network www.housinglin.org.ukPage 91



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO ON

CABINET Wednesday, 22 
January 2020

TITLE PORTFOLIO REPORT OF

Strategic Review of Community Involvement, 
including My Neighbourhoods Final Report

Cabinet Member 
(Community 

Engagement, Social 
Justice and Wealth 

Building)

Assistant Director of 
Scrutiny and 

Democratic Services, 
Director of 

Neighbourhoods and 
Development

Is this report a KEY DECISION (i.e. more than £100,000 or 
impacting on more than 2 Borough wards?)

Is this report on the Statutory Cabinet Forward Plan?

Is the request outside the policy and budgetary framework and 
therefore subject to confirmation at full Council? 

Is this report confidential?

No

Yes   

No

No

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1. The purpose of this report is to present Cabinet with the final report from the 
cross-party Member Working Group’s Strategic Review of Community 
Involvement, including My Neighbourhoods.

PORTFOLIO RECOMMENDATIONS

2. That Cabinet considers and agrees the final report from the Strategic Review of 
Community Involvement, including My Neighbourhoods.

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

3. To ensure the Council continues to embed and place community involvement at 
the heart of everything it does. 

CORPORATE OUTCOMES

4. The report relates to the following corporate priorities: (tick all those applicable):

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



Excellence, Investment and Financial 
Sustainability



Health, Wellbeing and Safety 

Place, Homes and Environment 

Projects relating to People in the Corporate Plan:

Our People and Communities 

BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

5. At its meeting on 19 June 2019, the Cabinet created a cross-party Member 
Working Group with the remit to carry out a strategic review of community 
involvement, including My Neighbourhoods.

6. The cross-party Member Working Group was made up of:

 Councillor Aniela Bylinski Gelder (Chair)
 Councillor Jacky Alty
 Councillor David Howarth (from November 2019)
 Councillor Peter Mullineaux
 Councillor Matthew Trafford 
 Councillor Angela Turner (up to November 2019)
 Councillor Karen Walton

Page 94



7. The cross-party Member Working Group has met on a fortnightly basis to 
undertake extensive evidence gathering, making use of existing data and 
carrying out further engagement as necessary.

PROPOSALS (e.g. RATIONALE, DETAIL, FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT)

8. A copy of the cross-party Member Working Group’s final report from the Strategic 
Review of Community Involvement, including My Neighbourhoods is included at 
Appendix 1.

9. Cabinet is asked to consider and agree the final report from the cross-party 
Member Working Group.

CONSULTATION CARRIED OUT AND OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION

10. Existing resident consultation data was used as part of the review.  Additional 
consultation took place with Members, employees, parish/town councils and 
partners as part of the review.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

11. Various community involvement options were considered as part of the review 
with the most appropriate models included in the review recommendations.

AIR QUALITY IMPLICATIONS

12. None as a result of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

13. Ensuring buy-in and effective project management of the implementation of any 
recommendations from the review are key risks.  It is felt that developing an 
engagement toolkit and maximising the use of our project management 
framework will mitigate these risks to an acceptable level.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPACT

14. It is felt that the review has a positive impact on equality and diversity, with no 
negative impacts on protected characteristics.

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

15.  Many of the recommendations can be implemented within existing resources.  
Where additional resources are needed these will be considered as part of the 
ongoing budget process for 2020/2021 and beyond.  At this stage the one 
specific area where additional resources have been requested is supporting 
youth engagement activities.

Page 95



16. The small grants scheme proposed in recommendation 12 in the appendix will 
most likely require additional resourcing.  Once the scheme is developed the full 
details will be reported so that the financial implications can be considered for 
approval.

17. The review of My Neighbourhood Forum meetings, described in recommendation 
8 in the appendix, may also result in additional resourcing requirements.  The 
distribution of core funds, the staffing requirements and IT support may be 
affected.  Again, once the review is undertaken the full details, including financial 
implications, will be reported.

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

18. There may need to be some changes to the Council’s constitution to implement 
some of the recommendations, which will be considered by the Governance 
Committee and agreed by Full Council in the usual way.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Report to Cabinet – 19 June 2019

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 – Final Report Connecting Communities - Review of Community Involvement, 
including My Neighbourhood arrangements

Darren Cranshaw, Assistant Director of Scrutiny and Democratic Services, 
Jennifer Mullin, Director of Neighbourhoods and Development

Report Author: Telephone: Date:
Darren Cranshaw (Assistant Director of Scrutiny 
& Democratic Services), Jennifer Mullin, Director 
of Neighbourhoods and Development)

01772 625512
01772 625329

02/01/20

Page 96



1

Appendix 1
Community Involvement Member Working Group

Connecting Communities
Review of Community Involvement, including 

My Neighbourhood arrangements 

Final Report for Cabinet – 22 January 2020

Task Group:

Councillor Aniela Bylinski Gelder (Chair)
Councillor Jacky Alty
Councillor David Howarth (from November 2019)
Councillor Peter Mullineaux
Councillor Matthew Trafford 
Councillor Angela Turner (up to November 2019)
Councillor Karen Walton

Page 97



2

Page 98



3

Foreword
It has given me great pleasure as the Council’s first 
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement, Social 
Justice and Wealth Building to lead this cross-party 
review of community involvement.

I passionately believe in putting our residents at the 
heart of everything we do as a Council, giving them a 
voice and involving them in their local communities.  
This is a key part in delivering our exciting new 
corporate plan.

This report follows a strategic ‘root and branch’ review 
of the way the Council involves its residents and 
communities in decision-making, service delivery and improving their local area. 

The Member Working Group has tried to be as inclusive as possible and engage 
widely to find out what works well now and what would make our approach even 
better in the future.  

I’ve been bowled over by all the brilliant examples of existing work across the 
Council to involve our communities and the enthusiasm to build on this and take it to 
the next level. 

There has been lots of opportunities for Members to engage with this review as 
community leaders and I look forward to the discussions continuing in the future.  

I would like to thank my fellow Member Working Group Members – Councillors Jacky 
Alty, David Howarth, Peter Mullineaux, Matt Trafford and Karen Walton.  I’m also 
grateful for Councillor Turner’s contribution in the early part of the review.

I’m really looking forward to working with Members and our communities in turning 
this review into a reality and achieving our vision of South Ribble:

“a health and happy community, flourishing together in a safer and fairer borough”

I would welcome any ideas or suggestions of how we can enhance our community 
involvement approach in the future or my wider portfolio.

Councillor Aniela Bylinski Gelder
Chair of the Cross-party Community Involvement Member Working Group

Page 99



4

Rationale for the Review

At the Annual Council meeting on 15 May 2019 the Leader outlined the Cabinet’s 
desire to strengthen and enhance community involvement in the way the Council is 
run.  As part of this a new Community Engagement, Social Justice and Wealth Building 
Cabinet portfolio was created.

As part of appointing Chairs and making some changes to the boundaries of the My 
Neighbourhood Forums it was reported that a fundamental review of the Forums would 
take place.

In order to ensure we consider and maximise the benefits of involving our 
communities more and the close links with the My Neighbourhood Forums it is felt that 
a strategic review should take place.

A cross-party Member Working Group was therefore created to undertake the strategic 
review and report back into Cabinet.

Cross Party Member Working Group

The cross-party Member Working Group was created with nominations from the three 
political groupings on the Council.

The following Members served on the Working Group

 Councillor Aniela Bylinski Gelder (Chair)
 Councillor Jacky Alty
 Councillor David Howarth (from November 2019)
 Councillor Peter Mullineaux
 Councillor Matthew Trafford 
 Councillor Angela Turner (up to November 2019)
 Councillor Karen Walton

Review Aims and Objectives

Aim:

To ensure the Council has an innovative and effective community involvement 
framework in place, which allows influence over the way we design services, make 
decisions, puts our communities at the heart of everything we do and is best practice.

Page 100



5

Objectives:

 To carry out an assessment of current activities, including value and costs.
 To research best practice and look for innovative new approaches.
 To produce a set of recommendations and way forward for Cabinet to consider.

Issues in the Scope of the Review

Co-operative/Collaborative Council approach to community involvement, including:

 Consultation

 Community engagement and participation, including participatory budgeting

 My Neighbourhood Forums

 Work with Parish/Town Councils

 Work with the Voluntary Community and Faith Sector

 Work with young people, including Youth Council, Debate Club, citizenship 
education 

 Democratic engagement, including Member surgeries, ward walks, participation 
in meetings, webcasting, Cabinet in the Community

Links with our Corporate Plan

The review links directly with our new council vision:

‘A healthy and happy community, flourishing together in a safer and fairer 
borough’

There are also links with all our new priorities:

 Health, wellbeing and safety
 Excellence, investment and financial sustainability
 Our people and communities
 Place homes and environment

Page 101



6

Methodology

The Working Group met formally on 9 occasions as part of the review, in addition to 
attending a number of events and workshops during the period of the review.

During the review, members of the Working Group:

 Considered national, regional and local best practice with regards community 
involvement

 Facilitated an all-Member Workshop

 Facilitated 2 employee focus groups

 Engaged with parish/town councils

 Considered existing data and information held on community engagement e.g. 
previous resident engagement, community strategy consultation etc.

 Undertook a visioning exercise

 Attended the Local Government Chronicle Council of the Year best practice 
sharing conference

 Attended the National Association of Local Councils Annual Conference

 Observed meetings of South Ribble Local Strategic Partnership

 Held sessions at 2 My Neighbourhood Chairs and Vice-chairs meetings

 Engaged at My Neighbourhood Forum Planning Meetings

 Met with Lancashire County Council Youth & Community Services

 Met with South Ribble Secondary Heads Association

 Researched good practice from Chorley, Preston, Wigan and Oldham councils

 Met with the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network.

 Considered key documents such as the Council’s constitution, My 
Neighbourhood Forum Annual Reports and action plans etc.

A copy of all the evidence gathered as part of the review is available on request.

Page 102



7

Key Findings of the Review

Using the above evidence sources and valuable feedback the Working Group came 
up with the following findings:

 The Council has a good track record of involving communities with good 
practice examples cited as the Green Links and Worden Hall engagement 
activities.  However, it was felt that a more corporate structured approach was 
required to embed community engagement in the every day work of the 
Council.  There was a sense that a more holistic approach was needed from 
consultation and engagement through to active sustainable participation of 
communities.  A system of evaluating the effectiveness of community 
involvement would assist the Council in ensuring it remains a key priority and 
activities are targeted in the most appropriate way.

 Whilst there is evidence of the needs and views of residents through South 
Ribble Partnership’s community strategy consultation, it is some time since 
the Council last undertook a representative formal residents survey.  

 My Neighbourhood Forums provide a useful structure of local Ward Members 
to meet, discuss local community issues, develop action plans and lead 
specific local community projects.  Whilst these projects can be helpful ways 
to engage communities in projects, it is not felt the Forums are the most 
effective way to corporately engage with residents, hard to reach groups and 
communities in their current format.  

 Looking at practice elsewhere and feedback from Members the alignment 
between the My Neighbourhood Plans and the Council’s corporate and 
budget planning programme could be strengthened further to deliver our 
corporate priorities and local projects.  The process for allocating spending by 
My Neighbourhood Forums was felt to be inefficient, time consuming and not 
the best use of resources.  It is acknowledged that a change would be 
required to the Council’s constitution, but safeguarding public money could be 
achieved in addition to having a more streamlined and effective process. 
 

 In addition to the existing funding for My Neighbourhood projects, a ward 
Member grants scheme should be set up to pump-prime local community 
projects with appropriate governance and link with the needs of local 
communities.

Page 103



8

 Feedback received by the Working Group showed that some Forums are 
more effective than others and that there was a desire for the Members in 
each My Neighbourhood area to design mechanisms to engage with 
communities and implement community activities which are tailored to their 
individual needs.  Research has shown that no one size fits all and that in the 
spirit of devolving influence and decision-making, it should be down to each 
My Neighbourhood area to consult on a model that would be most effective 
for the communities it serves.

 As part of the review, the Working Group looked at practice elsewhere, which 
included the potential to work through a parish/town council rather than 
duplicate a structure that already exists, some would like more formal 
engagement through a local committee, some would like a more devolved 
community development approach concentrating on smaller local areas with 
specific needs.  The Working Group felt that My Neighbourhoods should work 
up models that work for them.

 The Working Group found that the Council needed to build on existing work 
by the Council in sports development and neighbourhoods in involving young 
people in shaping the services and Borough they would like to see in future.  
As a district council it can be difficult to engage with young people and yet our 
services affect their every day lives.  We work with some schools in the 
Borough through specific services and contacts, but a more comprehensive 
education programme and offer for schools is needed to engage and continue 
a positive relationship with citizens of the future.  

 Best practice on involving young people in democracy suggests that created a 
Youth Mayor and Youth Council gives a voice to young people, equips them 
with important skills and leads to better evidence-based decisions and 
services.  

 Raising awareness of what the Council does and important role it plays in 
communities is key to ensuring engagement, with re-starting initiatives such 
as young people’s work experience with council services, employability days, 
mock interviews, Young Enterprise etc.

 In addition to engaging and involving young people, there is work to do on 
engaging the wider population that we serve.  Democracy is at the heart of 
what we are about as a council and the communities we want to see.  A key 
part of democracy is the electoral and voting system.  Whilst our electoral 
register and voter turnout is above average nationally there is more we can do 
to encourage residents to play their part through information and tailoring our 
message to them.

Page 104



9

 Unlike many other councils we allow public participation in our meetings with 
residents able to ask questions and comment on any items of the agenda.  
This relies on residents travelling and taking the time to attend.  It is felt to be 
quite daunting to speak at a meeting for the first time, or know what to expect 
in attending our meetings.  There is further work that could make our 
meetings more accessible and welcoming to residents.  Taking our meetings 
out to local communities increases the potential for involvement.

 With the development of technology an increasing number of councils and 
organisations are choosing the webcast their meetings to increase 
transparency and provide a visual record of how decisions are made – taking 
the Council out to a wider audience.  

 The Borough is very privileged to have many voluntary, community and faith 
sector organisations that provide the social fabric and enriching experiences 
for our communities.  There has not been an umbrella organisation bringing 
these organisations together for a number of years, which presents a 
challenge for us in engaging with the sector as whole and providing support.  
South Ribble Local Strategic Partnership is looking to engage more with these 
groups and has a number of strands, including a volunteer strategy.  It is felt 
that the Council can complement this work and provide support, with 
appropriate senior Member support.

 Equality and diversity is important to us as a council and whilst engagement is 
carried out with representatives of the protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act, there is a more co-ordinated, regular and formal process needed 
to strengthen this further.

 South Ribble has 7 parish/town councils, with part of the Borough in Leyland, 
Lostock Hall, Bamber Bridge and Walton-le-Dale not being parished.  A more 
structured and consistent approach to working with parishes is needed at a 
Member and officer level.  The positive impact of parishing areas was 
appreciated and whilst it is important that communities themselves show their 
wish to be parished, the Council should support residents achieve parish 
status.

Page 105



10

Review Recommendations

Ensuring a Community Involvement Culture

1. The Council becomes an affiliate member of the Co-operative Councils 
Innovations Network to learn and share community involvement best practice.

2. The Council works to become an accredited Co-operative Council, embedding 
the co-operative values of self-responsibility, democracy, equality, equity and 
solidarity to transform the engagement relationship with our residents.

3. Community involvement is placed at the heart of every service through service 
planning, project management and decision-making so that it is co-ordinated and 
allows the community to shape what we do.

4. A community involvement toolkit and training be developed to help Members and 
employees involve local communities more effectively.

5. A survey of residents is undertaken at least every two years to understand the 
needs and views of residents with specific questions to assess the level of 
community involvement activity.

6. An annual report on the Council’s community involvement activities takes place 
and is presented to Full Council.

My Neighbourhoods

7. Informal My Neighbourhood planning meetings with Members continue to 
develop plans and projects, including greater alignment with My Neighbourhood 
plans and the Corporate Plan and budget process.

8. My Neighbourhood Forum meetings be reviewed by each of the five forums, with 
the option to change them to meeting local circumstances, with 12-month trial 
models explored by the review, such as:

 Where area parished, arrange meetings as part of parish meetings
 Adopt an area committee approach
 Develop a neighbourhood/community development approach
 Community partnerships with councillors and partner organisations
 Hybrid of what works for each area, within existing resources

An evaluation process be developed and agreed with Cabinet so that at the end 
of the trial period, success against that criteria can be measured.

Page 106



11

9. The My Neighbourhood Chairs and Vice-chairs meeting be formalised with a 
forward plan, agenda and minutes.

10.The governance arrangements for spending My Neighbourhood Forum be 
streamlined to include the sign-off by the My Neighbourhood chair and vice-chair.

11.A more corporate approach is taken to supporting My Neighbourhoods and 
making linkages across all council teams to make the most of the opportunities 
available.

12.A grant scheme be developed to help fund local community action projects.

Involving Young People

13.A more co-ordinated approach be taken to strengthen our work with schools with 
an education package put together linked to the national curriculum and 
objectives of the Council, including environmental issues, debate clubs, mock 
council meetings and competitions.

14.A Youth Mayor and Youth Council is established to allow young people to gain a 
great understanding of democracy and play an active part in informing council 
policy, local issues and community action.

15.The Council provides more structured and extensive work experience 
opportunities for students to learn more about the work of the Council and gain 
valuable experience.

Extending Democracy

16.An annual communications campaign encouraging residents to enrol on the 
electoral register and vote in elections is developed.

17.Full Council and other key meetings are webcast to make our meetings more 
accessible to our residents.

18.Cabinet meetings are taken out into the community at least twice per year on a 
pilot basis.

19.A series of annual Question and Answer sessions with the Cabinet and key 
partners takes place through the My Neighbourhood Forum models adopted 
locally.

Page 107



12

20.Our meetings are more welcoming to members of the public with more user-
friendly information and guidance provided, encouragement of questions being 
submitted in advance and officers on hand to brief and support the public prior to 
meetings.

Strengthening the voluntary, community and faith sector

21.A borough-wide equality forum is created to bring together the groups 
representing protected characteristics to help us strengthen our approach to 
equality and diversity and be a sounding board to making our services more 
accessible and eliminate discrimination.

22.A database of voluntary, community and faith sector organisations is developed 
for residents and staff to access as a signpost to what’s available and how they 
could be more involved.

23.A Member Champion is appointed for volunteering. 

Parish and Town Councils

24.A parish/town council charter is developed with the Council outlining roles, 
responsibilities and expectations.

25.The Council designates a parish/town council liaison officer.

26.Where local communities express a wish to form a parish/town council the 
Council will actively support the creation of parish and town councils leading to a 
community governance review.

27.Regular informal meetings will take place between the Cabinet and parish/town 
council representatives.

Page 108



REPORT TO ON

CABINET Wednesday, 22 
January 2020

TITLE PORTFOLIO REPORT OF
IDOX Enterprise and Capability Review 
Project

Cabinet Member 
(Finance, Property 

and Assets)
Director of Customer 

and Digital

Is this report a KEY DECISION (i.e. more than £100,000 or 
impacting on more than 2 Borough wards?)

Is this report on the Statutory Cabinet Forward Plan?

Is the request outside the policy and budgetary framework 
and therefore subject to confirmation at full Council? 

Is this report confidential?

Yes

Yes

No

No

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1. After several years of fairly static investment and as part of the 
implementation of the council’s Digital to Improve Programme we have 
assessed existing and new technology requirements. It is recognised that 
there is a need to upgrade and expand software technologies where 
appropriate. The purpose of the report is to seek approval for the IDOX 
Enterprise and Capability Review Project. The project will provide several 
operational improvements, as well as providing an improved experience for 
residents and businesses who interact with us digitally.

2. The initial investment required is anticipated to be partly offset over time with 
the reduction in required back office administration and channel shift towards 
online methods of interaction.

PORTFOLIO RECOMMENDATIONS

3. Cabinet to approve commencement of the IDOX Enterprise and Capability 
Review Project under the Digital to Improve Programme, and approve the 
scope of the project as outlined in this report and Appendix 1.

4. Cabinet to approve the use of £146k capital, an increase of £3k to the annual 
maintenance and support contract within the ICT revenue budget and 20k 
from the 2019/20 revenue underspends to fund data migration costs.  

Page 109

Agenda Item 10



5. Cabinet agrees to use a framework agreement which would allow a compliant 
direct award.  

6. Cabinet agrees to delegate approval to the Director of Customer and Digital in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder to allow a direct award to the provider. 

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

7. The reason for the decision is to provide the systems and solutions to enable 
service delivery. Improved system capability will also empower staff to work 
dynamically using a broad range of devices.

8. Included within the scope of this project is the introduction of additional 
services to assist in compliance with Data Protection Legislation.

9. The project will also rationalise systems and provide further system alignment 
with Chorley Borough Council which will provide benefits as shared services 
progresses.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

10.As part of the council’s Digital to Improve Programme it is proposed to initiate 
a project to review, and expand on the capabilities offered by IDOX, a system 
used by several services within the council.

11.The project will look to introduce new functions, integrate and consolidate 
other systems into the IDOX suite of modules. Through the implementation of 
this project there will be significant culture change to streamline end to end 
processes and also ensure efficiencies are realised. This will be supported by 
a learning and development programme. 

12.There are one-off indicative capital costs of £146k and additional indicative 
revenue requirements of £3k associated with this report. It is anticipated that 
this will be partly offset by efficiency improvements over time. There will also 
be significant improvements in back office workflow and customer self-service 
experience as a result of this project.

13.The report also confirms the creation of a new post within existing budgetary 
frameworks which will include amongst other duties the delivery of this project 
in line with the agreed scope. Upon project completion and realisation of the 
anticipated benefits the newly created role will act as a system supervisor to 
provide continuous improvement in processes.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

14.The report relates to the following corporate priorities:

Excellence, Investment and Financial 
Sustainability

✔

Page 110



Health and Wellbeing and Safety

Place, Homes and Environment ✔

Projects relating to People in the Corporate Plan:

Our People and Communities

BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

15.After several years of fairly static investment and as part of the 
implementation of the council’s Digital to Improve Programme we have 
assessed existing and new technology requirements. It is recognised that 
there is a need to upgrade and expand technologies where appropriate. 

16. IDOX software applications are currently used by several departments to 
provide back office and front facing client applications. As part of the council’s 
Digital to Improve Programme it is proposed to initiate a project to review, and 
expand on the capabilities offered by IDOX, and further consolidate other 
systems into the IDOX Uniform solution. This will provide benefits both in 
terms of back office efficiencies and benefits to residents.

17.Whilst this project is included within the Digital to Improve Programme as its 
own entity, there are several other projects which will be beneficially impacted 
by the delivery of this project, such as:

 Agile working (Including culture and process improvement)
 Paperless Office
 Security and Compliance 
 System consolidation
 Integration and Automation
 Electronic Document Management
 Self-Service Customer Improvements

18.Through the implementation of this project there will be significant culture 
change to streamline end to end processes and also ensure efficiencies are 
realised. This will be supported through the Learning & Development initiative 
within the Digital to Improve Programme with training capacity available 
through the ICT Training Officer and the proposed IDOX Project Co-Ordinator 
/ System Supervisor.

19.Currently the below IDOX solutions are used within the council:

Uniform
 Planning – including Tree Preservation Orders, Appeals, 

Enforcement, Listed Buildings.

Page 111



 Building Control  – including Dangerous Structures, Competent 
Person Scheme, Demolitions.

 Environmental Health – including Accident Reports, Commercial 
Premises, Service Requests, Housing.

 Estates – including Asset Register, Acquisition and Disposal, 
Valuations.

 Local Land and Property Gazetteer - which uploads to the National 
Land and Property Gazetteer street naming and numbering system.

LALPAC
 Licensing – Private Hire Vehicle Licences, Hackney Carriage. 

Licences, Premises Licences.
TLC

 Land Charges, Constraints

IDOX Elections
 Elections, Canvassing, Electoral Register Management.

PROPOSALS (e.g. RATIONALE, DETAIL, FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT)

20.This project will essentially undertake an IDOX capability review and 
rationalise systems where appropriate, as well as introducing additional 
modules. The IDOX Document Management System will modernise the 
document management process and deliver workplace efficiencies whilst 
offering benefits to the customer. Aligning core systems such as migrating the 
Licensing systems into IDOX will provide benefits to officers and reduce the 
training need.

21.Regulatory services such as Planning, Environmental Health and Licensing 
will benefit from strict process controls and measures, to allow cases to be 
processed and tracked in line with agreed service level agreements, and allow 
key performance indicators to be tracked and reported more accurately.

22. It is proposed to consolidate the Licensing system into Uniform, which will 
allow the utilisation of mobile applications by licensing for inspections and field 
work. Public Access for Licensing will also provide residents, businesses and 
other organisations a more accessible service. 

23. It is also proposed to upgrade the existing Uniform system to include 
additional modules such as those listed below:

 IDOX Document Management System – To provide integrated 
document management and public access to documents.

 IDOX Enterprise – To provide performance management, workflow and 
automation.

 IDOX Data Management Tool – Providing Data Protection and GDPR 
compliance.

Page 112



24.The services using the new modules will also benefit from improved process 
and performance management, and the removal of manual processes will 
reduce risk of error, increase mobile working and improve data protection 
within these services. 

Within Scope
25.As part of the scope of this project each process which utilises the existing or 

proposed system will undertake a process mapping exercise to assist in post 
project benefits realisation as well as assisting in recognising areas to drive 
efficiencies.

26.Several new modules will be introduced including IDOX Enterprise, providing 
back office workflow, IDOX document management providing seamless 
integration with both back office and front facing applications as well as the 
introduction of the IDOX Data Management Tool which will assist in the 
compliance with GDPR and Data Protection legislation.

27.The below provides further details of each of the key milestones and benefits:

Undertake IDOX Health Check
28.The IDOX Health Check would utilise technical support by IDOX to review our 

current use of the system to compare both process and system usage against 
best practice. The Health Check would also include consultation with key 
users and provide a written report detailing findings, recommendations for 
improvement and implementation suggestions. Each core module would 
require 2 technical support days at an indicative cost of £950 per day plus an 
additional 1.5 days project management. In total an indicative figure of £9k 
would be required to review all core modules. The Health Check will also be 
used as an enabler to baseline any pre-requisites required to implement the 
other stages of the project.

29.The benefit of completing this health check prior to commencing the roll out of 
Enterprise is critical in assessing the current position, ensuring that the 
Foundations (i.e. all modules) are suitable before introducing IDOX 
Enterprise.  Any priority remediation work will be undertaken prior to the 
introduction. 

Introduce IDOX Enterprise
30.The introduction of IDOX Enterprise will have associated indicative costs of 

£26k as an initial investment, followed by an indicative annual maintenance of 
£3k per annum. Initial investment costs will include software licences, 
associated services and training.

31.Lincolnshire Building Control saw an efficiency saving of approximately 170 
hours per month on administration. This is now automated as part of the IDOX 
Enterprise function.

Introduce IDOX Document Management System

Page 113



32.During the council’s Public Sector Network (PSN) accreditation process in 
2019, it was highlighted that the current web portal provided by Civica is out of 
date and requires upgrading to provide continued PSN compliance and 
reduce risk to the organisation. To continue using the Civica product capital 
investment in the region of £15k would be required and also additional 
indicative revenue of £1.6k pa.  If a migration to IDOX document management 
system for Planning was implemented there would not be a need to carry out 
the Civica upgrade. The indicative costs associated with IDOX document 
management system are £64k as an initial investment with £4k annual 
revenue costs.

33.Moving to IDOX document management system for Planning would reveal the 
following business benefits:

 Streamlined integration and workflow with IDOX Enterprise and other 
IDOX modules.  

 Simpler authentication and single sign-on, by being reliant on a single 
vendor’s systems, resulting in an improved user experience, reliability 
and efficiency.

 Support from a single vendor end-to-end for Planning resulting in 
improved supportability and efficiency. 

34. It should also be noted that whilst the IDOX document management system 
requires increased revenue when compared to the existing Civica system, the 
proposed solution will deliver document management capabilities to all 
services using IDOX whilst Civica only delivers document management 
capabilities to planning officers.

35.There would also be associated costs of approximately £20k to migrate the 
existing data from Civica to IDOX and this will be funded via the 2019/20 
revenue underspend. 

Consolidate Lalpac into IDOX Licensing

36.The proposal included within this project is to consolidate the existing Lalpac 
Licensing solution into Uniform. This will provide benefits for the licensing 
service by reducing manual back office functions, providing mobile and 
remote inspection and enforcement capabilities, as well as providing a single 
property view (Licensing, Environmental Health, and Planning history in one 
accessible location). There will also be benefits to external stakeholders by 
improving public access and aligning this to the same look and feel as the 
Planning public access portal. 

37.The costs associated with this consolidation require an initial indicative 
investment of £38k plus an indicative annual cost of £16.5k. This would be 
offset by a removal of the annual charge of £16.5k currently provisioned for 
the Lalpac licensing system.

Introduce IDOX Data Management Tool
38.Costs associated with this module will involve an initial indicative investment 

of £9k including training, with a further £1k estimated per annum for support 

Page 114



and maintenance. Whilst no cashable efficiencies are expected to be received 
from this investment, it is required to ensure compliance with GDPR and Data 
Protection.  This will strengthen the Council’s compliance position with a 
positive impact on risk profile levels as data is being actively managed against 
known legislation and data cleansing rules.  

Out of Scope
39.Whilst IDOX Elections and Total Land Charges are both provided by IDOX, 

under the scope of this project there will be no changes or updates to either 
system, this is due to both products sitting outside of the Uniform system and 
there being limited scope for additional functions at this moment in time. 

40.A further project within the Digital to Improve Programme scheduled for 
2021/22, will look to introduce electronic canvassing to support the council’s 
agile and paperless ambitions.

41.Please see Appendix 1 for further details on the scope of this project.

Benefits Realisation Approach
42.As part of the scope of this project current and new processes will be 

mapped. Robust process maps will ensure that IDOX Enterprise can be 
configured to promote the most efficient and direct workflow and will also 
support the post project benefits realisation review.

Cashable Efficiency Savings
43.Two Environmental Health processes have been mapped pre-project which 

show the potential for efficiency savings through the introduction of IDOX 
Enterprise, IDOX document management system, mobile applications, 
training and workflow automation. One process for commercial premises is 
detailed below by way of example. 

Page 115



Current Process Flow

New Process Flow

44.The initial estimated cashable efficiency savings associated with the two 
environmental health processes amounts to approximately £10k. Once the 
new processes have been embedded it will be the responsibility of service 
leads to drive the efficiencies from their services and ultimately realise the 
benefits from the project.

45.The above process mapping exercise demonstrates the potential cashable 
efficiency savings that could be realised. Further work is required in this area 

Page 116



however it is reasonable to assume that similar cashable efficiency savings 
could be realised in a number of other service areas potentially generating a 
further £40k in efficiency savings.   

Other Efficiency Savings
46.The Project Team have spoken to other councils who have implemented 

IDOX Enterprise and document management system. Solihull Council 
implemented both in 2014 which enabled several key benefits, including:

 All Planning and Building Control documents to be fully digitised, 
creating a paperless service

 The reduction in paper and document storage also enabled the service 
to move to smaller premises

 Enterprise is used to streamline the planning application process and 
assign tasks to officers more easily

 Performance can be monitored in real time to provide accurate KPI 
data amongst individuals or groups

47.The North Yorkshire Building Control Partnership chose IDOX Uniform as 
their core back office system following a merger of 5 local authority building 
control services, the merger along with the implementation of IDOX Enterprise 
enabled the below efficiencies:

 55% of applications received electronically
 £7,000 per annum saved on printing and postage
 93% completion certificates issued within 5 working days (up from 

78%)
 Positive environmental impact due to officers no longer needing to visit 

the office to access the IDOX system

Project Management

48. In line with the Digital to Improve Programme the senior responsible officer for 
this project will be the Director of Customer and Digital. Due to the intensive 
project management requirements necessary to deliver this project, a new 
post has been created to act as project manager and provide system 
supervisor duties once the project has been completed and benefits realised. 
The newly created role has been funded from existing budgets in the 
Neighbourhoods and Development and Planning and Property directorates 
and will consolidate the system supervisor responsibility from each service 
area using Uniform into this role. The Environmental Health System 
Supervisor role is vacant and has been replaced by the newly created role. 
Due to the current lack of capacity for IDOX system development, support and 
training, this role is required regardless of whether the IDOX Enterprise and 
Capability Review project is undertaken. 

49.A ‘Train the Trainer’ approach will also be taken to ensure that all officers are 
trained on any new software or function.

Page 117



50.The project will be managed in line with the council’s Project Management 
Framework and all milestones and objectives will be monitored and reported 
on using the InPhase project management system. 

51.Similarly the associated risks will be entered into InPhase following the Risk 
Management Framework adopted by the council.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

52.As the proposals included within this report recommend the upgrade of 
existing software, only the current supplier will be able to deliver the required 
service.

53.A second option considered and rejected was not to undertake the project. 
This would maintain the existing service position and would not progress on 
the ambitions within the Digital to Improve Programme. This option would also 
mean the systems alignment with Chorley Borough Council would not be 
realised. 

54.A third option considered and rejected was to go to market for a full system 
replacement. Considering the cost of change, and associated risks, this option 
was rejected.

55.Another factor in considering alternative options is if we were to retain the 
existing Civica document management system this would require investment 
to both maintain and upgrade the system. See table below.     

 

Initiative Indicative Capital 
Investment

Current 
Revenue 
Investment

Indicative Revenue 
Investment

Civica 
Documents & 
Public 
Document 
Access 

£15,000 (Upgrade 
would be required to 
existing system if 
IDOX route is not 
chosen)

£3,771.41 £1,600.00 (Upgrade would 
be required to existing 
system if IDOX route is 
not chosen)

The above was rejected as an option as the proposed Civica annual revenue 
costs (£5,371) are more than the indicative IDOX solution (£4,380). The IDOX 
solution will also deliver a higher level of service.  

Page 118



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

56.Table 1 below details full indicative costs associated with this project

Initiative Indicative Capital 
Investment

Current 
Revenue 

Investment

Indicative Revenue 
Investment

Civica 
Documents & 
Public 
Document 
Access

£0 £3,771 £0

IDOX DDE 
Civica Link

£0 £1,378 £0

Lalpac £0 £16,543 £0
IDOX Uniform 
existing 
modules

£0 £60,622 £60,622

Health Check £9,025 £0 £0
IDOX 
Document 
Management 
System

£63,850 £0 £4,380

IDOX 
Enterprise

£26,725 £0 £2,800

IDOX 
Licensing

£37,800 £0 £16,543

IDOX Data 
Management

£9,250 £0 £1,000

Total: £146,650 £,82,314 £85,345

57.As can be seen from the above once introduced there will be additional 
indicative revenue requirements of £3,031 which will need to be added to the 
ICT Revenue Budget. The indicative capital requirements of £146,650 could 
be allocated from the 2019/20 ICT capital fund drawing on future year’s ICT 
capital provisions if required. Also in 2017 the City Deal partners capacity 
funding from Homes England aimed at ensuring speedy delivery of new 
housing. Clearly running an efficient planning service enables planning 
applications to be processed more speedily. Discussions are ongoing 
between the City Deal partners about using some of this capacity funding 
towards investing in IDOX to support the Planning Service in South Ribble. If 
the use of these funds is agreed then the capital cost to the council could be 
reduced.

 

Page 119



58. In addition to the above it is expected that there will be costs of 20k to migrate 
data from the existing Civica system to the new IDOX environment. These 
costs will be funded from the 2019/20 revenue underspend. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

59.  As the provisions included within the scope of this project can only be 
supplied by the current supplier IDOX, it is proposed to directly award the 
contract via the crown commercial services framework.

 
AIR QUALITY IMPLICATIONS

60.There are no detrimental air quality implications to consider with this report, 
however the project will provide improvements in terms of agile working which 
should reduce the number of required journeys to and from council offices. 

61.There should also be indirect benefits for air quality by increasing the number 
of paperless processes and reducing the number of hard copy prints used 
within the authority.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT IMPLICATIONS

62.There will be considerable process and culture changes through the 
introduction of IDOX Enterprise which will need to be supported through 
training and support. HR will be involved throughout this project and have 
been assigned a role on the project team to provide advice and support.

63.A new post has been established and a job description is attached at 
Appendix 2. This role is to be funded on a full time, permanent basis from 
existing resources.

64.Chorley have already implemented IDOX Enterprise and IDOX document 
management system and are a user of IDOX Licensing and Public Access for 
Licensing. This project will further align the systems between both councils 
acting as an enabler for any future shared services. It is also proposed that 
any newly negotiated IDOX contract will be over a 12 to 18 month period to 
align South Ribble and Chorley contract dates.

ICT/TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

65.Utilising Public Access for Licensing and IDOX document management 
system will also ensure that residents and businesses are experiencing the 
same systems between the two Councils. 

PROPERTY AND ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

66.Whilst there are no detrimental property and asset management Implications 
to consider as part of this report. Property and Asset Management is included 

Page 120



within the scope of this project to ensure the system meets the requirement of 
the service. Improvements in workflow and efficiency should be realised 
following the implementation of IDOX Enterprise.

RISK MANAGEMENT

67.Risks will be monitored in line with the councils adopted Risk Management 
Framework and entered into the council’s corporate project management 
solution. 

68.Risks will be logged using a 4x4 risk matrix rating likelihood again impact / 
severity:

69.Project risks have been identified with initial estimated risk scores. Measures 
will be implemented to reduce risks where possible and within financial 
capacity. External risks will be mitigated with appropriate measures 
introduced where necessary.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPACT

70.There are no Equality and Diversity Impacts associated with this report.

RELEVANT DIRECTORS RECOMMENDATIONS 

71.This project provides the benefits as detailed within the body of the report. 
The project will further align systems to Chorley Borough Council acting as an 
enabler as we move to create a joint Digital Strategy. There are also benefits 
that will be provided to residents in terms of an improved online experience. 

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

72.The total capital costs of this project are estimated to be £147k. The Capital 
Programme includes an allocation for the ICT costs of the Digital to Improve 
Programme. In 2019/20 there is £107,000 available from the £200,000 total 
budget which can be allocated to this project. Therefore £40,000 will be 
required to be allocated from the 2020/21 ICT capital budget. In addition, 
£20,000 will be set aside from the 2019/20 revenue underspends to fund data 
migration costs. 

Page 121



 
73.Based on experiences in other local authorities, there are potential cashable 

efficiency savings that could be realised. Further work is required in this area 
and therefore no revenue budget savings have been assumed at this stage in 
the medium-term financial strategy. However following implementation of new 
systems and processes, efficiency savings can be delivered and will be 
reflected in future budget forecasts.

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

74.As the provisions included within the scope of this project can only be 
supplied by the current supplier IDOX, it is proposed to directly award the 
contract via the crown commercial services framework. The body of the report 
explains the thinking of why on a practical level it makes overwhelming sense 
to continue with our current supplier.

75.The report also seeks delegated authority to award the contract directly. 
Normally of course the award of a high value contract would be a decision for 
Cabinet. However, in the circumstances of this project it is considered 
sensible to delegate that final decision to the Director and Portfolio holder 
once the details have been finalised.

76.Formal contractual documentation will be entered into of course which will be 
thoroughly checked by the council’s Legal services team prior to completion.

77.Moving forward it is crucial that all affected teams are fully engaged and 
involved in the implementation of the project. We must ensure that all legal 
and regulatory requirements will continue to be fully complied with.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
South Ribble Borough Council Digital Strategy: Digital to Improve

APPENDICES 
1. IDOX Enterprise and Capability Review Project Scope.
2. IDOX Project Co-Ordinator / System Supervisor Job Description.

Report Author: Telephone: Date:
Charles Doherty, Business Systems and 
Engagement Team Leader

01772 
625556

22nd January 2019

Page 122



1 | P a g e

IDOX Enterprise and 
Capability Review
Project Scope

Page 123



2 | P a g e

Document Control

Summary

Project name IDOX Enterprise and Capability Review

Project Name IDOX 

SRO Paul Hussey

Project Manager Angie Johnson

Author Angie Johnson, Charles Doherty

Date 27/09/19

Version Control

Version Date Author Change Description

1.0 27/09/2019 Angie Johnson, 
Charles Doherty

First Draft

2.0 26/10/2019 Charles Doherty Updated to include feedback from the 
Director of Planning and Property and the 
Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Development

3.0 07/11/2019 Charles Doherty Updated following creation of Cabinet 
Report

Page 124



3 | P a g e

Background and context
IDOX software applications are currently used by several departments to provide both back 
office functionality, and front facing client applications. As part of the councils Digital to 
Improve Programme it is proposed to initiate a project to review, and expand on the 
capabilities offered by IDOX, and further consolidate other systems into the IDOX Uniform 
solution. This will provide benefits both in terms of back office efficiencies and benefits to 
residents.

Currently the below IDOX solutions are used within the council:

Uniform
 Planning  – including TPOs, Appeals, Enforcement, Listed Buildings
 Building Control  – including Dangerous Structures, Competent Person Scheme, 

Demolitions
 Environmental Health – including Accident Reports, Commercial Premises, Service 

Requests, Housing
 Estates – including Asset Register, Acquisition and Disposal, Valuations
 Local Land and Property Gazetteer - which uploads to the NLPG National Land 

and Property Gazetteer.  Street naming and numbering

LALPAC
 Licensing – Private Hire Vehicle Licences, Hackney Carriage Licences, Premises 

Licences
TLC
 Land Charges, Constraints

IDOX Elections
 Elections, Canvassing, Electoral Register Management

It is proposed to consolidate the LALPAC Licensing system into Uniform. This will allow the 
utilisation of mobile applications by licensing for inspections and field work. Public Access 
will also provide residents with a more uniform online portfolio for accessing services. 

It is also proposed to upgrade the existing Uniform system to include additional modules 
and functionality as below:

 IDOX Document Management System – To provide integrated document 
management and public access to documents

 IDOX Enterprise – To provide performance management, workflow and automation
 IDOX Data Management Tool – Providing Data Protection and GDPR compliance

Due to the intensive project management requirements necessary to deliver this project, it 
is proposed that a new post is created to act as project manager and system supervisor 
duties once the project has been completed and benefits realised. In line with the Digital 
to Improve Programme the SRO responsibility will fall under the Director of Customer and 
Digital. The newly created role will be funded from the Neighbourhoods and Development 
or Planning and Property directorates and will consolidate the system supervisor 
responsibility from each service area using Uniform into this role. It should be noted that the 

Page 125



3 | P a g e

Environmental Health System Supervisor role is currently vacant and will be replaced by the 
new role if approved.

Whilst this project is included within the Digital to Improve Programme as its own entity. There 
are several other projects which will be beneficially impacted by the delivery of this project 
including:

 Agile working (Including culture and process improvement)
 Paperless Office
 Security and Compliance 
 System consolidation
 Integration and Automation
 Document Management

The services using the new functionality will also benefit from improved process 
management and KPI monitoring, removal of manual processes reducing risk of error, 
increased mobile working and data provision for statutory service work.

Project Scope
As detailed within the Digital to Improve Programme this project will essentially undertake 
an IDOX capability review and rationalise systems where appropriate, as well as introducing 
additional modules and functionality. The IDOX Document Management System will 
modernise the document management process and deliver workplace efficiencies whilst 
offering benefits to the customer. Aligning core systems such as the intention to migrate 
Lalpac into IDOX will provide benefits to officers and reduce the training need by removing 
additional systems.

Regulatory services such as Planning, Environmental Health and Licensing will benefit from 
strict process controls and measures, to allow cases to be processed and tracked in line 
with agreed service level agreements, and allow KPI’s and measures to be tracked and 
reported more accurately.

It is proposed to consolidate the LALPAC Licensing system into Uniform, which will allow the 
utilisation of mobile applications by licensing for inspections and field work. Public Access 
for Licensing will also provide residents with a more uniform online portfolio for accessing 
services. 

It is also proposed to upgrade the existing Uniform system to include additional modules 
and functionality as below:

 IDOX Document Management System – To provide integrated document 
management and public access to documents

 IDOX Enterprise – To provide performance management, workflow and 
automation

 IDOX Data Management Tool – Providing Data Protection and GDPR 
compliance

Page 126



3 | P a g e

The services using the new functionality will also benefit from improved process 
management and KPI monitoring, removal of manual processes reducing risk of error, 
increased mobile working and data provision for statutory service work.

Within Scope
As part of the scope of this project each process which utilises the existing or proposed 
system will undertake a process mapping exercise to assist in post project benefits realisation 
as well as assisting in recognising areas to drive efficiencies.

Several new modules will be introduced including IDOX Enterprise, providing back office 
workflow, IDOX EDRMS providing document management and seamless integration with 
both back office and front facing client applications as well as the introduction of the IDOX 
Data Management Tool which will assist in the compliance with GDPR and Data Protection 
legislation.

The project will also look to consolidate a number of systems in order to simplify the ICT 
environment and ease future automations and integrations.

The below provides further detail of each of the key milestones within scope:

Undertake IDOX Health Check
The IDOX Health Check would utilise technical support by IDOX to review our current use 
of the system to compare both process and system functionality against best practice. 
The Health Check would also include consultation with key users and provide a written 
report detailing findings, recommendations for improvement and implementation 
suggestions. Each core module would require 2 technical support days at £950 per day 
plus an additional 1.5 days project management. In Total £9,025 would be required to 
review all core modules. The Health Check will also be used as an enabler to baseline any 
pre-requisites required to implement the other stages of the project.

The benefit of completing this health check prior to commencing the roll out of Enterprise 
is critical in assessing the current position, ensuring that the Foundations (i.e. all modules) 
are suitable before introducing IDOX Enterprise.  Any priority remediation work should be 
performed relevant to the distinct modules prior to the introduction of IDOX Enterprise.   
Implementing new systems is an opportunity for transformation, and as a result ensuring 
that legacy hang-ups do not impair functionality is critical.

Introduce IDOX Enterprise
The introduction of IDOX Enterprise will have associated costs of £26,725 as an initial 
investment, followed by annual maintenance of £2,800 per annum. Initial investment costs 
will include software licences, associated services and training.

Whilst not baselined it is expected that efficiencies will be delivered in terms of time taken 
to process cases and the reduced need for manual routing of cases, which will be 
determined by the workflow. A benefits realisation study has taken place which has 
revealed the following benefits achieved by other local authorities using IDOX Enterprise 
(as well as other IDOX Uniform modules):

 55% of applications received electronically
 £7,000 per annum saved on printing and postage
 93% completion certificates issued within 5 working days (up from 78%)

Page 127



3 | P a g e

 Positive environmental impact due to officers no longer needing to visit the 
office to access the IDOX system

Lincolnshire Building Control also saw an efficiency saving of approximately 170 hours per 
month on administration which was now automated as part of the IDOX Enterprise 
function.

Introduce IDOX EDRMS
During the councils Public Sector Network (PSN) accreditation process in 2019, it was 
highlighted that the current EDRMS web portal provided by Civica is out of date and 
requires upgrading to provide continued PSN compliance and reduce risk to the 
organisation. To continue using the Civica product or upgrade to a supported version of 
the Civica product, investment in the region of £15,000 would be required.  If a migration 
to IDOX DMS for Planning was opted for there would not be a need to carry out the Civica 
upgrade. The costs associated with IDOX EDRMS are £63,850 as an initial investment with 
£4,380 annually.

Moving to IDOX EDRMS for Planning would reveal the following business benefits:
 Streamlined integration and workflow with IDOX Enterprise and other IDOX 

modules.  
 Simplification of the overall landscape reducing IT management overheads.
 Simpler authentication and single sign-on, by being reliant on a single 

vendor’s systems, resulting in an improved user experience, reliability and 
efficiency.

 Support from a single vendor end-to-end for Planning resulting in improved 
supportability and efficiency. 

It should also be noted that whilst the IDOX DMS require increased revenue when 
compared to the existing Civica DMS solution, the proposed solution will deliver document 
management capabilities to all services using IDOX whilst Civica only delivers document 
management capabilities to planning officers.

There would also be associated costs of approximately £20,000 to migrate the existing 
data from Civica to IDOX.

Consolidate Lalpac into IDOX Licensing

The proposal included within this project is to consolidate the existing Lalpac Licensing 
solution into Uniform. This will provide benefits for the licensing service by reducing manual 
back office functions, providing mobile and remote inspection and enforcement 
capabilities, as well as providing a single property view (Licensing, Environmental Health, 
and Planning history in one accessible location). There will also be benefits to external 
stakeholder by improving public access functionality and aligning this to the same look 
and feel as the Planning public access functionality. 

The costs associated with this consolidation require an initial investment of £37,800 plus an 
annual cost of £16,543. This would be offset by a removal of the annual charge of £16,543 
currently provisioned for the Lalpac licensing system.

Introduce IDOX Data Management Tool

Page 128



3 | P a g e

Costs associated with this module will involve an initial investment of £9,250 including 
training, with a further £1,000 per annum for support and maintenance. Whilst no 
efficiencies are expected to be received from this investment, it is required to ensure 
compliance with GDPR and Data Protection.  This will strengthen the Council’s 
compliance position with a positive impact on risk profile levels as data is being actively 
managed against known data protection legislation and GDPR cleansing rules.  

Out of Scope
Whilst IDOX Elections and Total Land Charges are both provided by IDOX, under the scope 
of this project there will be no changes or updates to either system, this is due to both 
products sitting outside of the Uniform system and there being limited scope for additional 
functionality at this moment in time. 

A further project within D2I scheduled for year three of the programme, will look to introduce 
electronic canvassing to support the councils agile and paperless ambitions.

Project Outcomes and Deliverables

Initiative Key Outcomes
IDOX Health Check  Ensure GDPR and Data Protection 

Compliance
IDOX EDRMS  Compliance with Data Protection 

(GDPR)
 Improved Customer contacts and 

journeys
 Asset Management
 System rationalisation and Single 

Sign On
IDOX Enterprise  Performance Management - 

Improved KPI recording
 Improve ways of working, enable 

officer time to be repurposed
 Simplified Workflow routing and 

automation
IDOX Mobile Applications  Enable remote / Agile working

 Provide inspecting offices with 
necessary data in the field

IDOX Licensing  System consolidation
 Enabler for Public Access for 

Licensing and Mobile Working
 Reduction of the number of logins 

required to users to access online 
portals

IDOX Data Management Tool  Ensure GDPR and Data Protection 
Compliance

IDOX API (Application Programmable 
Interface)

 Provide an interface to interact with 
other council systems including the 
Firmstep CRM and provide 
automation facilities to increase 
efficiency within appropriate 
departments and services

Page 129



3 | P a g e

Project milestones 
The key milestones and completion dates will be:

Milestone Completion date

EDRMS Installation & Configuration December 2019 – 
April 2020 (Rollout 
for all 
departments)

Current System Health Check January 2020
IDOX Data Management Tool Configuration February 2020
Assemble Project Team and backfill posts if applicable March 2020
Process map areas highlighted in Health Check March 2020
Transfer Licensing department to IDOX March – June 

(Including data 
migration)

IDOX Mobile Application Rollout April 2020

IDOX Enterprise

Planning (including Enforcement, Appeals, TPOs) July 2020
Building control (including Dangerous Structures and Reports) September 2020
Asset Management December 2020
Environmental Health January 2021

Dependencies

There are no recognised dependent projects that will impact this work, however this project 
will deliver benefits that have been identified within other projects. For example, the Digital 
to Improve Programme recognises agile working and customer experience as key 
contributors to underpin the success of the programme. IDOX EDRMS and IDOX Public 
Access will consolidate the number of online portals available to residents and improve 
access to key data.  IDOX Mobile applications will also enable agile working for services 
which have historically been restricted due to lack of available technology.

Shared Services Considerations

Whilst this project is being undertaken by South Ribble only, Chorley have already 
implemented IDOX Enterprise and IDOX EDRMS, and are a user of IDOX Licensing and Public 

Access for Licensing. This project will further align the systems between both councils acting 
as an enabler for any future shared services. 

Page 130



3 | P a g e

Utilising Public Access for Licensing and IDOX EDRMS will also ensure that residents and 
businesses are familiar with the same systems between authorities providing benefits as the 
shared CMS project is delivered.

Cost / Benefit Analysis
There are costs associated with this project, however they will be on an invest to improve 
basis, or an invest to save basis. As each of the three project strands below can be 
implemented independently, costs have been separated to allow easier analysis:

IDOX Health Check
The IDOX Health Check would utilise consultancy by IDOX to review our current use of the 
system to compare both process and system functionality against best practice. The 
Health Check would also include consultation with key users and provide a written report 
detailing findings, recommendations for improvement and implementation suggestions. 
Each core module would require 2 consultancy days at £950 per day plus an additional 
1.5 days project management. In Total £9,025 would be required to review all core 
modules. The Health Check will also be used as an enabler to baseline any pre-requisites 
required to implement the other stages of the project.

The benefit of completing this health check prior to commencing the roll out of Enterprise 
is critical in assessing the current position, ensuring that the Foundations (i.e. all modules) 
are good before building the metaphoric “house”.  Any priority remediation work should 
be performed relevant to the distinct modules prior to the introduction of IDOX Enterprise.   
Implementing new systems is an opportunity for transformation, and as a result ensuring 
that legacy hang-ups do not impair functionality is critical.

IDOX Enterprise

The introduction of IDOX Enterprise will have associated costs of £26,725 as an initial 
investment, followed by annual maintenance of £2,800 per annum. Initial investment costs 
will include software licences, associated services and training.

Whilst not baselined it is expected that efficiencies will be delivered in terms of time taken 
to process cases and the reduced need for manual routing of cases, which will be 
determined by the workflow. A benefits realisation study has taken place which has 
revealed the following benefits achieved by other local authorities using IDOX Enterprise 
(as well as other IDOX Uniform modules). The North Yorkshire Building Control 
Partnership chose IDOX Uniform as their core back office system following a 
merger of 5 local authority building control services, the merger along with the 
implementation of IDOX Enterprise enabled the below efficiencies:

 55% of applications received electronically
 £7,000 per annum saved on printing and postage
 93% completion certificates issued within 5 working days (up from 78%)
 Positive environmental impact due to officers no longer needing to visit the 

office to access the IDOX system

Page 131



3 | P a g e

Lincolnshire Building Control also saw an efficiency saving of approximately 170 
hours per month on administration which was now automated as part of the IDOX 
Enterprise function.

IDOX EDRMS

During the councils Public Sector Network (PSN) accreditation process in 2019, it 
was highlighted that the current EDRMS web portal provided by Civica is out of 
date and requires upgrading to provide continued PSN compliance and reduce 
risk to the organisation. To continue using the Civica product or upgrade to a 
supported version of the Civica product, capital investment in the region of 
£15,000 would be required and also additional revenue of £1,600pa.  If a migration 
to IDOX DMS for Planning was opted for there would not be a need to carry out 
the Civica upgrade. The costs associated with IDOX EDRMS are £63,850 as an initial 
investment with £4,380 annually.

Moving to IDOX EDRMS for Planning would reveal the following business benefits:

 Streamlined integration and workflow with IDOX Enterprise and other 
IDOX modules.  

 Simplification of the overall landscape reducing IT management 
overheads.

 Simpler authentication and single sign-on, by being reliant on a single 
vendor’s systems, resulting in an improved user experience, reliability 
and efficiency.

 Support from a single vendor end-to-end for Planning resulting in 
improved supportability and efficiency. 

It should also be noted that whilst the IDOX DMS require increased revenue when 
compared to the existing Civica DMS solution, the proposed solution will deliver 
document management capabilities to all services using IDOX whilst Civica only 
delivers document management capabilities to planning officers.

There would also be associated costs of approximately £20,000 to migrate the 
existing data from Civica to IDOX.

IDOX Licensing

The proposal included within this project is to consolidate the existing Lalpac 
Licensing solution into Uniform. This will provide benefits for the licensing service by 
reducing manual back office functions, providing mobile and remote inspection 
and enforcement capabilities, as well as providing a single property view 
(Licensing, Environmental Health, and Planning history in one accessible location). 
There will also be benefits to external stakeholder by improving public access 
functionality and aligning this to the same look and feel as the Planning public 
access functionality. 

Page 132



3 | P a g e

The costs associated with this consolidation require an initial investment of £37,800 
plus an annual cost of £16,543. This would be offset by a removal of the annual 
charge of £16,543 currently provisioned for the Lalpac licensing system.

IDOX Data Management Tool

Costs associated with this module will involve an initial investment of £9,250 including 
training with a further £1,000 per annum for support and maintenance. Whilst no 
efficiencies are expected to be received from this investment, it is required to ensure 
compliance with GDPR and Data Protection.  This will strengthen the Council’s 
compliance position with a positive impact on risk profile levels as data is being actively 
managed against known data protection legislation and GDPR cleansing rules.  Costs 
involved in GDPR data breaches are extremely high and also have an adverse 
reputational impact, so investing in tools to strengthen the position is a worthwhile 
endeavour. 

Project Costs
There are costs associated with this project, however they will be on an invest to improve 
basis, or an invest to save basis. Please see table 1 below which details full indicative costs 
associated with this project. It is proposed that the existing annual maintenance for the 
current IDOX Uniform system of £62,000 is re-negotiated as additional modules are 
introduced:

In considering alternative options is if we were to retain the existing Civica EDRMS 
this would require investment to both maintain and upgrade the Civica system. See 
table below. This option was therefore rejected as it would not be cost effective and 
would not deliver the benefits as cited in the project scope.     

Initiative Capital Investment Current 
Revenue 
Investment

Proposed Revenue 
Investment

Civica 
Documents & 
Public 
Document 
Access 

£15,000 (Upgrade 
would be required to 
existing system if 
IDOX route is not 
chosen)

£3,771.41 £1,600.00 (Upgrade would 
be required to existing 
system if IDOX route is not 
chosen)

The table below details full indicative costs associated with this project.

Initiative Capital Investment Current Revenue 
Investment

Proposed Revenue 
Investment

Civica 
Documents & 
Public 
Document 
Access

£0 £3,771.41 £0

Page 133



3 | P a g e

IDOX DDE 
Civica Link

£0 £1,377.85 £0

Lalpac £0 £16,543.00 £0
IDOX Uniform 
existing 
modules

£0 £60,622.15 £60,622.15

Health Check £9,025.00 £0 £0
IDOX 
Document 
Management 
System

£63,850.00 £0 £4,380.00

IDOX 
Enterprise

£26,725.00 £0 £2,800.00

IDOX 
Licensing

£37,800.00 £0 £16,543.00

IDOX Data 
Management

£9,025.00 £0 £1,000

Total: £146,425.0 £,82,314.41 £85,345.15

As can be seen from the above once introduced there will be additional revenue 
requirements of £3,030.74 which will need to be added to the ICT Revenue Budget. 
The capital requirements of £146,425.00 could be allocated from the ICT capital 
fund drawing on future year’s provisions if required. In addition to the above it is 
expected that there will be costs to migrate data from the existing Civica EDRMS 
system to the new IDOX environment.

Benefits Realisation
As part of the scope of this project existing and ideal circumstance processes will 
be mapped for several reasons. Robust process maps will ensure that IDOX 
Enterprise can be configured to promote the most efficient and direct workflow, 
and will also support the post project benefits realisation review.
Two Environmental Health processes have been mapped pre-project which show 
the potential for efficiency savings through the introduction of IDOX Enterprise, 
IDOX EDMS, mobile applications, training and workflow automation. An example 
for commercial premises is shown below. A full suite of pre and post project 
process maps will be created as part of the scope of this project:

Page 134



3 | P a g e

Current Process Flow

New Process Flow

The initial estimated cashable efficiencies associated with the two environmental 
health processes amounts to approximately £10K. Once the new processes have 

Page 135



3 | P a g e

been embedded it will be the responsibility of service leads to drive the 
efficiencies from their services and ultimately realise the benefits from the project.
The above process mapping exercise demonstrates the potential cashable 
efficiency savings that could be realised. Further work is required in this area 
however it is reasonable to assume that similar cashable efficiency savings could 
be realised in a number of other service areas potentially generating a further £40k 
in efficiency savings.
The North Yorkshire Building Control Partnership chose IDOX Uniform as their core 
back office system following a merger of 5 local authority building control services, 
the merger along with the implementation of IDOX Enterprise enabled the below 
efficiencies:

 55% of applications received electronically
 £7,000 per annum saved on printing and postage
 93% completion certificates issued within 5 working days (up from 78%)
 Positive environmental impact due to officers no longer needing to 

visit the office to access the IDOX system

The Project Team have spoken to other councils who have implemented IDOX 
Enterprise and DMS. Solihull Council implemented Enterprise and DMS in 2014 
which enabled several key benefits, including:

 All Planning and Building Control documents to be fully digitised, 
creating a paperless service

 The reduction in paper and document storage also enabled the 
service to move to a smaller premises

 Enterprise is used to streamline the planning application process and 
assign tasks to officers more easily

 Performance can be monitored in real time to provide accurate KPI 
data amongst individuals or groups

Lincolnshire Building Control also saw an efficiency saving of approximately 170 
hours per month on administration which was now automated as part of the IDOX 
Enterprise function.

Shared Services Considerations
Whilst this project is being undertaken by South Ribble only, Chorley have already 
implemented IDOX Enterprise and IDOX EDRMS, and are a user of IDOX Licensing and Public 
Access for Licensing. This project will further align the systems between both councils acting 
as an enabler for any future shared services. It is also proposed that any newly negotiated 
IDOX contract will be over an 18 month to 2 year period to align South Ribble and Chorley 
contract dates.

Page 136



3 | P a g e

Utilising Public Access for Licensing and IDOX EDRMS will also ensure that residents and 
businesses are familiar with the same systems between authorities providing benefits as the 
shared CMS project is delivered.

Human Resources
There will be considerable process and culture changes through the introduction of IDOX 
Enterprise which will need to be supported through training and support. HR will be involved 
throughout this project and have been assigned a role on the project team to provide 
advice and support.

A new post has been proposed in line with the job description and person specification. HR 
will be required to undertake a job evaluation process and facilitate the creation of this 
post. It is proposed that this role is funded on a full time, permanent basis funded from 
existing resources and advertised internally to reuce the time taken to fill this role..

Whilst this project is being undertaken by South Ribble only, Chorley have already 
implemented IDOX Enterprise and IDOX EDRMS, and are a user of IDOX Licensing and Public 
Access for Licensing. This project will further align the systems between both councils acting 
as an enabler for any future shared services. It is also proposed that any newly negotiated 
IDOX contract will be over an 18 month to 2 year period to align South Ribble and Chorley 
contract dates.

Legal and Procurement
As the provisions included within the scope of this project can only be supplied by IDOX, 
and the associated costs fall under the EU threshold of £181,302 one procurement route 
would be to use a framework agreement which would allow a compliant direct award 
process. Alternatively a waiver of CPR rules would need to be obtained. As the value is over 
£100k the decision would need to go before Cabinet for approval. 

In the circumstances that the contract value were to fall above the EU threshold, a 
negotiated procedure without prior publication would need to be considered. Legal would 
need to be comfortable with this approach and specific requirements as laid down in the 
regulations would need to be followed. If relying on this procurement route a VEAT notice 
may be published in OJEU to resist challenge on grounds of ineffectiveness under the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 Reg 99 (3).

Risks
Risks will be monitored in line with the councils adopted Risk Management Framework and 
entered into InPhase. 

Risks will be logged using a 4x4 risk matrix rating likelihood again impact / severity:

Page 137



3 | P a g e

Project risks have been identified as below with initial estimated risk scores. Measures will 
be implemented to reduce risks where possible and within financial capacity. External risks 
will be mitigated with appropriate measures where possible:

Risk Description Likelihood Severity Risk Score Mitigation Measures

Project cannot 
be delivered 
within budget

1 4 4
Each project will be fully 
scoped before 
implementation ensuring 
that associated costs are 
highlighted and all 
stakeholders are aware. 
Where costs are likely to 
exceed budget this will be 
reported to the Digital to 
Improve Project board for 
decision making.

Project fails to 
deliver on key 
objectives

2 3 6
Key objectives have been 
defined ensuring that all 
project team members are 
aware of the required 
outcomes. A 
Communications 
Management Approach will 
be developed to ensure 
there are clear reporting 
lines to highlight any areas of 
potential failure early on in 
the process. Upon 
authorisation to initiate the 
project the project team will 
work with IDOX to review the 
scope and timelines in line 
with best practice and 
lessons learned.

2 2 4

Page 138



3 | P a g e

Project cannot 
be delivered 
within 
estimated 
timeframe

The scope of the project has 
been clearly defined 
therefore reducing the risk of 
scope creep and delays to 
implementation. Key 
performance measures will 
be continually monitored 
with extra resources assigned 
where there is evidence of 
delays.

Project loses 
support of 
Leadership 
Team or 
Politicians

1 4 4
Regular updates will be 
provided to the Digital to 
Improve Project board with 
updates then taken to 
Corporate Planning Project 
Board. This should ensure 
that scope is always aligned 
to the Corporate Plan 
therefore maintaining 
support and political will. 

Confusion 
regarding 
responsibilities 
and 
accountabilities

2 1 2 Key roles and responsibilities 
are and will be further 
defined within the scope so 
all members of the project 
team are aware of their key 
roles and responsibilities

Loss of SRO 1 3 3 The project is well defined 
which is hoped to ease the 
transition to a new SRO

Loss of Project 
Manager

1 3 3 The project is well defined 
which is hoped to ease the 
transition to a new Project 
Manager

Project scope 
creep

3 2 6 The project is well defined 
and it is hoped that whilst 
there may be slight changes 
to deliverables, there are no 
wholesale changes from the 
defined scope. A planned 
review will take place 
following the Health Check 
milestone to revise the 
project scope and introduce 
any applicable changes.

Page 139



3 | P a g e

Low motivation 
within project 
team

3 2 6 As roles and responsibilities 
are clearly defined, it is 
hoped that motivation is 
maintained, although issues 
can be dealt with as they 
arise.

Health check 
unearths major 
challenges 
requiring further 
investment 
(time or 
financial) to 
resolve.

3 3 Build in contingency funding 
and time for in the event 
that additional resources are 
required to rectify.

Performance Management
Performance Management will be monitored, reviewed and improved, in line with the 
Digital to Improve Performance Framework, which was approved alongside the Digital to 
Improve Programme. 

Progress will be reported to the Digital to Improve Programme Board who will also advise, 
and make any major decisions during implementation and planning. Progress will then be 
reported to the Corporate Planning Programme Board. 

InPhase will be accessible to the SRO and Project Manager roles, as well as Project 
Support. This will allow for live progress reporting and provide commentary and updates 
on key milestones.

Proposed Key performance indicators have been identified, and whilst subject to change, 
will be used to evaluate the success of each individual project within the programme:

Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI)

Determine 
Via

Baseline Polarity Target

IDOX 
Enterprise

 % of applications 
processed in 8 or 
13 weeks.

 Number and 
Type of 
applications per 
officer

 Number of KPIs 
available in real 
time

 Number of 
automated 
workflows

IDOX 
Enterprise 
Dashboard
IDOX 
Enterprise 
Dashboard

IDOX 
Enterprise 
Dashboard
IDOX 
Enterprise 
Dashboard

TBC Higher is 
Better

Higher is 
Better

Higher is 
Better

Higher is 
Better

TBC

Page 140



3 | P a g e

 Number of 
Appeals

 Number of 
Appeals Allowed

IDOX 
Enterprise 
Dashboard
IDOX 
Enterprise 
Dashboard

Lower is 
Better
Lower is 
Better

IDOX EDRMS  Number of 
paperless 
processes

 Number of Public 
Access for 
Planning self 
service requests

Process Maps

Public Access 
for Planning / 
Google 
Analytics

TBC Higher is 
Better

Higher is 
Better

TBC

IDOX 
Licensing

 Number of self 
service requests 
via Public Access 
for Licensing

 Time taken to 
process 
Licensing 
application

Public Access 
for Licensing / 
Google 
Analytics
IDOX 
Enterprise 
Dashboard

TBC Higher is 
Better

Lower is 
Better

TBC

IDOX Mobile 
Applications

 Number of 
inspections / site 
visits undertaken

 Number of agile 
working enabled 
officers

IDOX 
Enterprise 
Dashboard
ICT Inventory 
& Mobile 
Device 
Management

TBC Higher is 
Better

Higher is 
Better

TBC

Stakeholders and Communications Management
The below high level stakeholder groups have been identified, the Project Team will 
commit to working with these stakeholder groups and provide regular updates as the 
project progresses:

 Colleagues – Involving them in process mapping, training them and ensuring they 
get the best out of the computer system

 Members / Residents – Provide consistency in the way Planning and Licensing data 
is accessed and consolidate the number of logins required to access data online

 Partners / Suppliers – The Project Team will work with suppliers to implement the 
project.

Page 141



3 | P a g e

Project Governance, Project Team and communications 
management
Initially, the below roles have been assigned prospective officers which are subject to 
change and approval:

SRO: Paul Hussey

Project/Project Lead: IDOX Project Co-Ordinator / System Supervisor

Technical Lead: Charlie Doherty, Sarah Masterson

Suggested Project Members: Sarah Kitchener, Lianne Mason, Sarah Masterson, Shannon 
Hill, Jade Dilworth, Stephanie Fairbrother, Kim Lamper, Steven Smith, Angie Johnson, Kevin 
Conway, Gail Collins

In line with the Digital to Improve Programme the SRO responsibility will fall under the Director 
of Customer and Digital. Due to the intensive project management requirements necessary 
to deliver this project, it is proposed that a new post is created to act as project manager 
and provide system supervisor duties once the project has been completed and benefits 
realised. The newly created role will be funded from the Neighbourhoods and Development 
and/or Planning and Property directorates and will consolidate the system supervisor 
responsibility from each service area using Uniform into this role. It should be noted that the 
Environmental Health System Supervisor role is currently vacant and will be replaced by the 
newly created role. Due to the current lack of capacity for IDOX system development, 
support and training, this role is required regardless of whether the IDOX Enterprise and 
Capability Review is undertaken. 

The new post which has been proposed will include amongst other duties the delivery of 
this project in line with the agreed scope. Upon project completion and realisation of the 
anticipated benefits the newly created role will act as a system supervisor to provide 
continuous improvement in processes. A draft job description has been developed for this 
role and will be funded from within the Neighbourhoods and Development or Planning 
and Property directorates from existing budgets. Upon approval of the creation of this post 
HR will be requested to undertake an evaluation of the proposed job description and 
person specification to dictate the required grade for this role. 

A ‘Train the Trainer’ approach will be taken to ensure that all officers are trained on any 
new software or functionality regardless of whether they are available for initial training.

The project will be managed in line with the councils Project Management Framework 
and all milestones and objectives will be monitored and reported on using the InPhase 
project management system. A series of exception criteria will be developed with the SRO 
in terms of time and costs to aid in the reporting process. Monthly highlight reports will also 
be provided to the SRO with progress regularly reported at Programme Board. 

Similarly the associated risks will be entered into InPhase following the Risk Management 
Framework adopted by the council.

Page 142



SOUTH RIBBLE BOROUGH COUNCIL

JOB DESCRIPTION – IDOX PROJECT CO-ORDINATOR/SYSTEM SUPERVISOR

SERVICE GROUP  Planning and Property

UNIT  - Planning

GRADE  - 6

ACCOUNTABLE TO  - Director of Planning and Property

PURPOSE OF THE JOB  - To develop and implement changes to the IDOX computer system across 
all directorates.  To coordinate a project team to ensure project milestones are met.  To provide 
Technical support to users of IDOX, analysis and presentation of management reports. To support 
the organisations Digital to improve programme and in particular projects associated with agile 
working and paper less/light.

LIAISON WITH:  - Colleagues in all departments using IDOX, I.T. department, Senior Officers, 
Officers, Members, outside bodies and other local authorities.

DUTIES

1. Project Management, implementation and maintenance of IDOX system. 

2. Process mapping of services, analysing, improving and implementing new working 
procedures and setting up relevant IDOX module to improve services.

3. Collation of statistics for Government returns.

4. Analysis and presentation of management reports.

5. Training of staff (in various areas) on new systems and ways of using the system.

6. Setting up and working with project team members for implementation of new systems.  
Ensure smooth running of systems after training and continuous improvement.

7. Safe keeping of data including Planning Register, Enforcement Register, Environmental 
Health register, ensuring records are maintained and consistent making quality control 
checks and rectify if appropriate.

8. Attend internal and external working groups and undertake training as and when required.

9. Ensure website content is updated.

10. To positively demonstrate and promote the council’s values and priorities and the service it 
provides.

11. To action any other duties commensurate with the grading of the post.

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO ON

CABINET 22nd January 2020

TITLE PORTFOLIO REPORT OF

Vehicle Procurement Programme 2020 / 21
Cabinet Member for 
Finance, Property 

and Assets

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 

Development

Is this report a KEY DECISION (i.e. more than £100,000 or 
impacting on more than 2 Borough wards?)

Is this report on the Statutory Cabinet Forward Plan?

Is the request outside the policy and budgetary framework and 
therefore subject to confirmation at full Council? 

Is this report confidential?

Yes

Yes   

No

No

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1. The purpose of the report is to gain Cabinet approval to spend the proposed capital 
budget of up to £1,247,000 on the vehicle and plant replacement programme and for 
Cabinet to agree the procurement evaluation.

PORTFOLIO RECOMMENDATIONS

2. That Cabinet approve the capital spend budget of up to £1,247,000 on the vehicle and 
plant replacement programme.

3. That Cabinet approve the evaluation criteria. 

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

4. To enable the continued delivery of services to residents of the borough through the 
provision of efficient and suitable vehicles.

CORPORATE OUTCOMES

5. The report relates to the following corporate priorities: (tick all those applicable):

Excellence, Investment and Financial X

Page 145

Agenda Item 11



Sustainability

Health, Wellbeing and Safety X

Place, Homes and Environment X

Projects relating to People in the Corporate Plan:

Our People and Communities x

Page 146



BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

6. The Council’s approved vehicle and plant replacement programme for 2020 / 21 
includes for the replacement of 20 vehicles and items of plant which consists of the 
following;

Five refuse collection vehicles.

Two tipper bodied vehicles for grounds maintenance operations.

Three small light goods vehicles for neighbourhoods and caretaking 

operations.

Two tractors for grounds maintenance operations.

One ride on mower for grounds maintenance operations.

One tracked chipper for arboricultural operations.

One tractor mounted mower for grounds maintenance operations

Four pedestrian mowers for grounds maintenance operations.

One steam cleaner for vehicle maintenance operations.

The Council has expressed a commitment going forward to develop the greenest possible 
fleet thus reducing the amount of pollutants produced by the vehicles and plant and will 
give priority to the purchase of full electric or hybrid vehicles.

At present the majority of the vehicles and plant being replaced are not readily available in 
either hybrid or electric versions - as and when the market develops further these will be 
considered.

However, it is now intended to replace two of the three small goods vehicles with full 
electric vehicles - the purpose the third vehicle is currently used for making it currently 
unsuitable for replacement with a full electric vehicle at present.

All other replacement vehicles and plant will be equipped with as a minimum Euro 6 
compliant or hybrid power units which will result in greater fuel efficiency and greatly reduce 
the amount of pollutants produced.  

PROPOSALS (e.g. RATIONALE, DETAIL, FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT)

7. It is intended to procure the replacement vehicles and plant through a variety of 
approved methods, to include the use of the following;

A Purchasing Organisation Framework Agreement utilising the ESPO (Eastern 
Shires Purchasing Organisation) 215 framework, this process would be used to 
procure the refuse vehicles.

Open tenders via The Chest will be utilised for the purchase of the two tipper 
vehicles, two tractors, four pedestrian mowers, one ride on mower and the tracked 
chipper.

The three light goods vehicles will be purchased through direct purchase via The 
Crown Commercial Service Fleet Portal.

And due to the value of the remaining equipment this will be purchased by obtaining 
three quotes from suitable suppliers.

Page 147



A purchasing organisation framework is a professionally procured public sector agreement 
which complies with EU Legislation. This opens up a mini competition within suppliers 
included within the ESPO Framework 215 as opposed to a full EU procurement process. The 
Council’s Standing Orders and Contract Procurement Rules include for the use of these 
agreements. Tenders will be invited by companies identified within the framework and these 
will be evaluated on 80% costs, 20% quality basis, which is broken down into the following 
weightings.

Cost 80% 80% Purchase Price
Quality 20% 7% Warranty Arrangements

4% Delivery Time / Late Delivery Support
4% Breakdown and Technical Support
5% Environmental Impact

The Crown Commercial Services Fleet Portal allows for the Council to access vehicles and 
services whose suppliers have already been through a vigorous procurement process, 
allowing the Council to purchase vehicles and services in a timely and efficient manner at a 
pre-determined price.

CONSULTATION CARRIED OUT AND OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION

8. Extensive consultation has been carried out with staff directly involved in the future use 
of the vehicles and equipment and with our waste partner FCC in relation to the 
replacement of refuse vehicles. This consultation has formulated the proposals in 
relation to the type of vehicles to be procured.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

9. As part of the development of these proposals the following options were considered.

Purchase of replacement vehicles from within the borough – the Council has 
expressed the desire to whenever possible procure goods and services from companies 
based within the borough, this is not possible on this occasion due to the specialist nature 
of the equipment and a lack of suitable suppliers and manufacturers within the borough.

Retention of existing vehicles – consideration was given to the retention of the existing 
vehicles and equipment; however, the likelihood is that these vehicles would over time 
become unreliable leading to a deterioration in the delivery of services. Retention of 
vehicles would also remove the opportunity to reduce the current levels of particulates 
released into the atmosphere and reduce air pollution within the borough.

Lease Vehicles – consideration was given to contract hire and an exercise carried out to establish 
the whole life costs of existing vehicles, in the case of refuse collection vehicles the average cost of 
leasing compared to outright purchase and in-house maintenance demonstrated an increase in 
costs of 30% per year based on a seven-year period.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10. The proposed capital programme for 2020/21 includes a total budget provision of 
£2,439,000 for the replacement of vehicles and plant. This overall budget includes 
£1,192,000 for vehicles which have been ordered in the current financial year but will 
not be delivered until the new financial year. 

Page 148



11. Authority is sought to purchase the 20 replacement vehicles/plant detailed in the body 
of the report from the remaining budget of £1,247,000. These will be purchased early in 
the new financial year following an approved procurement process.   

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

12. Legal Services in consultation with our colleagues in Procurement shall ensure that our 
own Contract Procurement Rules (CPRs) and EU rules are fully complied with at all 
times. The use of framework agreements is permitted by our CPRs.

Paragraph 17.5 of CPRs states “For each contract above £100,000, the Authorised    
Officer shall form an Evaluation Team with responsibility for evaluating tenders.
The Authorised Officer shall keep a comprehensive written record of the evaluation 
exercise including the scores and comments and justifications for these scores, and the 
lead officer of the evaluation team shall sign the final written selection record”.

Ultimately formal contracts will be entered onto which protect the Council’s interests.

AIR QUALITY IMPLICATIONS

13. Air quality impacts will form part of the tender process and ultimately the replacement 
vehicles will have a lower impact on air pollution when compared to the levels produced 
by the current vehicles. The move towards an electric fleet is welcomed and is a start 
towards the Council’s commitment to improve air quality, move towards an electric fleet 
and meet its commitment of zero carbon by 2030.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT IMPLICATIONS

14. None.

ICT/TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

15. None.

PROPERTY AND ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

16. None.

RISK MANAGEMENT

17. Should vehicles and plant not be replaced the current vehicles and plant will become 
unreliable and uneconomical to maintain, this would have an impact on the services 
delivery.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPACT

18. None.

RELEVANT DIRECTORS RECOMMENDATIONS 

Page 149



19. That Cabinet approve the expenditure of the proposed capital budget of £1,247,000 for 
the purchase of replacement vehicles and plant and agree the procurement evaluation 
criteria.

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

20. The capital and running costs of these vehicles and plant are included in the Council’s 
2020/21 budget and MTFS forecasts. Funding options have been considered and 
outright purchase, financed from existing resources, is the most cost-effective option.

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

21.  Please see the Legal Implications section above. Contract Procedure Rules shall be 
complied with throughout. The use of Framework agreements is expressly permitted. 
The award of any high value contracts (in excess of £100,000 in value) will be brought 
back to Cabinet for decision. Formal contract documentation will be drawn up.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

There are no background documents to this report.

There are no appendices to this report

LT Member’s Name: Jennifer Mullin
Job Title Director of Neighbourhoods and Development

Report Author: Telephone: Date:
Andrew Richardson Assistant Director of 
Neighbourhoods

01772 
625674

Page 150



REPORT TO ON

CABINET Wednesday, 22 
January 2020

TITLE PORTFOLIO REPORT OF

Climate Emergency Working Group Update Cllr Sue Jones
Environment

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 

Development

Is this report a KEY DECISION (i.e. more than £100,000 or 
impacting on more than 2 Borough wards?)

Is this report on the Statutory Cabinet Forward Plan?

Is the request outside the policy and budgetary framework and 
therefore subject to confirmation at full Council? 
This should only be in exceptional circumstances.

Is this report confidential?
If Yes, insert details of the relevant exclusion paragraph(s).  
These are listed in the Constitution Part 4, page 25 (Access to 
Information Procedure Rules)

Y

Yes   

No

No

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1. To update Cabinet on progress of the Climate Change Emergency Working 
Group; the reasons why the working group was formed, the scope of the review 
and the indicative first priorities for the group.

PORTFOLIO RECOMMENDATIONS

2. Cabinet to receive this report for information and express any feedback or 
suggestions that can help shape/inform the ongoing process.

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

3. In July 2019 Full Council passed a motion which declared a Climate Emergency 
with the overarching goal of “rendering the borough carbon neutral by the year 
2030”. This goal means the borough shall produce no net carbon emissions by 
this date, taking account of actions that have the effect of removing carbon from 
the environment. Following this declaration a cross party working group was 
established and asked to report back to Council detailing the proposed scope of 
the review and actions.

Page 151

Agenda Item 13



CORPORATE OUTCOMES

4. The report relates to the following corporate priorities: (tick all those applicable):

Excellence, Investment and Financial 
Sustainability

Health, Wellbeing and Safety X

Place, Homes and Environment X

Projects relating to People in the Corporate Plan:

Our People and Communities X

BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

5. In 2018, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) published a 
report which advised that we must limit global warming to 1.5°C, as opposed to 
the previous target of 2°C. Their review of over 6,000 sources of evidence found 
that, with a rise of 1.5°C, there would be risks to health, livelihoods, food security, 
water supply, human security and economic growth. It warned that we have only 
12 years left within which to take the serious action required to avert this crisis 
and avoid the worst impacts.

6. Please note that this document refers to emissions of “carbon” or “carbon 
dioxide”. This should be considered shorthand for all greenhouse gas emissions, 
not just carbon dioxide.

7. The UK Climate Change Act 2008 sets a statutory target to reduce UK 
greenhouse gas emissions by 80% from 1990 levels by 2050. In May 2019 the 
UK Committee on Climate Change recommended that the UK Government 
increase the statutory target to Net-Zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. The 
Government has now adopted this target.

8. In parallel, the UK Climate Change Act established the National Adaptation 
Programme. The corresponding UK Climate Change Risk Assessment identifies 
6 priority risk areas: flooding, high temperatures, water supply shortages, natural 
capital, food production; and pest and diseases.

9. In July 2019 this Council declared that the effect of climate change within the 
borough poses an immediate danger to the health and well-being of our residents 
and therefore proclaimed a Climate Emergency with immediate effect.

10. To combat this threat, the borough sets a goal of rendering the borough carbon 
neutral by the year 2030. For avoidance of doubt, this goal means the borough 
shall produce no net carbon emissions by this date, taking into account of actions 
that have the effect of removing carbon from the environment.

Page 152



11. In order to implement this decision, a Standing Working Group on the Climate 
Emergency was created. This group is made up of the following:

 Air Quality Lead (Cllr K Jones In the Chair);
 Cabinet Member responsible for the Environment;
 Chairs of each Neighbourhood Forum;
 Representatives of each political group represented on the council (2 Labour 

Members (including Air Quality Lead), 1 Liberal Democrat Member, 2 
Conservative Members) (Cllr S Thurlbourn vice-chair)

 Such other Members, including co-opted members, as the working group 
shall consider appropriate.

 Officer support.

12. It was agreed by Council that the Standing Working Group on the Climate 
Emergency shall:

 Incorporate the Council’s existing Air Quality Action Plan into its wider plans;
 Devise and propose further measures in pursuit of its goals;
 Monitor progress towards its goals;
 Report back to full Council at least four times per year on its progress in 

achieving its goals.

PROPOSALS (e.g. RATIONALE, DETAIL, FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT)

13. The first two meetings have been held of the Climate Emergency Working Group 
on the 28th October and the 5th December with the first order of business defining 
the scope of the group.

14. Firstly, it was considered important to define in the group what was meant by the 
term “carbon neutral”. It was agreed to mean no net carbon emissions beyond 
the 1990 levels as measured in accordance with a formula to be agreed by the 
Working group. 

15. The group agreed that we will need to reduce emissions close to zero without 
offsetting. This will dictate the approach adopted in the future and the levels of 
investment required for the different solutions. Currently the Council’s approach is 
not to offset but to reduce consumption through for example LED lighting and 
generation from Photo Voltaic panels. This approach may have to be 
reconsidered to achieve the ambitious targets in the report.
 

16. What was clear to the group was that achieving “carbon neutral” targets by 2030 
will be reliant on external factors outside the direct control of the Council, 
including the pace of technological developments and national policy changes 
and a key emphasis of any such target will be the lobbying for national and 
international changes.

17.  It was agreed to use the Green House Gas (GHG) protocol as a framework for 
the group’s scope. This is designed to provide a framework for businesses, 
governments, and other entities to measure and report their greenhouse gas 
emissions in ways that support their missions and goals. It provides the 

Page 153



accounting platform for virtually every corporate GHG reporting program in the 
world.

18. To help describe direct and indirect emission sources, improve transparency, and 
provide definitions for different types of climate policies and business goals, three 
“scopes” (scope 1, scope 2, and scope 3) are defined for GHG accounting 
purposes by the protocol. 

 Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions which occur from sources that are owned or 
controlled in the borough, for example, emissions from combustion in owned 
or controlled boilers, furnaces, vehicles, etc. 

 Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions from the generation of purchased 
electricity, heat, steam or other fuels consumed by the borough. 

 Scope 3: All emissions are a consequence of the activities of the borough but 
occur from sources not owned or controlled by the borough. Some examples 
of scope 3 activities include holiday flights and products made internationally 
and shipped.

19. The group agreed to include those elements contained within the Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol defined as Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions. Direct emissions shall 
be taken as including fuel (energy), vehicles, farming, quarrying, waste produced 
and deposited within the borough from Domestic, Commercial, Industrial, 
Educational, Farming and leisure activities. It does not include those emissions 
generated by vehicles travelling through the borough, i.e. on motorways or by 
railway.

20. The Climate Emergency Working Group is planning activities in four key areas-

 To cut the Council’s direct carbon emissions to net zero carbon by 2030.

 To use the Council’s direct areas of wider influence. These are areas where 
the Council can have a significant impact on reducing wider carbon emissions 
and mitigating climate in the District- Housing, planning / building control, tree 
planting.

 To become a climate change leader for the borough. The Council does not 
have any direct control over significant causes of emissions e.g. transport, 
agriculture, industry and housing. However, we can adopt a leadership role 
and engage with, influence, support mitigation of climate change across the 
whole District.

 To investigate, promote and as required implement measures to help mitigate 
against the impacts of climate change (e.g. heatwaves, cold spells, drought, 
pests).

21. The Working group meeting of the 5th December discussed some indicative 
actions as detailed in the table below which will be drawn into a Climate Change 
Strategy for the Council and will be submitted to Cabinet in June 2020 for 
approval.

Page 154



Indicative Actions Arising – priorities for the strategy
1. Devise a data collection/monitoring process for comparing 1990 and current carbon 
emission levels (to include current carbon sinks e.g. trees) 

2. The Council will sign and accept the grant offer from One Carbon World. One Carbon 
world are partnered with the UN Climate Neutral Now Initiative. One Carbon World will then 
assist the Council in measuring our carbon footprint, potential carbon reductions and provide 
300 tonnes of carbon credits.

3. Work with partners across the district, county and region to help deliver this new goal 
through all relevant strategies, plans and shared resources.

4. Lobby Government on issues that the Council do not have any direct control over to 
reduce carbon emissions e.g. transport, agriculture, industry and housing.

5. Influence the Local Plan and Central Lancashire Core Strategy by working toward 
developing planning policies that reduce carbon emissions.

6. Undertake full review of paper use in meetings with the aim of paper free meetings.
 
7. Reviews the Council’s Borough Investment Fund to give due weight to Climate Change 
targets in the Investment portfolio.

8. Undertake a campaign in partnership with Lancashire Waste Partnership with the aim to 
reduce contamination in recyclable materials and reduce, reuse and recycle waste.

9. Undertake a waste and printing audit in the Council with a view to minimisation and 
reduction and to investigate how we can recycle hard to recycle waste.

10. To increase local resilience to climate impacts already happening. To include working 
with the Environment Agency on the Preston and South Ribble flood defence scheme, 
consideration of excess heat within planning decisions and to provide advice to residents 
and businesses.

11. Introduce both solar panels and thermal panels to the roof of the Civic Centre to reduce 
the Council’s reliance on gas.

12. Replace all lights in the Civic Centre and car park to LED Lights.

13. Investigate a green energy supply to the Council’s buildings to ensure renewable 
sources of energy used.  

14. Set up staff working group to identify and implement practical ways of reducing carbon 
across the Council.

15. Investigate the possibility of electric vehicle pool-car or bike. (civic and/or for 
developments across the borough).

16. Switch cleansing vehicles to plug in electric and with technological advances switch 
other specialised vehicles (e.g. ride on mowers) to electric in line with replacement 
programme.

17. Where necessary officer reports to Cabinet and Full Council contain impact assessments 
on Climate Change that include Carbon Emission Appraisals, including presenting 

Page 155



alternative approaches which reduce carbon emissions where possible.

18. Produce a Climate Change Strategy for Council by June 2020.  

Page 156



CONSULTATION CARRIED OUT AND OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION

22.  The working group has been set up as a cross party group with the aim of 
inviting experts and members of the public to contribute to the priorities. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

23. An alternative option is for the Council to do nothing and wait until national and 
international government policy changes. As detailed in the report above waiting 
is not an option due to the advancing risk of global warming. 

AIR QUALITY IMPLICATIONS

24. Air Quality is an integral part of the overarching goal of rendering the borough 
carbon neutral by the year 2030. The actions detailed in the Air Quality Action 
Plan have already been agreed at Cabinet and therefore will be delivered in 
addition to the actions proposed in this report.  

RISK MANAGEMENT

25. The proposed scope and indicative priorities sets out action by the Council in 
regard to the issues which are within the Council’s control and which can be met 
within the existing resources and powers. It also sets out an approach to secure 
action by a wide range of partners within South Ribble, giving us the best chance 
of delivering the scale of change required.  It is therefore considered an 
appropriate approach to address the risk of climate change for South Ribble.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPACT

26. Any proposed new or revised policies will require a review of the relevant impact 
assessments in accordance with the statutory requirements which include the 
Equalities Act 2010.

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

27. A new dedicated post of Climate Change officer has been created and funded 
from within existing budgets in order to help to facilitate the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan outcomes in relation to Air Quality, Climate Emergency and 
single-use plastics. The Climate Change Strategy planned for June 2020 will 
inform the Council of any potential additional budgetary implications which will 
need to be fully assessed and approved in accordance with the Council’s 
constitution.  

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

28. The Climate Change Act 2008 which established a UK commitment to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions by 80% by 2050 from 1990 levels. The Council decision 
made in July 2019 declared a Climate Emergency and requested for a Standing 

Page 157



Working Group on the Climate Emergency to be set up and to provide regular 
updates on the matter. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

There are no background papers to this report.

APPENDICES 

There are no appendices to this report.

LT Member Jennifer Mullin
Director of Neighbourhoods and Development

Report Author: Telephone: Date:
Jennifer Mullin (Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Development)

01772 625329 09/12/19

Page 158



REPORT TO ON

CABINET
Wednesday, 22 
January 2020

TITLE PORTFOLIO REPORT OF

Town Centre Masterplans
Cabinet Member 

(Planning, 
Regeneration and 

City Deal)

Director of Planning 
and Property

Is this report a KEY DECISION (i.e. more than £100,000 or 
impacting on more than 2 Borough wards?)

Is this report on the Statutory Cabinet Forward Plan?

Is the request outside the policy and budgetary framework and 
therefore subject to confirmation at full Council? 

Is this report confidential?

Yes

Yes 

No

No

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1. The purpose of the report is to update Cabinet on the various town centres and 
masterplan work and to seek Cabinet approval to consult upon the draft Leyland 
Town Centre masterplan

PORTFOLIO RECOMMENDATIONS

2. It is recommended that:

3. Cabinet note the contents of the report with regard to the update on all town 
centres.

4. Cabinet approve for consultation purposes the draft Leyland Town Centre 
Masterplan.

5. A further report come back to Cabinet with the results of the consultation and the 
final Leyland Town Centre Masterplan for consideration.

Page 159

Agenda Item 14



6. Cabinet authorise the commencement of work on the Penwortham Town Centre 
Masterplan including the scoping of the masterplan, commissioning of urban 
design consultants to produce a draft masterplan and engagement with the Town 
Council and local ward members.

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

7. The town centres are key to the future of the Borough and are identified as a 
project on the recently approved Corporate Plan. Work has been underway on 
the Leyland masterplan for a while and is now at an important stage whereby the 
draft findings and ideas need to put out to wider public consultation. The recent 
announcement of a potential Towns Deal for Leyland has added extra impetus to 
the finalisation of a masterplan for Leyland.

8. The recently adopted Corporate Plan also identifies the master planning of other 
centres in the Borough, namely Penwortham, Bamber Bridge and Lostock Hall, 
as a key priority.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

9. Work was commissioned in late 2018 to commence work on a masterplan for 
Leyland Town Centre. This work has now reached an important stage whereby 
the document is ready for wider public consultation on the proposals. The new 
South Ribble Corporate Plan also identifies work to be undertaken on other town 
centres in the Borough. The report provides an update on the other centres.

CORPORATE OUTCOMES

10. The report relates to the following corporate priorities: 

Excellence, Investment and Financial 
Sustainability

Health, Wellbeing and Safety ✔

Place, Homes and Environment ✔

Projects relating to People in the Corporate Plan:

Our People and Communities

BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

11. Work on the town centres of Leyland and to a lesser extent on Penwortham has 
been ongoing for some time. In the case of Leyland, White Young Green (WYG) 
a firm of planners and urban designers were engaged in 2018 to prepare a 
review of Leyland Town Centre and to develop an Improvement Strategy. WYG 
have undertaken a lot of work already providing a baseline of the centre, liaising 

Page 160



with local ward members, and also the Leyland Town Team and associated 
businesses. We are now at the point a draft Improvement Strategy has been 
prepared for Leyland Town Centre which needs to go out to wide public 
consultation prior to being considered as the plan to take forward to delivery.

12. Work on Penwortham to date has been connected with the development of and 
the recent opening of the Penwortham Bypass. This work has been undertaken 
to date as part of City Deal and in relation to the County Council meeting the 
requirements of the planning conditions placed on the bypass delivery. At the 
present stage work has only gone so far as traffic measures at either end of 
Liverpool Road to discourage through traffic and ensure that the new bypass is 
used fully. Due to the mid-term review of the City Deal and the gap in the 
financial model for City Deal no further progress has been made on 
improvements to Penwortham Town Centre.

13. Elsewhere a public realm improvement scheme has been undertaken in Bamber 
Bridge and is largely complete but is again subject to the City Deal mid-term 
review.

14. Tardy Gate at Lostock Hall is also scheduled for a masterplan, however this is 
dependent on the Cross Borough Link Road being fully open and therefore the 
opportunity will exist to undertake more in that locality with reduced levels of 
traffic.

PROPOSALS (e.g. RATIONALE, DETAIL, FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT)

15. Leyland

16. Attached at Appendix A to this report is a draft Leyland Improvement Strategy. 
The development of this document has gone through a thorough five stage 
process: establishing a baseline; vision and objectives; opportunity sites; options 
for change; and preferred strategy.

17. The starting point for the assessment has been the Leyland Town Centre 
boundary established in the adopted South Ribble Local Plan. This boundary 
stretches from the Leisure Centre, past Tesco, along Towngate, in to Hough 
Lane and Chapel Brow and ending at the train station. This is a particularly large 
area and a difficult geography. WYG therefore have split the town centre in to 4 
areas:

 Civic Quarter - based on the Council Offices, Leisure Centre, Courts and 
Library

 Leyland Museum - covering the area of Towngate and the Commercial 
Vehicle Museum

 Hough Lane - covering the main retail area

 Leyland Gateway – located around the train station and Chapel Brow

Page 161



18. Given the geographical spread of these areas work then focused on the areas of 
opportunity and creating priority projects.

19. The first priority area has been identified as Hough Lane. The Improvement 
Strategy provides a number of options for measures in this area including: public 
realm; making more pedestrian space by introducing a one way; providing civic 
spaces for events; ensuring better links; providing more modern units; potential 
for land purchase and reconfiguration of car parks.

20. The second priority area is that of Chapel Brow and the train station. Measures 
here include: changing the direction of traffic on Chapel Brow; improving links 
from the train station in to the town; and reusing the old ticket office for 
community uses.

21. It is now proposed that the draft Improvement Plan for Leyland goes out to wide 
public consultation for a period of at least six weeks. A range of activities will be 
developed for the consultation including exhibitions and workshops with local 
businesses. Following this the final Improvement Strategy and a report of the 
consultation will come back to Cabinet for approval.

22. The recent invitation of Leyland to participate in the Government’s Town Deal 
Programme is very timely given the stage reached in the development of the 
masterplan. Delivery of the emerging masterplan will be a key delivery item within 
the Town Deal bid. The Town Deal bid could therefore provide the opportunity for 
early delivery and to provide additional or wider measures within the town centre. 
The emerging Council Budget (subject to approval at Council) will also identify 
funding for the town centre to ensure delivery and use as match in to the Town 
Deal programme.

23. Penwortham

24. The Penwortham bypass opened in early December 2019 and has now removed 
a significant amount of traffic from Liverpool Road running through Penwortham. 
To date associated works emerging from the bypass have been limited to those 
at each end of Liverpool Road at Howick Cross and Penwortham Triangle to 
discourage through traffic. Some initial work for the centre of Penwortham was 
undertaken by LCC but this work has been put on hold whilst the mid-term review 
of City Deal is considered.

25. Due to the delay in City Deal it is important that the improvement for Liverpool 
Road Penwortham continues to be developed and delivered. It has therefore 
been identified as a key project in the Corporate Plan and the potential for budget 
to commence work in 2020/21 will be considered as part of the annual budget 
setting process. The aim would be for funding to cover the employment of urban 
design consultants to develop a masterplan for Penwortham during 2020/21 and 
for funding in 2021/22 to deliver measures within Penwortham. The above said 
continuing discussions regarding City Deal will aim to ensure that Penwortham 
benefits from any revised deal.

Page 162



26. Members approval is also sought that engagement with Penwortham Town 
Council and local ward members would form part of the initial scoping phase and 
would continue throughout the process leading to wider public consultation.

CONSULTATION CARRIED OUT AND OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION

27. The Leyland Town Centre Improvement Strategy has involved the Town Team 
and local businesses together with sessions with local ward members. Following 
this Cabinet meeting wider public consultation will be undertaken to seek views 
on the Improvement Strategy.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

28. The only other options considered were to not undertake the work. This would be 
against the agreed Corporate Plan and also would not enable our town centres to 
thrive and diversify.

AIR QUALITY IMPLICATIONS

29. All of the Town Centre Masterplans identified in the report are identified as Air 
Quality Management Areas (AQMA). Therefore the plans must show there is no 
adverse impact on Air Quality within the AQMA and if an adverse impact is 
predicted suitable mitigation should be suggested which is aimed at reducing this 
impact as far as is reasonably practicable. The Environmental Health team will be 
part of the consultation process to ensure the air quality implications will be 
positive on Air Quality

RISK MANAGEMENT

30. At this stage key risks are minimal. As a delivery phase comes forward key risks 
will be identified and managed accordingly through the Project Management 
Process..

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPACT

31. A key test of the consultation will be to ensure that all sectors of society are 
engaged and that the improvement strategy allows for use of the town centre by 
all.

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

32. Budgets for the proposed works have been incorporated into the capital 
programme and are subject to approval by Council in February. The timing of 
delivery will be impacted by progress with the Town Deal bid and the City Deal 
mid-term review.

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

Page 163



33. The intention is to have a robust consultation exercise of the draft Leyland Town 
centre Masterplan which will last for a minimum of 6 weeks. Details of responses 
received will then be reported back to Cabinet prior to any decision being made 
as to whether to adopt the Masterplan – whether with amendments or not. As 
ever the Council must act reasonably in the way that it proceeds.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS (or)

There are no background papers to this report

APPENDICES 
Appendix A – Draft Leyland Improvement Plan

Jonathan Noad
Director of Planning and Property

Report Author: Telephone: Date:
Jonathan Noad (Director of Planning and 
Property)

01772 625206 13th January 
2020

Page 164



LEYLAND TOWN 
CENTRE

IMPROVEMENT STRATEGY
DRAFT  

NOVEMBER 2019

P
age 165



Document Verification

Client: South Ribble Borough Council
Project: Leyland Town Centre Improvement Strategy 
Job number: A111810  
Document title: Leyland Town Centre Improvement Strategy   
Status: Draft   
Date: November 2019  
Document reference: A111810- Leyland Town Centre

This report is copyright: © WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited, 2019. All drawings 
and photographs are by WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited unless stated otherwise. 
Drawings based on the Ordnance Survey map are reproduced with the permission of Her Majesty’s 
Stationery Office: © Crown copyright WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited licence number
WYG
Quay West at MediaCityUK, Trafford Wharf Road, Trafford Park, Manchester, M17 1HH
Tel: +44 (0)161 872 3223
www.wyg.com

WYG
Quay West at MediaCityUK, Trafford Wharf Road, 
Trafford Park, Manchester, M17 1HH
Tel: +44 (0)161 872 3223
www.wyg.com

P
age 166



1. Introduction

2. Background

3. Town Centre Profile

4. Consultation

5. Vision and Objectives

6. Strategy for Improvement

7. Priority Projects

8. Next Steps

Appendices

Appendix A - 5 Minute Drive-time Catchment

Appendix B – South Ribble Retail Study 2016 Study Area Plan

Appendix C - 15 Minute Walking Catchment

Appendix D – Potential Re-routing of Bus Services

CONTENTS
Page 1

Page 5

Page 9

Page 15

Page 29

Page 33

Page 39

Page 49

P
age 167



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 1

INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Brief

1.1.1 WYG have been appointed by South Ribble Borough 
Council to develop a Town Centre Improvement Strategy for 
Leyland Town Centre. The strategy has been commissioned 
to help guide future policy, action and investment within 
the town centre in order for Leyland to best meet its full 
potential. The Improvement Strategy will seek to put Leyland 
on a path towards being a sustainable town centre, which 
is well equipped to meet the current and future needs of its 
residents and visitors, and which effectively supports the 
role of local businesses.  

1.1.2 The Strategy is being undertaken at this time to seek 
to specifically respond to the challenges and opportunities 
relevant to Leyland, as well as the changing role which 
town centres are experiencing more widely. The Council 
are also in the process of reviewing the Borough’s adopted 
Local Plan, which the recommendations of the Strategy will 
be able to help inform going forward.

1.1.3 Leyland Town Centre is located approximately 6 miles 
to the south of Preston City Centre, and 5 miles north of 
Chorley Town Centre. The town is easily accessible from 
the M6 motorway, which passes to the east of Leyland. 
Leyland Railway Station is located at the northern end 
of the town centre and is on the West Coast Main Line, 
which is served by regular services to Liverpool, Preston, 
Manchester Victoria and Blackpool.

Preston

Blackburn

Leyland

Chorley

M55

M6

M6

M61

M65

M65

Walton-le-Dale

Bamber Bridge

Accrington

P
age 168



2Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Preston

Blackburn

Leyland

Chorley

M55

M6

M6

M61

M65

M65

Walton-le-Dale

Bamber Bridge

Accrington

Figure 1: Leyland Strategic Wider Context Plan

P
age 169



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 3

1.2 Purpose of the Strategy 

1.2.1 The Improvement Strategy will guide meaningful and 
lasting change and enhancement of Leyland Town Centre. 
The vision and objectives which form the cornerstones of 
the Strategy are intended to lay a basis for decision making 
and establish a focus for future improvement efforts. The 
Improvement Strategy will be used to inform investment 
opportunities, potential physical improvement works and 
future strategic policy for the town centre.

1.2.2 The outputs of the document will be a focused spatial 
improvement strategy for the area. Through its delivery 
as part of a joined-up strategy, which will support the 
overriding objective of achieving a centre which is vibrant, 
sustainable and well equipped to meet the expectations of 
its residents and visitors.

1.2.3 It is not intended that the Improvement Strategy 
in its current form will represent a statutory planning 
policy document. However, the Strategy’s findings and 
recommendations will help inform future planning policy 
for Leyland and the Council’s strategy going forward for 
investment in the town centre.  

1.3 Approach Taken

1.3.1 WYG have used an integrated approach utilising 
urban design, planning and transport expertise to develop 
a holistic strategy for the future improvement of the town 
centre. The project has been undertaken working alongside 
South Ribble Borough Council Officers, and through active 
engagement with key stakeholders and local businesses 
from Leyland’s Town Team. The Strategy has been prepared 
in a staged approach following the format illustrated;

1.3.2 The Strategy which subsequently follows identifies 
both specific key projects, alongside the identification of 
wider higher-level initiatives which can be the focus of 
further work to achieve their delivery.

Identification of how the town centre currently functions, the 
demographic character of its core visitor market, its strengths 

and weaknesses and key areas for improvement. This was 
achieved through site assessments alongside data and 

market analysis. 

Stage 1- Establishing a baseline

Following engagement with local businesses, an overriding 
aspirational vision for Leyland was defined, alongside a series 

of targeted objectives tailored to the needs of Leyland.

Stage 2- Vision and Objectives 

Key opportunity sites with potential to achieve improvements 
to the functionality and quality of the town centre were 
identified, with potential redevelopment opportunities 

explored.

Stage 3- Identification of Opportunity Sites 

Separate options for the town centre were drafted to 
investigate alternative improvement strategies and to 

establish a preferred approach.

Stage 4- Options For Change 

Development of a preferred option, reflecting key physical 
improvements identified and priority initiatives to best deliver 
the vision and objectives. Alongside recommended physical 

improvements, social and business initiatives are identified to 
help support Leyland’s role as ‘future-ready’ town centre.

Stage 5- Preferred Option Improvement Strategy 

Figure 2: Stages of Approach Taken 

P
age 170



4Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

1.4 Town Centre Area

1.4.1 For the purposes of this Strategy, a study 
area has been defined which is considered 
to best represent the extent of influence of 
the town centre, as illustrated by Figure 3. 
This study area goes beyond the town centre 
boundary as established through planning 
policy and defined within the South Ribble 
Local Plan (2015) in order to include the 
wider, more peripheral edges of the centre, 
which are important in considering how the 
centre functions and its linkages. The study 
area extends to include the civic area around 
West Paddock to the south west of the main 
activity within the centre, and the Olympian 
Way Retail Park to the north.

TOWN 
CENTRE BOUNDARY 

ST
U

D
Y 

AR
EA

STU
D

Y
 A

R
EA

Figure 3: Town Centre Study Area

P
age 171



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 5

BACKGROUND
2.1 Background to this Study

2.1.1 The Council have commissioned WYG to examine 
how Leyland Town Centre can be improved and to develop 
an overall spatial strategy to facilitate this objective. This 
Strategy document follows recent and ongoing work by 
the Council in seeking to support the role of town centres 
and work being pursued to progress new planning policy 
documents for the Borough.

2.1.2 The Council are currently undertaking a review of both 
the South Ribble Local Plan and the Central Lancashire Local 
Plan. An improvement strategy for Leyland has therefore 
been instructed in advance of the detailed progression of 
these new Local Plan documents, to inform the progression 
of future planning policy. WYG previously undertook a Retail 
and Leisure Study of the South Ribble Borough on behalf of 
the Council in 2017, with a subsequent update undertaken 
in early 2019. These two studies were undertaken to assist 
the Council in understanding the retail and leisure market 
within the Borough and to provide a health check on the 
state of the Borough’s town centres. 

2.1.3 In summer 2019 the Council have also undertaken 
a Borough wide consultation to develop a Green Links 
Strategy. The aim of the strategy is to create a Borough 
that is linked together by a network of green connections 
of parks and public open space and to provide facilities 
and opportunities which support the health and wellbeing 
of residents. Within the Green Links project is potential for 
a new ‘Campus Masterplan’ area which could involve the 
redevelopment of the Leyland Leisure Centre site and land 
around the Council’s existing Civic Centre on West Paddock. 

These ongoing initiatives have potential implications for any 
future improvement strategy for Leyland Town Centre, and 
therefore consideration has been made to these initiatives 
in the formulation of this strategy document.

2.1.4 This Strategy report is also being undertaken in 
recognition of a number of known long-standing physical 
constraints within Leyland Town Centre which are 
considered to hamper its functionality. Namely, the town 
centre’s linear shape and dispersed retail offer, as well as 
existing limitations to pedestrian connectivity across the 
centre. Finally, the Strategy will consider the importance 
for high streets to adapt to the challenges being faced by 
town centre operators and to respond successfully to the 
modern aspirations which customers have for their town 
centres.

2.1.5 On the back of the ongoing policy work being 
undertaken by the Council and the wider acknowledgement 
of the importance for town centres to adapt in order to 
continue to attract sustainable visitor numbers, this strategy 
seeks to provide a route to support Leyland town centre as 
a vibrant town centre, which is well equipped to meet the 
modern-day needs of its users.

2
Hough Lane, Leyland

Hough Lane, Leyland

P
age 172



6Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

2.2 A Changing Role for Town Centres

2.2.1 The growth of online shopping has had a dramatic 
effect on our high streets and how they are used. Between 
2007 and 2018 online sales increased six-hold, with in-
store sales being hit as a result. In 2000 online retailing 
accounted for less than 1% of total retail sales while in 
October 2018 almost a fifth of all retail sales took place 
online (source: Office for National Statistics (2018), Retail 
Sales, Great Britain: October 2018). This shift change in 
retail spending has required for town centres to adapt, 
with visits to town centres more increasingly being focused 
about the experience which can be provided and for leisure 
purposes, rather than simply a means to purchase goods.

2.2.2 Customers are better informed than ever before, 
thanks to the availability of internet access on-the-go, 
and the ability to compare prices at the click of a button. 
Hence, key to the future success of town centres will be a 
need to continue to compete by diversifying the traditional 
offering and to provide an experience that continues to 
attract visitors. The now established changes which have 
occurred to consumer habits means that high streets 
need to adapt and respond to the new consumer climate. 
Providing convenience for customers is part of this, as well 
as delivering a pleasurable experience for the visitor.

2.2.3 Increasingly, a greater role for leisure uses within 
town centres is being found, (such a food and beverage 
and health and fitness uses), to fill the gaps left where 
high-street retailers would have previously located. The 
proportion of outlets accommodating leisure uses within 
town centres has been seen to have gradually increased from 
21.4% in April 2009 to 24.4% in July 2019, (Experian Goad 
2019). This is reflected in the support for diversification 
being provided through national planning policy, and the 
less protectionist stance for retail uses.

2.2.4 In terms of investment, increasingly a need is being 
seen for public/private sector investment partnerships 
within town centres, incorporating a civic or community 
focus. This can be seen as a result of a diminished appetite 
for solely developer-led town centre schemes, reflective of 
a more challenging market for developers to secure major 
retailer tenants on the high street.

Leyland Market, Hough Lane, Leyland

The Gables Public House,Hough Lane, Leyland

P
age 173



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 7

2.3.4 Policy E3 of the adopted Local Plan (2015) defines 
Primary and Secondary retail frontages for Leyland town 
centre. The Primary Retail Frontage principally covers the 
commercial units on Hough Lane between the Asda store at 
the junction with Towngate and extending east as far as the 
junction with Herbert Street. In policy terms, the remaining 
parts of the centre are defined as representing Secondary 
Retail Frontage. Within the Primary Retail Frontages, Class 
A1 (shops), A3 (cafés and restaurants) and A4 (drinking 
establishments) uses are promoted. Within the Secondary 
retail locations of the town centre, Class A1, A3 and A4 
uses are sought to be protected to maintain the vitality and 
viability of the area.

2.3.5 The South Ribble Retail Study Update 2018 undertaken 
by WYG identified no need for additional convenience 
of comparison retail floorspace across the Borough as a 
whole during the period up to 2036, with existing levels of 
provision sufficient to meet demand, when account is taken 
of existing commitments.

2.3 Planning Policy and Government Initiatives

Planning Policy

2.3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
(2019) at chapter 7 provides support for the role of town 
centres in our communities, indicating that policies and 
decisions should take a positive approach to their growth, 
management and adaption. The Framework requires 
for planning policies to allow town centres to grow and 
diversify in a way that can respond to rapid changes in 
the retail and leisure industries and allow for a suitable 
mix of uses, including housing. The NPPF also establishes 
that policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 
safe and accessible places, which enable and support 
healthy lifestyles, such as through the provision of green 
infrastructure and layouts which encourage walking and 
cycling.

2.3.2 National Planning Practice Guidance establishes that 
a wide range of complementary uses can help to support the 
vitality of town centres including; residential, employment, 
office, commercial, leisure/entertainment, healthcare and 
educational uses, as well as temporary ‘pop-up’ businesses.

2.3.3 Within the adopted Central Lancashire Core 
Strategy (2012), Leyland is identified as a Principal Town 
Centre in the retail hierarchy, alongside Chorley. Policy 
11 of the Core Strategy seeks to maintain and improve 
the vitality and viability of Leyland town centre and 
specifically acknowledges that the centre suffers from a 
poor environment and physical constraints in respect to 
accessibility. 

P
age 174



8Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Government Initiatives

2.3.6 The Government’s approach to planning reforms over 
recent years have sought to provide greater flexibility within 
town centres. This has been reflected in extending permitted 
development rights for the conversion of properties to 
alternative uses. Extended permitted development right 
changes which came into force in May 2019 for example 
now allow for a change-of-use of hot food take-aways 
(Class A5) to residential use and a permitted change of 
use for shops, take-aways and betting shops to convert 
to office use (subject to prior approval). These reforms 
have expanded upon on earlier permitted development 
right changes which also provided greater flexibility, such 
as the permitted change of use of offices (Class B1) to 
residential use (Class C3), (subject to prior approval). The 
reforms overall show a move towards promoting expanded 
residential use in town centres, and greater fluidity between 
land uses.

Hough Lane, Leyland

P
age 175



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 9

TOWN CENTRE PROFILE
3.1 Wider Context

3.1.2 Within the retail hierarchy for Central Lancashire, 
Leyland represents one of 2 town centres, alongside Chorley, 
with Preston city centre at the top of the hierarchy. Within 
the South Ribble Borough, Leyland represents the principal 
shopping area, above the respective district centres and 
local centres. 

3.1.3 The town centre is linear in its spatial composition, 
extending from the railway station at the northern end of 
Chapel Brow to the Tesco Extra Store and The Cross at its 
southern end. The main focus of activity within the town 
centre is focused on Hough Lane, however the shops and 
services within the town centre extend along Chapel Brow 
and Towngate in either direction from Hough Lane.

3.1.4 Leyland is renowned for its historical ties to the motor 
industry. Leyland Motors, dates back to 1896 and was a 
major bus and truck manufacturer through the 1960s, 70s 
and 80s. The town retains strong links to its motoring past, 
through the British Commercial Vehicle Museum within the 
town centre and multiple installations across the town in 
homage to its manufacturing heritage.

3.2 Population Profile

South Ribble Borough

3.2.1 Table 1 provides a summary of the population and 
household projections for the wider South Ribble local 
authority area. The data indicates that the population 
of the local authority area in 2018 was 112,871, with 
47,677 households. Future projections from the Office of 
National Statistics indicate that the population and number 
of households within the area are both anticipated to 
grow steadily over the coming years, with the number of 
households predicted to rise 6.2% by 2036, representing a 
further 2,936 households compared to 2018.

 
3.2.2 The adopted Central Lancashire Core Strategy 
(2012) sets out a target to deliver 417 new dwellings per 
year within the Borough between 2010/11 and 2025/26, 
totalling 6,255 dwellings for this 15-year period.

Leyland

3.2.3 To provide an indication of the area which Leyland 
town centre serves, and its primary area of influence, a 
5-minute drive time catchment area has been analysed, 
(provided at Appendix A). A five-minute drive from the 

town centre provides access beyond Leyland itself to many 
of the surrounding settlements and shows that there is a 
health population catchment who could potentially utilise 
Leyland as a local destination to meet their shopping, 
service and leisure needs. A total population of 146,915 
is recorded within this drive-time radius. The catchment 
illustration shows that the town centre is within a 5-minute 
reach from the settlements of Bamber Bridge and Lostock 
Hall to the north, Clayton-le-Woods and Clayton Green to 
the east and Euxton to the south, as well as the northern 
parts of Chorley.   

3.2.4 In terms of the age structure of the resident population 
within Leyland’s catchment area, Table 2 shows that the 
area has a population which is slightly above national 
averages. The population within the younger age group 
categories are found to have slightly lower representation 
than the national average. Representation within the 16-24 
age group is recorded as 1.9% below the UK average, which 
is not unexpected given that there is not a major higher 
education institution for over 18s, such as a University, 
within the local area.

3.2.5 The 65+ age group is identified as recording a 
higher representation than the national average (+1.8%). 
This indicates that considerations such as good pedestrian 
accessibility and public transport links are likely to be 
particularly important issues for the resident population.  

South Ribble 
Local Authority 

Area 

2018 2028 2036 

 No.  No. 
% Increase 

on 2018 No. 
% Increase 
on 2018  

Population 
Projections 112,871 114,834 +1.7% 115,756 +2.6% 

Household 
Projections 47,677 49,526 +3.9%  50,613 +6.2% 

 Table 1: Borough Population
Source: Experian (2019) based on Office for National Statistics Census data (2018)

3

P
age 176



10Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

3.3 Demographic Profile

3.3.1 Experian Mosaic UK is a data resource for the 
classification of UK households. Mosaic brings together 
an extensive number of separate data sources which are 
combined to build a picture of the population and consumers 
through an understanding of demographics, lifestyles, 
preferences and behaviours.

3.3.2 Mosaic data categorises households into one of 
15 standardised groups, to provide an understanding of 
the typical consumer. Table 3 provides a breakdown of 
households within the 5-minute drive-time catchment area 
based on the Mosaic groups.

3.3.3 Typically, within a locality, a small number of Mosaic 
Groups are found to be prevalent. For Leyland, the two 
highest ranking Mosaic groups across the population 
are identified are ‘Aspiring Homemakers’ and ‘Suburban 
Stability’, with both of these groups recording representation 
significantly above the national average. Table 4 provides a 
summary of the typical characteristics associated to the top 
five represented Mosaic groups within a 5-minute drivetime 
catchment area of Leyland. Each of the groups in Table 4 
is recorded as having a representation above that of the 
national average.

3.3.4 The Mosaic categories provide a flavour of the make-up 
of the resident population and in turn how they may interact 
with town centres. Overall, the data does suggest an above 
average population in terms of wealth and spending power. 
The classifications show a strong representation of family 
households, over smaller, more transient households. The 
data also indicates a significantly smaller representation 
from groups associated with lower than average incomes 
when compared to the national average.

Age 
Leyland Town Centre 

5 Minute Drive Time Catchment 
Area 

UK 
Variance 

 No. % % % +/- 

0-15 27,189 18.5% 19.1% -0.6% 

16-24 12,642 8.6% 10.5% -1.9% 

25-34 19,037 13.0% 13.6% -0.6% 

35-44 17,952 12.2% 12.5% -0.3% 

45-54 21,033 14.3% 13.5% +0.8% 

55-64 18,979 12.9% 13.5% +0.6% 

65+ 29,915 20.4% 18.6% +1.8% 

Total 146,747 100% 100%  

 Table 2: Age Structure, 2019 Population Projections 
Source: Experian, Office for National Statistics, Census Data (2019)

Mosaic Group Leyland Town Centre 5 min 
Drive-time Catchment Area UK Average 

 Household 
Est 2017 % % 

A City Prosperity 2 0.0% 4.5% 

B Prestige Positions 5,083 8.4% 6.7% 

C Country Living 987 1.6% 6.4% 

D Rural Reality 1,153 1.9% 7.0% 

E Senior Security 7,036 11.6% 8.0% 

F Suburban Stability 10,314 17.0% 5.7% 

G Domestic Success 6,889 11.3% 7.9% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 11,409 18.8% 9.0% 

I Family Basics 3,673 6.1% 7.4% 

J Transient Renters 4,302 7.1% 6.4% 

K Municipal Challenge 1,608 2.7% 6.6% 

L Vintage Value 3,150 5.2% 6.8% 

M Modest Traditions 4,483 7.4% 4.9% 

N Urban Cohesion 38 0.1% 4.7% 

O Rental Hubs 629 1.0% 8.0% 

U Unclassified 0 0.0% 0.0% 

Total 60,759 100% 100% 

 Table 3: Mosaic Groups Representation
Source: Experian 2019

P
age 177



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 11

3.3.5 From an analysis of the demographic and socio-
economic indicators for Leyland, themes and opportunities 
can be summarised as follows;

• A sizable resident population within easy reach.

• An anticipated growing number of households locally, 
with opportunities to engage new regular visitors.

• A slightly older population demographic than the UK 
average, but with a growing number of families. 

• Relatively financially comfortable consumers, with a 
level of disposable income.

• Anticipated potential to attract increased spend within 
Leyland for food and beverage and leisure activities, if 
attractive opportunities were provided. 

3.4 Town Centre Overview

3.4.1 Leyland represents the principle town within the South 
Ribble Borough. Other competing destinations within the 
local area include Bamber Bridge (3.5 miles away) and the 
Capitol Retail Park (4.5 miles away), which accommodates 
a number of national multiple retailers alongside a Vue 
cinema. Slightly further afield, Preston (6.8 miles away) 
and Chorley (5.4 miles away) represent the key competing 
centres.

3.4.2 The main focus of activity within the Leyland Town 
Centre is located along Hough Lane. However, the centre 
is dispersed across several clearly definable and separate 
areas, comprising Hough Lane at its centre, Churchill Way 
Retail Park/Chapel Brow and Olympian Way Retail Park at 
the northern end of the centre and the Tesco Extra store 
and the lower end of Towngate at the southern end of 
the centre. As a result of this dispersed nature, visitors 
frequently access only part of the town centre as part of a 
trip to the centre.

3.4.3 Venuescore provides a ranking system of centres 
nationally, which draws from information on the number of 
national multiples and anchor stores, as well as units within 
the food service, convenience and comparison sectors. The 
score and ranking provided give a useful benchmark of how 
a centre is performing over time and how neighbouring 
centres compare in terms of their influence on shopping 
patterns. The Venuescore assessment divides the wider 
Leyland town centre into four distinct quarters, with each 
provided a ranking score (Leyland Town Centre / Towngate 
/ Olympian Way / Churchill Way Retail Park). Together these 

Rank Mosaic Group % Typical Characteristics 
1 H. Aspiring 

Homemakers 
18.8% • Young households 

• Full-time employed 
• Private suburbs 
• Affordable housing costs 
• Starter salaries 
• Buy and sell on eBay 

2 F. Suburban Stability 17.0% • Older families 
• Some adult children at home 
• Suburban mid-range homes 
• 3 bedrooms 
• Have lived at the same address for 

some years 
• Research on the internet 

3 E. Senior Security 11.6% • Elderly singles and couples 
• Homeowners 
• Comfortable homes 
• Additional pensions above state 
• Don’t like new technology 
• Low mileage drivers 

4 G. Domestic Success 11.3% • Families with children 
• Upmarket suburban homes 
• Owned with a mortgage 
• 3 or 4 bedrooms 
• High internet use 
• Own new technology 

5 B. Prestige Positions 8.4% • High value detached homes 
• Married couples 
• Managerial and senior positions 
• Supporting students and older children 
• High assets and investments 
• Online shopping and banking 

 Table 4: Mosaic Groups Characteristics
Source: Experian 2019

VENUE SCORE 
(2016/17) Local Authority Location Grade 

(2016/17) 

2016/
17 

Rank 

2015/
16 

Rank 

2014/
15 

Rank 

Change 
2014/15 – 
2016/17 

Manchester City Centre 780 Manchester Major City 1 2 2 -1 
Preston City Centre 228 Preston Major Regional 58 56 52 +6 
Blackburn Town Centre 156 Blackburn with Darwen Regional 143 147 142 +1 
Chorley Town Centre 96 Chorley Sub-Regional 270 278 318 -48 
Capitol Park, Preston 35 South Ribble District 912 918 824 +88 
Bamber Bridge town centre 22 South Ribble Minor District 1418 1429 1468 -50 
Leyland Town Centre 18 South Ribble Local 1696 1709 1680 +16 
Leyland, Towngate 18 South Ribble Local 1696 1709 1792 -96 
Leyland, Olympian Way 16 South Ribble Local 1888 1908 2010 -122 
Preston, Station Road 14 South Ribble Local 2171 2034 2010 +161 
Leyland, Churchill Way Retail Park 12 South Ribble Local 2566 2827 2557 +9 

 Table 5: Venuescore Rankings
Source: Venuescore 2016-17, 2015-16 and 2014-15 UK Shopping Venue Rankings (Javelin Group)

P
age 178



12Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

quarters represent the offer provided by the wider town 
centre area. For the purposes of the Venuescore rankings, 
“Leyland Town Centre” is focussed around Hough Lane. 

3.4.4 An assessment of the Venuescore rankings over 
time shows a general trend of stagnation for Leyland 
over recent years, with Leyland Town Centre’s ranking 
worsening by 16 positions since 2014/15. Although some 
of the rankings within Leyland have improved over recent 
years, such as for Olympian Way and Towngate, which are 
both recorded as improving their position, in reality, very 
minor improvements to their venue score have only resulted 
in an improved ranking due to their position at the lower 
ends of the ranking hierarchy. By way of a comparison, 
the competing towns of Chorley (+48) and Bamber Bridge 
(+80) have both achieved an improvement to their ranking 
from Venuescore over recent years.  

3.5 Catchment Area

Shopping Patterns and Principal Catchment Area

3.5.1 Work undertaken as part of the South Ribble Retail 
Study in 2016 and the update subsequently completed in 
2019 can be utilised to help inform the principle customer 
catchment area for Leyland Town Centre. As part of the 
research to inform the Retail Study, a comprehensive 
household survey campaign was undertaken to investigate 
where local residents choose to undertake their shopping 
trips. The shopping survey undertaken in 2016 included 
surveys of 1,000 households from a localised study area.

3.5.2 A plan of the study area and study zones associated 
to the 2016 Retail Study is provided at Appendix B. An 
assessment of the household survey results can be 
undertaken to establish the localities from which the 
majority of Leyland town centre’s trade derives from. For 
food shopping trips, the shopping patterns recorded by the 
household surveys undertaken indicate that the majority 
of trade is derived from Zone 1 of the study area, which 
broadly represents the Leyland conurbation area to the 
west of the M6. The survey results further indicate that for 
each of the main supermarkets within Leyland, this trend 
for the majority of their trade to be derived from Zone 1 
of the study area is found to be the case. Lesser levels of 
trade were found to be derived from the wider parts of the 
Borough, most significantly from the more rural areas of 
the Borough to the west (Zone 4) and south (Zone 7).

3.5.3 In respect to comparison shopping trips, the shopping 
patterns recorded by respondents to the household survey 
identified that for shops within Leyland Town, nearly half of 
the recorded expenditure (48.4%) was derived locally from 
Zone 1 of the Study Area. From the wider area, the next 
highest proportion of expenditure was derived from Zone 
6 (18.5%) to the east of the M6 which incorporates the 
Clayton Green area, and from Zone 7 (9.8%) to the south. Demographic 

Leyland Town Centre 
Walking Catchment 

Area 
Change +/- % Change +/- 

Households 
Projection 2019 8,866 - - 

Households 
Projection 2035 9,392 526 +5.9% 

Population Estimate 
2019 21,101 - - 

Population 
Projection 2035 21,663 562 +2.7% 

 
Table 6: 15 Minute Walking Catchment Area: Household and Population Projections
Source: Experian, Office for National Statistics Census data (2019)

Walking Distance Catchment Area

3.5.4 The surrounding locality which encircles Leyland town 
centre is predominantly made up of residential streets. As 
such, the town centre benefits from a significant population 
which is within walking or cycling distance of its shops 
and services. Appendix C illustrates a 15-minute walk 
time catchment area around the town centre, and Table 6 
provides an analysis of the population within this local area. 
Table 6 indicates that a population of over 21,000 currently 
resides within a 15-minute walk of the town centre. 

3.5.5 Improvement works within the town centre offer 
potential to support the Council’s wider emerging ‘Green 
Links’ strategy to improve the network of green spaces and 
pedestrian/cycle links throughout the Borough. 

P
age 179



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 13

3.6 Town Centre Uses

3.6.1 The diversity of uses within 
the town centre were recorded 
as part of a survey undertaken 
for the 2016 South Ribble Retail 
Study, the key results of which are 
included below. Figure 4 shows 
the distribution of uses across 
the town centre and illustrates 
the linear form in which the town 
centre’s shops and services are 
arranged.

 

Diversity of Use Plan

    October 2016

North



Ref: A095334

creative minds safe hands 

Key

Convenience

Comparison

Retail Service

Leisure Service

Financial and Business Service

Vacant

Other

Leyland Town Centre

Scale: 1:4,000

Figure 4: Leyland Town Centre – Diversity of Uses Plan (Retail Study, October 2016)

 

Diversity of Use Plan

    October 2016

North



Ref: A095334

creative minds safe hands 

Key

Convenience

Comparison

Retail Service

Leisure Service

Financial and Business Service

Vacant

Other

Leyland Town Centre

Scale: 1:4,000

P
age 180



14Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

3.6.2 The results of the town centre survey undertaken in 
2016 identified 22 convenience goods units, accounting for 
37.7% of the total retail and service floorspace within the 
centre. This includes the four major supermarkets within 
the centre (Tesco Extra, Asda, Aldi and Lidl), alongside 
multiple other smaller retailers. The Morrisons store at the 
Olympian Way Retail Park offers a further offering which 
is not reflected in the survey figures, due to its location 
outside the defined planning policy town centre boundary.

3.6.3 The presence of four supermarkets within the town 
centre, as well as the Morrisons store on the edge of 
the centre, result in the convenience goods offer being 
significantly greater than the national average. It is 
apparent that the food shopping offer within Leyland town 
centre is fundamentally important to driving shopping trips. 
Furthermore, the respective supermarkets are dispersed 
across the centre, and as result they each act as anchors 
stores within their respective areas of the town centre.

3.6.4 The representation of comparison good retailers is 
unsurprisingly lower than the national average, given the 
lower-order status of the centre, and its focus towards 
meeting local shopping needs. The representation of 
businesses within the retail service, leisure service and 
financial and business service sectors are largely consistent 
with national averages.

3.6.5 The vacancy rate within Leyland is particularly low, 
which is a strong indication of the centre’s health. The latest 
survey recorded just nine vacant units and a vacancy rate 
of 4.3%, which compares favourably against the national 
average of 11.2%.

3.7 Retail

Supermarkets Performance

3.7.1 The South Ribble Retail Study (2018 Update) recorded 
the most popular supermarket destination within Leyland in 
terms of convenience goods turnover to be the Tesco Extra 
store (Towngate), followed by Morrisons (Olympian Way) 
and thirdly Aldi (Towngate). The study’s survey results 
found that within Leyland the major supermarket retailers 
were generally undertrading when compared against 
their expected benchmark. This is likely to be largely due 
to the number of supermarkets serving the area, with 
representation from the majority of the major supermarket 
operators either within or on the edge of the town centre. 

3.7.2 The Tesco Extra was recorded as undertrading 
significantly below its expected benchmark for convenience 
goods (-£16.5m). The Asda (Towngate) and Morrisons 
(Olympian Way) stores were both recorded as slightly 
undertrading below their anticipated benchmarks, by 
-£3.2m and -£0.4m respectively. However, the Aldi store 
(Towngate) was recorded as significantly overtrading by 
£25.5m and the Lidl store (Churchill Way) as overtrading 
by £2.4m above their anticipated benchmark.

3.7.3 In May 2019 Aldi secured planning permission for a 
new store on the edge of Leyland town centre at a site on 
the junction of Golden Hill Lane and School Lane. This new 
site represents approximate a 5-minute walk from Hough 
Lane. Once the new store opens, it is expected that the 
existing Aldi store on Towngate will close, likely leaving a 
significantly sized vacated unit within the town centre.

Category Number. 
               % UK1 

Convenience 22 10.5% 8.7% 
Comparison 60 28.6% 31.8% 
Retail Service 43 20.5% 14.0% 
Leisure Service 50 23.8% 23.5% 
Financial and Business 
Service 26 12.4% 10.6% 

Vacant 9 4.3% 11.2% 
Total 210 100% 100% 
Other Uses 15 - - 

 Table 7: Number of Units in Leyland Town Centre (October 2016)
Source: WYG survey, October 2016
UK average from the Experian Goad Category Report, August 2016

Category Floorspace 
(sq.m). % UK1 

Convenience 15,610 37.7% 15.2% 
Comparison 8,737 21.2% 35.8% 
Retail Service 3,240 7.6% 6.7% 
Leisure Service 10,065 24.3% 24.5% 
Financial and Business 
Service 2,990 7.2% 8.0% 

Vacant 690 1.7% 9.0% 
Total 41,332 100% 100% 
Other Uses 3,230 - - 

 Table 8: Floorspace in Leyland Town Centre (October 2016)
Source: WYG survey, October 2016
UK average from the Experian Goad Category Report, August 2016

P
age 181



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 15

3.8 Leisure and Services Offer

3.8.1 At the time of the latest survey of the town centre, 
50 leisure businesses were recorded, comprising 23.8% 
of units within the town centre. These businesses are 
generally distributed across the centre. The leisure offer 
encompasses a relatively limited number of restaurants 
and cafés for a centre the size of Leyland, alongside largely 
traditional public houses, and hot food take-aways. There 
are a limited number of leisure business on Hough Lane 
which support the evening economy, (namely The Market 
Ale House, The Leyland Lion public house and The Gables 
public house). However, in the most part, leisure uses are 
confined to the more peripheral parts of the town centre. 
Although to some extent there is a clustering of food and 
drink leisure uses at the northern end of the centre around 
Chapel Brow, there is no evident concentration of leisure 
uses which provide a focus of activity for the evening 
economy within the town. It is considered that there are 
opportunities to improve the variety and quality of the food 
and drink offer within the town centre, particularly within 
the heart of the town centre.

3.8.2 An important asset for Leyland is The British 
Commercial Vehicle Museum on King Street. The Museum 
is just a short distance from the main focus of activity 
on Hough Lane. Opportunities for Leyland Town Centre as 
whole exist to take full advantage of the visitors drawn 
to the museum. Both improved physical connectivity with 
the museum site and enhanced co-ordination with the 
activities and events run by the museum provide future 
opportunities.  

3.8.3 At the southern end of the town centre is Leyland 
Leisure Centre, which in its current location is well connected 
to neighbouring shops and services at the southern end of 
the centre. The Council are presently in the process of 
considering plans to develop a new leisure campus within 
Leyland which would both upgrade the quality of leisure 
and fitness facilities on offer to the public and provide 
opportunities for the redevelopment of the existing Leisure 
Centre site.

3.8.4 Worden Park also provides a key leisure asset for 
Leyland and is favourably located to provide linkages with 
the town centre. In August and September 2019, the Council 
undertook a public consultation on the future of Worden 
Hall. The majority of respondents to the consultation 
indicated a preferred choice for the Hall to be used for 
community use.

Leyland Lion Pubic House, Hough Lane, Leyland

British Commercial Vehicle Museum, King Street, Leyland

P
age 182



16Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

3.9 Available Units/Sites

3.9.1 An assessment of currently vacant and available 
sites has been undertaken to inform both an assessment of 
the relative health of Leyland Town Centre and to identify 
potential opportunity site for future development.

3.9.2 The latest land uses survey undertaken by WYG 
recorded just 9 vacant units within the defined town centre 
boundary, representing a vacancy rate well below that of 
the national average. Of the vacant units, all were found to 
be relatively small in terms of size, with only 1.7% of the 
centre’s floorspace identified as vacant. This is a strong 
indicator of the relative health of the centre, suggesting 
a viable climate for retailers and service providers. Vacant 
units were also found to be dispersed across the centre, 
and therefore not indicating any specific isolated problem 
areas where trade can evidently be seen as suffering.

3.9.3 A property search through the EGi database at the 
time of writing identified 8 commercial retail units within 
the town centre being actively marketed as available. The 
largest of which being 487 sq.m of floorspace within the 
Asda supermarket building on Towngate. Other vacant 
units of note include 11 Church Road, to the south of the 
Tesco store and the former Royal Bank of Scotland unit on 
Towngate. Available office space within the town centre is 
also understood to be relatively limited. WYG’s searches for 
available office space identified circa 1,000sq.m across just 
4 separate sites.

3.9.4 With Aldi planning to vacate their existing 
supermarket building on Towngate, this is likely to provide 
a sizable vacant unit. Given the size of the building, finding 
a single tenant to take occupancy of the entirety of the 
building is considered to be unlikely. The subdivision of 
the unit is more realistic in the current market. Alternative 
uses to retail such as a gym operator or an alternative 
leisure use such as a children’s play centre may provide 
potential for this site and continue to attract visitor trips. 
The comprehensive redevelopment of this site may also 
be necessary if attracting new tenants is found to be 
problematic.

3.9.5 To the North of Quin Street and to the east of the 
Ecroyd Street Council car park and market site is a vacant 
plot of land adjacent to existing warehouse buildings. This 
land potentially provides opportunities for redevelopment 
as well as the opening up of the market site and adjacent 
car park to provide a new focus for activity within the 
centre.

3.9.6 Should the Council progress with plans to provide a 
new leisure centre at the civic campus on West Paddock, 
the existing leisure centre site could be freed-up for 
redevelopment. The site would lend itself to a mixed-use 
scheme providing both new residential accommodation 
within the town centre alongside small-scale flexible 
commercial floorspace to meet any identified needs within 
the centre.

3.9.7 In respect to car parking, Leyland benefits from an 
extensive number of car parks located across the centre, 
many of which are Council owned. It is considered that 
there is scope to potentially rationalise the centre’s parking 
provision to simplify the parking experience for visitors and 
achieve environmental improvements in parts of the town 
where there is excess parking capacity.

Leyland Market Hall and Car park

P
age 183



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 17

3.10 Planning Commitments

Housing Commitments:

3.10.1  Significant new housing is known to be coming 
forward within Leyland. This includes both recently 
completed new housing schemes as well as a number 
of substantial extant planning consents. Known recent 
residential development activity includes neighbouring 
completed schemes in Clayton-le-Woods, a 174 unit scheme 
in the Farington Moss area by Kier Living Northern, and a 
200 unit scheme progressing on Altcar Lane, to the south of 
the town centre. Most significant is the recent permission 
for 950 homes at the former Leyland Motors Test Track 
site. Together these commitments, which do not represent 
an exhaustive list, total circa 1,600 new homes.

3.10.2 Each of these sites are within a 5-minute drive-
time of Leyland and are within geographical reach to offer 
opportunities to encourage new residents to walk or cycle 
into the town centre. An expanded local population will 
provide enlarged spending potential which the town centre 
can capitalise upon. In turn, it will be important for Leyland 
to offer reasons for new residents to visit and spend time 
within the town centre, to maximise this potential. 

Retail Commitments

3.10.3 To plan for the future strategy of Leyland’s shopping 
offer, it is important to give consideration to existing retail 
planning commitments which have potential to influence 
shopping patterns within Leyland town centre’s catchment 
area. The largest retail floorspace commitment locally is 
the Cuerden Strategic Site, which benefits from a hybrid 
permission incorporating both convenience goods floorspace 
as well as considerable comparison goods floorspace. A 
further planning commitment for 18,150 sq.m of retail 
floorspace has been awarded at Botany Bay in the Chorley 
administrative area.

3.10.4 It remains to be seen if these strategic sites will 
come forward incorporating significant retail uses, but if 
this is the case, increased competition particularly upon 
comparison retailing would result within the local authority 
area. The impacts of which on the Borough’s town centres 
will need to be monitored accordingly. 

P
age 184



18Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

3.11 Character and Environment Review

Key Areas

3.11.1 The dispersed and linear form of the town centre 
means that it functions as a series of distinct connected 
areas. These areas are primarily utilised with regard to 
their respective key uses. At the northern end of the town 
is Leyland Train Station, the Churchill Way Retail Park and 
Chapel Brow, which together serve as a gateway location 
for the town. Hough Lane provides a separate focus of 
retail and service provision in its centrally located position. 
Towngate and King Street provide a dispersed offering as 
well as access to the British Commercial Vehicle Museum. 
At the southern end of the centre is the Tesco store and 
civic uses on West Paddock and Lancastergate.

3.11.2 Reflective of how the form of the centre presently 
conflicts against users visiting the town centre as a whole, 
with the centre instead compartmentalised, an important 
theme for improvement is to enhance connectivity and join 
together the key areas to provide for a more rounded town 
centre experience. 

Character and Public Realm

3.11.3 The environmental character of Leyland is identified 
by terrace buildings of a traditional early 20th Century 
design and of a residential scale. Many of these properties 
on the main streets within the centre incorporate ground 
floor commercial uses. Terrace residential streets emanate 
from the principal shopping streets of Hough Lane and 
Towngate. There is relatively little modern housing within 

the town centre, although some areas on the fringes of the 
town centre have been developed to provide more modern 
housing.

3.11.4 Without any dedicated pedestrianised areas within 
the town centre, with the exception of the small space 
adjacent to The Cross, the visitor experience is strongly 
influence by the presence of passing vehicles, with 
limited opportunities for visitors to gain respite from the 
surrounding road network. In terms of the pedestrian 
environment, Hough Lane benefits from wide pavements. 
Forecourts in front of shop units are understood to be in 
the most part within private ownership. Some investment 
in paving improvement works have been completed on the 
northern side of Hough Lane which has been beneficial 
to the environmental quality. Similar works would be 
advantageous to further enhance the street environment 
on Hough Lane and to provide cohesion across the public 
realm. 

3.11.5 Shop fronts across the centre are generally of a 
fair quality. Given the high proportion of independent 
retailers in Leyland, a shop front grant scheme provides an 
opportunity to further raise the visual quality of shop fronts 
across the centre, whilst also supporting local businesses. 
It is understood that similar promotion schemes have 
previously been successfully implemented.

3.11.6 There are relatively few designated heritage assets 
within the town centre boundary. The Sandy Lane and 
Leyland Cross Conservation Areas are situated to the 
east and south of the defined town centre respectively 
and incorporate streets of historic character, with The 

Cross representing the original centre of the old village 
of Leyland. Any improvement initiatives influencing these 
areas will need to be carefully considered to ensure that 
the qualities of the conservation areas are respected.

HOUGH LANE

LEYLAND GATEWAY

CIVIC QUARTER

LEYLAND 
MUSEUM

Figure 5: Town Centre Character Areas

P
age 185



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 19

3.12 Key Assets

3.12.1 Leyland benefits from a number of unique assets. 
Opportunities should be taken where possible to maximise 
the town’s assets to help differentiate Leyland’s offer. 

3.12.2 The market site occupies a centrally located site, and 
with it being in Council ownership presents opportunities 
for investment and redevelopment to deliver a new focus of 
activity for the centre and to modernise the town centre’s 
offer. The neighbouring land, including the existing Ecroyd 
Street car park provides redevelopment potential. 

3.12.3 The British Commercial Vehicle Museum represents 
a genuinely unique asset for Leyland and gives homage 
to the town’s engineering history. Opportunities exist to 
integrate the museum more effectively with Hough Lane 
and maximise upon the recent investment put into the 
museum.

3.12.4 As mentioned earlier within this document, the 
Council are considering opportunities to provide a new 
leisure campus on West Paddock which would free up the 
existing Leyland Leisure Centre site for redevelopment. 
The existing Leisure Centre site provides a significant land 
holding at the edge of the town centre, potentially suitable 
to accommodate a range of complimentary uses.

3.12.5 Finally, in Worden Park the Council have a leisure 
and recreation attraction just a short distance from the 
town centre. Potential exists for the town centre to further 
maximise upon the benefits created from recreational 
visitors attracted to the park.

LEYLAND 
MUSEUM

MARKET

CAMPUS 
REDEVELOPMENT 

PROJECT

HOUGH LANE RETAIL

MUSEUM

Figure 6: Town Centre Key Assets 

P
age 186



20Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

3.13 Green Spaces

3.13.1 The town centre presently offers few green spaces 
other than some planting within the urban environment. 
On the periphery of the centre are a number of open 
green spaces including on West Paddock, Worden Park 
and Bannister Brook. These spaces at present are largely 
detached from the typical visitor’s experience of Leyland. 
Through the Council’s Green Links strategy, potential 
improved connectivity to these spaces can be explored as 
part of the Council’s wider objective to promote health and 
well-being for the Borough’s residents.  

3.13.2 Planting varies in quality across the centre but is 
generally poor. On Hough Lane, Chapel Brow and Towngate, 
planting is of a modest scale within low-quality planters. 
Supplementing the existing more established trees within 
public footways with high-quality landscape would help to 
raise the standard of the streetscenes.

WORDEN PARK

RECREATIONAL
FACILITIES

Hough Lane

TescoLancastergate

To
w

ng
at

e

Market

King Street

Golden Hill  Lane

Figure 7: Green Spaces

P
age 187



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 21

3.14 Transport and Parking Review

3.14.1 The town centre is served by an extensive number 
of public car parks, as well as on-street parking provision. 
In total there are seven Council operated car parks within, 
or on the edge of the town centre, (providing circa 634 
spaces). This is in addition to eight further privately-
operated car parks which include at the town centre’s 
various supermarkets. Further private/customer parking is 
available at a series of other smaller sites. The Council’s 
four centrally located car parks (Ecroyd Street, King Street, 
Sumner Street and Churchill Way) have consistent parking 
charges, with 2 hours parking charged at 50p. Council 
parking data for April 2018 to March 2019 identifies that 
the most popular of these car parks for short stay parking 
is Churchill Way, followed by Ecroyd Street. The most 
popular long stay car park was recorded as King Street. 
Observations of the town centre suggest that there is 
currently plenty of car parking capacity to accommodate 
the needs of the town centre. Based on the significant 
number of car parks present, some consolidation of parking 
provision is considered to be possible and beneficial.

3.14.2 Hough Lane, in being a two-way highway, is presently 
used by some motorists as a primary route through the 
area, despite it representing the main high street for the 
town. Alternative vehicle routes exist through the local 
area and consequently there is potential through highway 
alterations to encourage road users to utilise alternative 
routes and in-turn to improve the environment on Hough 
Lane for pedestrians.  

Hough Lane

TescoLancastergate

To
w

ng
at

e

Market

King Street

Golden Hill  Lane

Figure 8: Town Centre Car Parks

P
age 188



22Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

3.15 Digital Presence

3.15.1 The town centre’s online presence is relatively strong, 
through the ‘Visit Leyland’ website, which provides up-to-
date information on events and an A-Z directory of local 
businesses. The town also has active Facebook and Twitter 
accounts. Social media presents a powerful promotional 
tool, particularly for local and small-scale events. Through 
the established Town Team, opportunities exist to build 
upon this existing network of businesses and stakeholders 
and maximise regular promotion opportunities, such as 
through advocating ‘Social Media Champions’ for the town. 

3.15.2 Wi-Fi coverage across the town centre is moderate. 
Existing wi-fi hot spots are available at the Council’s offices 
and at Leyland Market. There are three premium BT wi-fi 
hotspots located at the TSB Bank on Chapel Brow, HSBC on 
Hough Lane and at Tesco Extra. In addition, there are seven 
Cloud wi-fi hotspots within the town centre boundary. These 
are predominately located within public houses. Providing 
open access through hotspots in key location is able to 
support the activities of both businesses and shoppers as 
well as promote longer dwell times.

3.15.3 High speed internet connections are becoming 
increasingly important for many modern businesses. 
To ensure that any future employment space will be 
futureproofed and best equipped to attract new businesses, 
consideration should be provided to ensuring that new 
space are suitably equipped for modern business needs.

3.15.4 There is an Amazon Hub Locker located at the 
Morrisons at Olympian Way. There are two further Local 
Collect points at Post Offices within the centre. Two electric 
vehicle charging point devices are identified within the 
town centre, located on Spring Gardens, to the rear of 
Leyland library.

P
age 189



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 23

3.16 Summary: Key Messages

Town Centre Experience:

• Strong convenience retail and service offer, with strong 
representation from independent businesses. 

• A dispersed offer across the centre, dictated by the 
linear form of the town centre.

• A series of connected spaces, which are visited 
independently of each other.

• The highway network, including the Chapel Brow/
Churchill Way gyratory poses a constraint for visitors. 

• Potential to improve the experience for pedestrians, 
particularly on Hough Lane.

• Leyland Market and Tesco sites provide the current focus 
for activity.

• Unique assets such as the British Commercial Vehicle 
Museum and Worden Park provide future opportunities.

Environmental Overview:

• Lack of dedicated pedestrianised areas, with the visitor 
experience strongly influence by traffic on the road 
network.

• Existing landscaping planting is modest and of limited 
quality.

• A lack of green spaces within the town centre.

• Public realm of varied quality, which lacks a cohesive 
design approach.

• Proliferation of car parking provides opportunities 
for rationalisation and subsequent environmental 
improvements.

• Overriding traditional architectural character, with little 
modern housing and architecture.

       

P
age 190



24Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Hough Lane

TescoLancastergate

To
w

ng
at

e

Market

King Street

Golden Hill  Lane

Figure 9: Town Centre Opportunity Sites

Opportunity Areas

Through Urban design, Highways and Town Planning 
analysis of Leyland, opportunity areas were highlighted 
to be explored in further detail throughout the 
Masterplanning and Improvement Strategy Process. 

The areas include: 

1.     Chapel Brow

2.     Churchill Way Gyratory

3.     Churchill Way Car Park

4.     Hough Lane

5.     Leyland Market and associated car parks

6.     The British Commercial Transport Museum

7.     Sumner Street and Sumner Street Car Park

8.     Thurston Road and Meadow Street

9.     Existing Aldi site

10. Existing Leyland Leisure Centre Site 

11. Land off W Paddock

12. Land off North View

1.

2.
3.

4.5.

6.
7. 8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

P
age 191



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 25

CONSULTATION
4.1 Community / Stakeholder Engagement

Initial Consultation

4.1.1 At the early stages of the project, engagement 
with local businesses was actively sought to inform the 
objectives for the masterplan strategy and to establish 
the key challenges faced by the town centre. An initial 
consultation session took place in March 2019 through 
invitations to local businesses who form part of the Leyland 
Town Team. A consultation workshop was held with around 
14 local businesses from the Town Team to hear their views 
and thoughts for the town centre.

4.1.2 Those in attendance were asked to describe what 
words initially comes to mind for Leyland town centre, 
Figure 10 illustrates a summary of responses.

4.1.3 To record the views of those in attendance, the 
strengths, weaknesses, objectives and threats for the town 
centre were discussed. The posters used in the workshop 
are presented opposite.  

Summary of Discussion

4.1.4 Key issues and aspirations identified through the 
consultation event included;

• The public realm on Hough Lane is in need of upgrading;

• The positive impact which events have achieved for 
Leyland;

• Market traders are experiencing a challenging time for 
their businesses;

• Parking charges do not help the performance of local 
businesses;

• More should be done to attract families;

• Traffic in the town centre and pedestrian accessibility 
hinders shoppers;

• There is a strong sense of community and opportunities 
to co-ordinate initiatives with business owners; and

• The town centre lacks a clear focus.

• Improving the links between the various components of 
the town centre is important.

4.1.5 It is intended that the recommendations from the 
improvement strategy are communicated to key local 
stakeholders to gauge further views before actions are 
taken forward to deliver the strategy.

Figure 10: Town Team Workshop Word Cloud

4

P
age 192



26Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Town Team Workshop Town Team Workshop Hough Lane, Leyland  

Town Team Workshop Posters

P
age 193



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 27

4.2 Lessons from Elsewhere

During the Town Team Workshops examples and precedents 
from other towns were highlighted and discussed, 
showcasing possibilities for Leyland.

Altrincham

• Recent high quality public realm investment has seen a 
revitalisation of the town centre

• Importance of maintaining a vehicular through route in 
ensuring vitality of businesses

• Formalised pull in parking critical to businesses

• Goose Green - pocket courtyard 

• Character areas - evening uses clustered around market

Altrincham Precedent Photographs

P
age 194



28Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Poynton

• Consistency in forecourt treatments gives coherency to 
public realm

• Details within paving reinforce identity of the town

Key Lessons For Leyland

• Improved public realm increases footfall 

• Opportunity to provide consistency in forecourt treatment

• Seek opportunities to introduce tree planting/ landscape 

• Consider consolidating uses into defined character areas 
- enabling a evening / food/drink offer to thrive

• Maintaining vehicular movement and short stay parking 
within Hough Lane important to maintain vitality of the 
existing businesses

• Opportunities to tell the story of Leyland’s manufacturing 
past in public realm fostering a sense of identity. 

Poynton Precedent Photographs

P
age 195



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 29

VISION AND OBJECTIVES
5.1 Vision 

5.1.1 Some of the measures for town centre health appear 
to show Leyland as performing well.  However, the fact 
it has slipped over 700 positions in the national retail 
hierarchy, whilst neighbours have cemented or increased 
their roles provides a significant cause for concern.

5.1.2 If Leyland is to remain competitive as a viable and 
vital centre, it needs to evolve to respond to the changing 
role of the high street. To support the changes required 
in Leyland to provide a stronger offering for the future, 
WYG were appointed by South Ribble Borough Council to 
prepare a masterplan based on a new vision for Leyland 
Town Centre.

5.1.3 The vision developed is based on three reinforcing 
themes.

5.1.4 Quality of Place: The physical quality of the public 
realm and built environment of the town centre needs 
improvement.  The town centre lacks a clear heart and 
the environment is very poor in places.  A qualitative 
improvement is essential to attract more people back to 
use the town centre.  The town needs to better balance 
through-traffic, allowing passing trade, but also giving much 
greater pedestrian priority.  The vision is for a timeless 
and attractive town centre, which is also much greener.  
The wonderful green spaces around the town need to be 
reflected in the centre transforming grey spaces to green 
places.

5.1.5 Improving the Experience: Shaped by the quality 
of place, the experience of Leyland town centre will be 
radically improved by a new mix of uses.  The present 
use of the town centre needs to be diversified, updated 
and improved.  The convenience of using the town needs 
to be enhanced, so that it is easy to access and use the 
town centre.  Part of improving the experience will be 
consolidating the town centre and creating a new heart 
and focal point for a town which is, to its detriment at 
present, far-too dispersed.

5.1.6 Evolving the Purpose: The town centre cannot 
continue as it has and expect to stay relevant to people 
and well-used.  One of the assets of Leyland is a significant 
residential population close to and around the town centre.  
Also, major residential growth is planned around the town.  
But the town needs to offer things to draw people in.  At 
present the reasons to use the town centre are quite narrow 
and people are choosing to spend quality-time and money 
elsewhere.  The masterplan is seeking to redefine the town 
centre as a place of choice.  A good example of this will be 
the improvement of the town’s traditional market, making 
it more relevant to a wider and younger demographic.

5.2 Improvement Strategy Objectives

5.2.1 Guided by the consultation exercises undertaken 
with the Leyland Town Team and Council Officers, a 
series of nine focused objectives to achieve the delivery 
of the enhancement strategy for the town centre were 
identified. The objectives have been used to shape the 
recommendations and proposed interventions within the 
strategy to respond to the central issues identified at the 
outset of the project.

5.2.2 Opposite are a series of precedent imagery to 
introduce a flavour of the vision in mind for Leyland, 
achievable through the Improvement Strategy.

5

P
age 196



30Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Source: Geograph.org (2019)          

Source: flickr (2019)          Source:  Geograph.org (2019)      Source: Pexels.com (2019)     

Source: Wikipedia (2019)      Source: Geograph.org (2019)         Source: Peakpx.com (2019)

Source: Pxhere.com (2019)      

Source: commons.wikimedia.org (2019)       Source: flickr (2019)         Source: Geograph.org (2019)         Source: Geograph.org (2019)      

P
age 197



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 31

5.3 Objectives

5.3.1 Upgraded Design Quality - Identify design 
opportunities to enhance the physical environment of the 
town centre and bring heightened new interest to the visitor 
experience. High quality design to be introduced through 
investment in key sites, and a focus on existing character 
assets alongside high quality public realm. A strategy to 
maximise the return from investments should be taken, 
with intervention focused in the locations that will achieve 
maximum impact and lasting change. 

5.3.2 Public Realm Enhancement - Address the quality 
of the public realm, bringing it to a standard of excellence 
through focused improvements to achieve memorable 
successes. A coherent strategy to be adopted across the 
centre which conveys to visitors a clear sense of place for 
Leyland and which provides a connection between the various 
town centre quarters. The introduction of planting schemes 
better suited to their surroundings will help to lift the quality 
of the environment.

5.3.3 Support a New Diversity of Leisure Uses – Through 
physical development opportunities and supportive policies, 
measures should facilitate adding new vibrancy to the evening 
and leisure economy. Delivering new flexible spaces available 
to local leisure and pop-up businesses will support this 
objective. An expanded leisure offer will be achieved with a 
goal to establish a unique appeal for Leyland.

5.3.4 New Focal Spaces - Establish new pleasant spaces 
which provide reasons for families and groups to choose 
to visit and enjoy spending time within the town centre. 
New focal spaces will both enhance the experience for 
visitors day-to-day and provide a central focus for delivering 
events and a multi-functional centre. These new spaces will 
complement the Green Links strategy developed for the area. 
This will be achieved through target intervention to design 
flexible, engaging spaces with enhanced public realm and 
complementary lighting strategies.

5.3.5 Enhanced Accessibility and Connectivity – Remove 
the focus away from private car use and towards a greater 
priority for pedestrians within the centre. Fundamental 
changes to the highway infrastructure on Hough Lane and 
the Churchill Way/Chapel Brow gyratory provide opportunities 
to enhance the visitor experience and breakdown some of the 
constrains visitors experience.

5.3.6 A town centre which is accessible to all and actively 
promotes sustainable forms of travel (walking, cycling and 
public transport) will be achieved, linked to the wider Green 
Links strategy. Enhanced pedestrian connections into the 
town centre can be achieved, including developed linkages 
between the train station, Chapel Brow and Hough Lane. 

5.3.7 A car parking strategy should be facilitated that 
benefits the town centre, rather than defining how the centre 
functions. Where existing car parking sites can be better 
used, development opportunities should be taken to support 
the town centre objectives identified.

5.3.8 Champion Leyland Town Centre – Through physical 
enhancements and business support initiatives, work to create 
a vibrant and viable location for pioneer businesses to locate 
and invest. Utilise Council and business partnerships through 
the Town Team to maximise opportunities for shared success 
through events, re-inventing spaces and new avenues for 
promotion. Leyland has a number of popular and successful 
one-off and temporary events which are important to draw 
focus upon the town. The calendar of events should be 
supported and expanded to champion Leyland as a destination

5.3.9 Create a Differentiated Draw - Utilising the town’s 
unique assets and industrial heritage, establish Leyland as 
a place worthy of visiting. Through links to the wider town 
centre, create reasons for non-locals to visit based on interest 
and quality of experience. Collaboration with the British 
Commercial Vehicle Museum, Worden Park and town centre 
events should be maximised to enhance the visitor draw.

5.3.10 Town Centre Living – Explore development 
opportunities to support new sustainable town centre living. 
Promotion of development opportunities to secure investment 
in high quality residential schemes which in turn will provide 
environmental enhancements and increased footfall to support 
town centre uses. New residential schemes will contribute to 
engendering a sense of Leyland being an aspirational place 
to live.

5.3.11 A Digital Centre – Leyland must respond to the 
modern digital needs of its residents and visitors by providing 
a high-quality, current and engaging on-line presence 
which complements the experience of visitors. Town centre 
businesses should be assisted and encouraged to seek ways in 
which the digital and online experience can support revenues 
and promotion.

P
age 198



32Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Figure 11: Leyland Improvement Strategy Objectives

P
age 199



33

STRATEGY FOR IMPROVEMENT 
6.1 The improvement strategy

6.1.1 The improvement strategy is based on a high-level plan 
for the whole town.  With clear areas of change and action,  
each with a different focus.  The Strategy Plan opposite 
illustrates this comprehensive approach.

6.1.2 Key areas of focus include:

• The station gateway and northern part of the town around 
Chapel Brow

• The ‘high street’ of the town around Hough Lane, where 
transformational change is required and possible.

• The public sector hub / campus Around Lancaster Gate / 
West paddock

6.1.3 Across these three areas a range of development 
opportunities are evident.

6.1.4 A number of options were developed and reviewed as part 
of the design development of the Town Centre Improvement

6
Key opportunities as the masterplan takes shape are 
as follows:

• Market Hall / Market provides opportunities to expand 
and improve the shopping / food and drink offer.

• Public realm improvements in the principal town centre 
street at Hough Lane, with potential for additional 
pedestrian spaces by new one-way traffic movement.

• Retain through traffic in the heart of town for passing 
trade.  Slow traffic through design and create better on 
street parking integrated with public realm scheme.

• New town centre tree planting and green spaces, along 
with a new civic space to give the town centre a clear 
focal point, something which it is missing at present.

• A new civic campus represents a focus for regeneration 
at the southern-end of the town centre and this area 
will complement mixed use retail core.

• The relatively modest evening economy and leisure 
offering could be substantially improved with investment 
in this key sector.

• Explore opportunities to provide temporary retail/
food and drink space to small businesses. Temporary 
periods and pop ups to help test the marker for start-up 
businesses. A means to provide confidence for start-up 
businesses to invest. Temporary and rotating businesses 
can also serve to add a fresh feel to a town centre, 
avoiding stagnation. 

• Extended Opening Hours. Licensing team engagement 
needed to support this strategy.

• Excess of car parking provision across multiple sites will 
provide opportunities for residential development.

• The British Commercial Vehicle Museum provides a draw 
for leisure visitors but should have a stronger presence 
in the town centre and connectivity to town core.

• Linked with the above is a need to create a more family-
friendly town centre, with more for young people to do 
and enjoy.

• Close proximity to Worden Park and opportunities to 
take advantage of leisure visitors and attract them 
into the town, based on better quality and more direct 
connections.

• Opportunity to develop upon the existing on-line 
presence of the town centre and its promotion.

• Access to public Wi-fi hotspots could be expanded to 
improve visitor experience.

Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

P
age 200



34Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Olympian Way
Retail Park Leyland Train 

Station

KING STREET

Market

The British 
Commercial 

Vehicle Museum 

South Ribble 
Museum & 
Exhibition 

Centre

Asda

T
O

W
N

G
A

T
E

TescoLANCASTER GATE

Proposed Civic 
Campus

Worden Park

HOUGH LANE

GOLDEN HILL LANE

Legend

Town Centre Boundary

Existing Car Park

Proposed New Car Park

Leyland Train Station

Improved Visual Connection

Enhanced Pedestrian Connection

Hough Lane Public Realm and Shop Front Inprovements

Proposed New Landmark 

Green Space

Proposed Civic Campus 

Proposed Residential

The British Commercial Vehicle Museum Public Realm Improvement 

Facade Improvements to Asda

New leisure Courtyard with Market Buildings Utilised,
Linked to Food and Beverage Uses

Northern Gateway Improving Public
Realm and Gateway Features

Opportunity Sites

Junction Improvements

Proposed Hough Lane Public Space

Proposed New Hough Lane/Chapel Brow One Way System

Landmarks to be retained and repositioned
 

Figure 12: Leyland Improvement Strategy Preferred Option

P
age 201



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 35

6.3.5 As pioneers they need support to gain purchase and 
to establish.  After support it is our consideration that once 
bedded in such uses can thrive.

6.3.6 The Council can be instrumental in providing space 
for these pioneer uses.

6.3 Pioneer Uses

6.3.1 Experience across many town centres points to a 
process of renewal of uses and users.  Attracting time-poor 
but cash-rich users, who are looking for an experience and 
quality-based relationship with their town centre.  Even 
where town centres have an economically strong local 
catchment population, if the quality of that town centre is 
not right and the uses are not there, people will spend their 
time and money elsewhere.  

6.3.2 The pioneer uses face the issue of qualitative 
improvement in the offer and businesses in the town 
centre.  The pioneer uses require space and support to 
establish.  They also require an improvement in the quality 
of the place to attract people into the town centre.  The 
improvement strategy can assist in both cases.  The quality 
of place and the opportunity to support new uses.  The 
development projects at Market Place and Church Place 
could host exciting new uses.

6.3.3 The concept of pioneer uses is simple.  These are 
the uses which can begin to establish – with support – to 
refocus the offer and attractiveness of Leyland Town Centre 
and begin to reposition the offer.

6.3.4 The key thing is that the demographic suggests that 
there is latent spend around and within the town and to 
a strong degree empirical evidence backs that up as well.  
The town at present does not provide a setting or range of 
uses to attract spend into the town.  The pioneer uses are 
the first step to enhancing and repositioning the offer.

6.2 Digital and Technological Actions

6.2.1 Adapting and incorporating modern technology will 
be important for the future approach to promoting activity 
within the town centre. For customers and visitors, easily 
accessible Wi-fi coverage within key locations of the town 
centre where activity is most concentrated can help to 
improve dwell-time. New physical development should be 
future proofed to be 5G ready, enabling high-speed internet 
to meet the future needs of businesses and residents. 

6.2.2 In a town where there is such a strong independent 
retail offering, support for businesses such as ensure 
they are taking advantage of multi-channel opportunities, 
linking bricks and mortar stores with online sales, can help 
businesses profitability. Town Centre digital applications 
such as ‘LoyalFree’, offer place specific ‘apps’ for towns 
which provide a forum for publicising businesses, services, 
events and integrated loyalty schemes.

6.2.3 In respect to transport, technology initiatives can also 
help to facilitate sustainable forms of travel and remove 
perceived constraints for visitors. Parking payments via 
mobile are already available for car parks within the centre. 
Further investment in phone applications to make parking 
payments easier and more convenient can be investigated. 
‘Seamless’ parking payment systems are being utilised in 
some towns through facilities such as AppyParking. This 
service enables subscribers to pay for parking via an app 
which is automatically enabled upon entering an enrolled 
car park. Installing electric vehicle charging points offers 
a potential incentive for electric vehicle owners, as well as 
promotion of more sustainable private car use.

P
age 202



36Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

The British Commercial Vehicle Museum, Leyland The British Commercial Vehicle Museum Entrance and Forecourt The British Commercial Vehicle Museum offers a unique Selling Point for Leyland

P
age 203



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 37

6.4 Car Parking Strategy

6.4.1 The Improvement Strategy proposes that the 
existing 73 space Ecroyd Street car park is redeveloped 
and that a replacement car park is provided just to the 
east, north of John Street. The new John Street car park 
could approximately 172 parking spaces, resulting in an 
overall increase of 99 spaces. To access the new car park, 
Ecroyd Street is proposed to be extended eastwards to 
join John Street with access/egress to the new car park 
being provided from Ecroyd Street/John Street. However, 
this will need to be looked at in more detail at later 
stages of development.  

6.4.2 Other car parks that would be affected by the 
Improvement Strategy include the 41 space Churchill 
Way car park located adjacent to the western side of 
the existing Churchill Way/Hough Lane roundabout. As 
part of this improvement strategy, the current car park is 
identified for residential use. Whilst we understand that 
this car park is currently well used, visitors would be able 
to use the existing Lidl/retail park car park located on the 
opposite side of Churchill Way or the proposed new John 
Street car park, with improved pedestrian accessibility 
created along Bannister Brook connecting a new John 
Street car park to Churchill Way.

Vehicle Movements

6.4.4 A change to a one-way traffic system along Hough 
Lane in a west bound direction is identified. This would 
open up wider physical opportunities to improve the 
public realm and pedestrian environment along Hough 
Lane, as well as foster a more pleasant user environment.  

6.4.5. The conversion of Hough Lane to one-way for 
traffic would have implications on the traffic routing in 
the central area of Leyland, with vehicles which currently 
travel eastbound along the road having to use alternative 
routes. These alternative routes would include King Street 
and the B5254, or alternatively if vehicles are travelling 
north, School Lane and Golden Hill Lane.

6.4.6 Implementing this change would result in increased 
right turning traffic from Towngate onto King Street at 
the existing signal-controlled junction, as well as more 
traffic at the existing B5454 King Street/Turpin Green 
Lane dumbbell roundabout at the end of King Street. 
The existing roundabout junction of Churchill Way/Hough 
Lane, just to the north of the B5254 King Street/Turpin 
Green Lane dumbbell roundabout would also experience 
an increase in traffic on the southern arm of the junction, 
but this would be off-set by no traffic existing from the 
western Hough Lane arm of the junction.

6.4.7 In addition, the one-way direction of travel along 
Chapel Brow is proposed to be reversed. Currently, Chapel 
Brow is one-way travelling in a northern direction from 
the Churchill Way / Hough Lane / Chapel Brow roundabout 
to the priority junction with Golden Hill. To align with the 

introduction of a west bound one-way system on Hough 
Lane, it is proposed to change the direction of one-way 
travel on Chapel Brow to southbound. The junction of 
Chapel Brow/Golden Hill presently provides some safety 
concerns, with limited visibility for vehicles existing 
Chapel Brow, which is not helped by the road gradient. 
Reversing the one-way direction of traffic would address 
this concern. There would be a resultant increase in 
the number of vehicles approaching the Churchill Way / 
Hough Lane / Chapel Brow roundabout, the impacts of 
which would need to be assessed. 

6.4.8 At this stage, detailed traffic and capacity analysis 
has not been undertaken. If these identified options 
are taken forward, then a more detailed review of the 
implications on the operation of the relevant junctions 
would need to be undertaken.

P
age 204



38Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Bus Routes

6.4.10 Initiatives to introduce a one-way system as 
described above would have implications on some of 
the local bus service routing. These include the existing 
bus services 109, 111, 113, 114 and 670. These bus 
services are affected because the services currently travel 
along Hough Road in an eastbound direction as part of 
their route. The conversion of Hough Lane to one-way 
westbound will require the buses to divert part of their 
route, most likely along King Street, or alternatively to 
Golden Hill Lane. Diagrams showing existing and potential 
future routing for the affected bus services are provided 
at Appendix D.

Bus Stop Along Hough Lane

P
age 205



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 39

7.1 Hough Lane Public Realm Scheme

Project Description:

7.1.1 This project is about putting the heart back into 
Leyland through the revitalisation of its aging and tired 
high street at ‘Hough Lane’.  The quality and experience of 
this street will be enhanced.  Greater priority will be given 
to pedestrians and vehicular traffic will be limited to one 
way in a westerly direction.  This includes private cars and 
buses.  The existing private forecourts along Hough Lane, 
which are in a varying condition and use, will be enhanced 
seamlessly as part of the public realm scheme.  High quality 
materials, planting, street furniture and lighting will be 
utilised for the new design.  The street geometry will be 
staggered to slow traffic and short stay parking bays and 
bus stops will be integrated into the design.  Crossing points 
for pedestrians will also support pedestrian movement and 
further slow traffic. 

7.2 Church Place Development

Project Description:

7.2.1 A small scale, but high impact development and public 
realm scheme which has the potential to create a new focal 
point on Hough Lane.  A modest mixed use building with 
town centre uses at ground floor and apartments above 
edged by an attractive new pubic space connecting with 
the main shopping street.

7.3 Market Place Development

Project Description:

7.3.1 An attractive courtyard-style development creating a 
new destination within the town centre.  The development 
will be located close to the existing market hall and 
will comprise a range of town centre uses to reinforce 
the existing offer, this will include food and drink.  The 
proposal includes a new town centre car park enhancing 
and increasing present provision.  The core development 
site is based on the current markets car park.  The new 
larger car park is built on privately owned land.  

PRIORITY PROJECTS7

P
age 206



40Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Figure 13: Hough Lane Masterplan 

P
age 207



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 41

Figure 14: Station Brow Masterplan 

P
age 208



42Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

Figure 15: CGI View Location Plan 

A.

C.

B.

Market Place Development 

Church Place Development 

Hough Lane Public Realm Scheme

P
age 209



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 43

7.4 Hough Lane Public Realm Scheme

Design Objectives:

• To create a place which looks and feels much more like a 
mature and high-quality town centre.

• Lift the quality and distinctiveness of the street moving 
away from the present situation, which is more typical of a 
secondary retailing area or a linear local centre.

• Leyland needs a more memorable, attractive and greener 
heart, this project is the vehicle for transformational change.

• A better balance between pedestrians and people enjoying 
the town centre on foot and people moving through in 
vehicles.  Encourage people to the centre and discourage 
vehicles moving through.

• Retain a convenient place which does offer incidental short 
stay parking on Hough Lane but where the public realm 
reaches back to connect to destination car parks a short 
walk away.

• To animate the edges of Hough Lane and extend life from 
buildings edging the street, into the public realm.  The 
inclusion of private forecourts as part of the core scheme 
will be vital.

Scheme / Place Outputs:

7.4.1 The quality and character of the high street at Hough Lane 
will be transformed by this scheme.  At present design work is 
illustrative and in due course a schematic general arrangement 
should be prepared which identifies the core parameters of the 
public realm works.  The scheme will include the following:

• New highway geometry and single lane running westbound 
along Hough Lane.

• Parking bays and bus stops integral to the street design.

• Proposals for new surface materials for core public realm 
and highway space.

• Street furniture and lighting within a controlled theme.

• Planting palette including street trees, shrub planting and 
blocks of other structural planting to green the town centre.

• Forecourts integrated into the wider scheme demarcating 
their threshold, in a subtle manner via materiality.

Responsibility / Stakeholders:

7.4.2 South Ribble Borough Council have a central role to play 
in promoting and delivering this scheme.  There will need to be 
close partnership working with the Highway Authority Lancashire 
County Council, given the extent of the adopted highway and 
the changes to the highway management.  Notwithstanding 
the matters of highway design and adopted highway, the core 
responsibility to drive this scheme forward rests with SRBC.

Delivery Issues:

7.4.3 The central delivery consideration for this project will 
be access to funding.  In addition, technical design and 
highway management matters will be central to approvals by 
the highway authority.  Lancashire County Council need to be 
involved as a stakeholder through this project and not simply 
as Highway authority.  The other important delivery matter is 
the inclusion within the scheme of the private forecourt areas 
which characterise Hough Lane.  SRBC will need to engage 
with all property owners to progress this landscape project.  

Risks:

7.4.4 Funding for such a major project and government funding 
will look for GVA or land value uplift as part of any business 
case.

7.4.5 Changes proposed to highway management have yet to 
be tested with Lancashire CC in any detail.

• Inclusion of private forecourts on a comprehensive basis 
may be challenging.

• Technical considerations such as service runs make landscape 
and realignment of the vehicular carriageway difficult.

Next Steps:

• Adoption of landscape scheme project by SRBC

• Workshop with Lancashire County Council (LCC) regarding 
design proposals and highway proposals.

• Develop steering group with LCC to deliver the scheme.

• Consultation with property owners in relation to the 
forecourt areas.

• Best-practice experience – liaison with other Council’s 
delivering forecourt schemes.

• Technical assessments and further due diligence.

• Schematic design in terms of landscape general arrangement, 
based on a detailed highway design solution.

• Materials, furniture palette.

• Planting palette.

P
age 210



44Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 
44

Figure 16: Hough Lane CGI

P
age 211



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 45

7.5 Church Place Development

Design Objectives:

• Create a new focal point space and development along 
Hough Lane, to complement the existing high street.

• Reveal the attractive side of the United Reform Church 
as a local landmark on Hough Lane.

• Replace underutilised retail space with new purpose-built 
accommodation for town centre uses and apartments 
above.

Development Outputs:

• 165 sqm (1,776sqft) ground floor town centre space for 
single or multiple unit use.

• 3 apartments at 2-store and 6 apartments at 3-storey 
subject to planning review and impact on Church.

• New public square totalling 1,350sqm

Place Outputs:

7.5.1 The creation of a fresh and attractive development 
supporting confidence and renewal of the town centre.  
New commercial space at ground floor and accommodation 
above brings investment back to the ‘high street’ at Hough 
Lane.  

Responsibility / Stakeholders:

7.5.2 This is a small but high impact transformational 
projects which could be delivered early in the full scheme 
programme.  The Borough Council have a central role to 
play to deliver this project.  The opportunity needs to be 
created through land acquisition.  Valuation work is needed 
as a next step.

Delivery Issues:

7.5.3 Due to the small-scale nature of this development site 
it may need to be batched with a wider development.  The 
public realm will not be funded through the development. 
Investment would need to be led by the Council.  This 
public realm would need to coordinate with the wider Hough 
Lane work.  Given the private ownership of this site, where 
buildings are to be demolished to create the new open 
space, the open space stays with the development project.

Risks:

• The land is in private ownership.

• Demolition of existing buildings to create the space

• Heritage considerations of adjacent Church building and 
gardens

Next Steps:

• Adoption of project by SRBC

• Consultation with landowners

• Site valuation – current use value of existing buildings 
on site (shops)

• Technical assessments and further due diligence

• Schematic design to RIBA 2

• Development appraisal

P
age 212



46Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 
46

Figure 17: Leyland United Reform Church Place CGI

P
age 213



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 47

7.6 Market Place Development

Design Objectives:

• To create a new focal point courtyard open space as a 
complimentary space to Hough Lane.

• Gathered around this space will be a range of new town 
centre uses, including unit sizes, to complement the 
heart of the town.

• The car park creates a new gateway space. 

• Extend town life into the evening by supporting the 
evening economy.

Development Outputs:

• 2,258 sqm / 24,305sqft of new town centre ground floor 
accommodation.

• Organised into a series of mixed-use buildings with 
flexible spaces for a range of commercially based 
floorplates, capable of scale up and down.

• Residential accommodation above town centre uses, the 
scale of which to be confirmed but possible up to 40 
apartments.

Place Outputs:

7.6.1 The creation of a distinctive new destination 
development to complement Hough Lane high street and 
create a new town centre footfall circuit linking with the 
existing markets and a new gateway car park.  The scheme 
offers critical mass of new uses to create a new destination 
complementary to the existing town centre offer.  The scope 
for evening and food and beverage uses could significantly 
strengthen the night time economy with a high quality new 
product.  The new public space could form a venue for 
specialist or seasonal outdoor markets / activities.

Responsibility / Stakeholders:

7.6.2 South Ribble Borough Council are key to delivery of 
this vision for Market Place.  Being located in the heart of 
the town a range of stakeholders are important to ensure 
the project is supported by local people and businesses.  
The clear message that this development complements 
rather than competes with Hough Lane is important to 
explain to the town team and others.

Delivery Issues:

7.6.3 This is a development which can make a telling 
difference to the town centre and which is not massively 
complex to deliver.  A clear sequence for development will 
be needed.  Ideally the new public car park (170 spaces) 
would be constructed and commissioned prior to the closure 
and redevelopment of the existing market car park.  This 
would minimise impact on the operation of the town centre 
and existing traders and market stall holders.  A critical first 
step will be acquisition of the overall site by the Council to 
consolidate its own land holding interest in the area and 
allow the scheme to move ahead.  

Risks:

• The land for the new car park is in private ownership 
and this is required to service the development.

• Site / ground issues associated with previously developed 
land comprising the development site, including the 
private land.

• Continued operation of markets is required through the 
development unless other temporary provision provided.

• That the property market assessment highlights limited 
developer or operator interest from national and 
regional firms, pointing towards a more local and niche 
development.  The funding and deliverability may be 
more challenging in that context.

Next Steps:

• Adoption of project by SRBC

• Consultation with landowners / markets

• Site valuation – current use value of adjacent vacant 
site

• Technical assessments and further due diligence.

• Schematic design to RIBA 2

• Development appraisal

P
age 214



48Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 
48

Figure 18: Market Place CGI

P
age 215



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 49

NEXT STEPS
8.1 From Strategy to Action

8.1.1 This report sets out a focused improvement strategy 
for the heart of Leyland Town Centre at Hough Lane.  The 
town overall has several important areas for coordinated 
development.  The civic campus is an example of this and 
a clear vision is needed for that part of the town, which has 
not been addressed in as much detail as Hough Lane given 
the brief and the evolution of the improvement strategy.  

8.1.2 Our firm recommendation is that the core of the town 
requires targeted attention to create a better town centre 
for the future.  The key projects set out in this report will 
create a more attractive and appealing town centre which 
provides an enhanced user experience.  A high quality and 
convenient place.

8.1.3 The completion of this report provides a platform to 
move into the detailed assessment of the projects and their 
delivery.

8.2 Property Market Considerations

8.2.1 As a next step the scale and mix of uses for the 
two development projects should be assessed by property 
market consultants to gauge, national, regional and local 
appetite for the proposed development.  Given the scale 
of the development opportunity it is considered that local 
businesses may be keen to play a part as operators within 
the scheme.  

8.3 Stakeholder Engagement

8.3.1 Further stakeholder engagement will need to be 
carried out with the town team, now that the draft final 
report is concluded.  The Town Team were consulted with 
as part of the fact-finding analysis for this project.  This will 
be via a further workshop session where WYG will explain 
the proposals. In addition, public consultation should also 
be programmed.

8.4 Control of Land

8.4.1 It is understood that South Ribble Borough Council 
are in liaison with the existing landowners to explore how 
their land can contribute to regeneration.  The Borough 
Council needs to gain control of land and acquisition 
based on independent valuation will be the preferred 
route.  Partnership working may also be an option.  In the 
background compulsory purchase should not be ruled out 
for such important town centre sites, subject to a funded 
and deliverable development proposal.

8.5 Role of the Council & Delivery

8.5.1 The role of the Council will be as enabler of the 
development and the wider improvement scheme.  The public 
realm scheme will need to be delivered in combination with 
Lancashire County Council.  The development projects will 
need to draw on delivery expertise from the development 
industry.

8
8.6 Detailed Project Development

8.6.1 This will relate to full schematic design of the three 
projects to a level of detail to allow for scheme costings and 
pre-planning review meetings.  This next stage of work will 
also require full technical assessment of the development 
sites and Hough Lane in respect of the public realm scheme.

8.6.2 A full development programme will be needed in due 
course.  Starting with technical assessment and schematic 
design, this will conclude with a fully designed scheme and 
construction programme.  Project management and risk 
register will need to be developed for each project in due 
course also.

8.6.3 Scoping of planning and regulatory requirements 
will be helpful as a next step.  The public realm scheme 
includes forecourt land in private ownership and this will 
need to be assessed legally and experience of delivering 
similar schemes elsewhere will be helpful.

8.7 Delivery Options

8.7.1 The delivery options available for the development 
project and the public realm (Hough Lane) scheme need to 
be explored.

8.7.2 It is envisaged that the Borough Council will have a 
central role in each case as previously described.

8.7.3 The public realm scheme includes substantial areas 
of adopted highway land and a change to the traffic 
management along Hough Lane.  Lancashire County Council 
will need to be part of the delivery team.

P
age 216



50Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 

8.10 Appendices

• Appendix A - 5 Minute Drive-time Catchment

• Appendix B – South Ribble Retail Study 2016 Study Area 
Plan

• Appendix C - 15 Minute Walking Catchment

• Appendix D – Potential Re-routing of Bus Services

8.7.4 The two development projects have been described 
separately but the delivery and funding of this work may be 
undertaken as a package of work, including the associated 
car parking and landscape design.  How developers become 
involved to support South Ribble Borough Council needs 
further exploration alongside funding options.

8.8 Potential Funding

8.8.1 The completion of the Improvements Strategy is 
coinciding with the Borough Council drafting a prospectus 
for the Governments Town Deal programme.  This may 
unlock public sector funding for the projects.  Leyland 
was not successful in its bid for Future High Street Fund 
investment.

8.8.2 It is envisaged that even with Government funding 
from Town Deal, substantial additional investment would be 
required by the Borough Council to deliver these projects.  
An assessment of funding options is now required, and 
this consideration should include borrowing to finance the 
development.

8.8.3 Private sector investment will also be encouraged, 
albeit at this stage we are uncertain of the appetite of 
developers to deliver the schemes.  Likewise, until detailed 
development appraisals are commissioned we are not clear 
on the viability of the proposals and the need for gap 
funding.  Given the need to acquire (or otherwise bring in) 
land we assume some form of gap funding or enabling will 
be required. This needs to be assessed.

8.9 Planning Policy

Extend flexibility for town centre uses 

Providing active frontages and trip generating uses, as well 
as housing in secondary locations will extend flexibility in 
Leyland. It is suggested Leyland takes a less restrictive 
policy position than the protectionist stance of Policy E3 of 
the adopted Local Plan which limits uses the range of uses in 
both the Primary Retail Frontage and Secondary Frontages. 
For Primary Frontages, removal of the 60% minimum Class 
A1 requirement, to provide greater flexibility for the town 
centre to adapt to change, as encouraged by the NPPF 
is suggested. Policy for Secondary Frontage areas could 
be made more flexible to include in principle support for 
the full range of main town centre uses, including A2, A5, 
B1, D1 and D2 uses, and other uses which would serve to 
attract visitors. Scope could also be provided to allow in 
principle support for conversion of properties to residential 
use within the Secondary Frontages, subject to suitable 
assessment criteria in respect to town centre vitality and 
sustainability.

P
age 217



Leyland Town Centre: Improvement Strategy Action Plan 51

HEADER

Urban & 
Landscape 
Design

www.wyg.com
creative minds safe hands

Quay West at MediaCityUK
Trafford Wharf Road
Manchester
M17 1HH

P
age 218



Document is Restricted

Page 219

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 223

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	4 Cabinet Forward Plan
	5 Recommendations from Scrutiny Committee
	6 Nomination of Mayor Elect and Deputy Mayor Elect 2020/21
	7 Existing Leisure Centre Investment Plan and Contract Negotiations
	8 Development of an Extra Care Scheme within South Ribble
	Appendix 1 for Development of an Extra Care Scheme within South Ribble
	Appendix 2 for Development of an Extra Care Scheme within South Ribble

	9 Strategic Review of Community Involvement, including My Neighbourhoods Final Report
	Appendix 1 for Strategic Review of Community Involvement, including My Neighbourhoods Final Report

	10 IDOX Enterprise and Capability Review Project
	Appendix 1 for IDOX Enterprise and Capability Review Project
	Appendix 2 for IDOX Enterprise and Capability Review Project

	11 Vehicle Procurement Programme 2020 / 21
	13 Climate Change Emergency Task Group Update
	14 Town Centre Masterplans
	Appendix A Draft Leyland Improvement Strategy

	16 Urgent Decision regarding Land at Leyland
	Appendix 1 for Urgent Decision regarding Land at Leyland


